NASA/TP-2013-218025



# A Leonard-Sanders-Budiansky-Koiter-Type Nonlinear Shell Theory with a Hierarchy of Transverse-Shearing Deformations

Michael P. Nemeth Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

### NASA STI Program . . . in Profile

Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA scientific and technical information (STI) program plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI program operates under the auspices of the Agency Chief Information Officer. It collects, organizes, provides for archiving, and disseminates NASA's STI. The NASA STI program provides access to the NASA Aeronautics and Space Database and its public interface, the NASA Technical Report Server, thus providing one of the largest collections of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. Results are published in both non-NASA channels and by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA Programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA counterpart of peerreviewed formal professional papers, but having less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
- CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or cosponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and missions, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. English-language translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services also include organizing and publishing research results, distributing specialized research announcements and feeds, providing information desk and personal search support, and enabling data exchange services.

For more information about the NASA STI program, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI program home page at <u>http://www.sti.nasa.gov</u>
- E-mail your question to <u>help@sti.nasa.gov</u>
- Fax your question to the NASA STI Information Desk at 443-757-5803
- Phone the NASA STI Information Desk at 443-757-5802
- Write to: STI Information Desk NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7115 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320

NASA/TP-2013-218025



# A Leonard-Sanders-Budiansky-Koiter-Type Nonlinear Shell Theory with a Hierarchy of Transverse-Shearing Deformations

Michael P. Nemeth Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Langley Research Center Hampton, Virginia 23681-2199

Available from:

NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7115 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320 443-757-5802

# Contents

Summary
Major Symbols
Introduction
Geometry and Coordinate Systems
Kinematics and Strain-Displacement Relations
Stress Resultants and Virtual Work
Equilibrium Equations and Boundary Conditions
Alternate Form of the Boundary Conditions
Thermoelastic Constitutive Equations for Elastic Shells
Simplified Constitutive Equations for Elastic Shells
Special Cases of the Constitutive Equations
Effects of "Small" Initial Geometric Imperfections
Concluding Remarks
References
Figures
Appendix A - Live Normal Pressure Loads
Appendix B - Special Cases of the Constitutive Equations
First-Order Shear-Deformation Theory
{3, 0} Shear-Deformation Theory 101
Shear-Deformation Theory Based on Zigzag Kinematics
Appendix C - Resumé of the Fundamental Equations
Displacements and Strain-Displacement Relations

Equilibrium Equations and Boundary Conditions	08
Stresses and Constitutive Equations	12

#### Summary

A detailed exposition on a refined nonlinear shell theory that is suitable for nonlinear limitpoint buckling analyses of practical laminated-composite aerospace structures is presented. This shell theory includes the classical nonlinear shell theory attributed to Leonard, Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky as an explicit proper subset that is obtained directly by neglecting all quantities associated with higher-order effects such as transverse-shearing deformation. This approach is used in order to leverage the exisiting experience base and to make the theory attractive to industry. In addition, the formalism of general tensors is avoided in order to expose the details needed to fully understand and use the theory in a process leading ultimately to vehicle certification.

The shell theory presented is constructed around a set of strain-displacement relations that are based on "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. No shell-thinness approximations involving the ratio of the maximum thickness to the minimum radius of curvature are used and, as a result, the strain-displacement relations are exact within the presumptions of "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. To faciliate physical insight, these strain-displacement relations are presented in terms of the linear reference-surface strains, rotations, and changes in curvature and twist that appear in the classical "best" first-approximation linear shell theory attributed to Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky. The effects of transverse-shearing deformations are included in the strain-displacement relations and kinematic equations by using analyst-defined functions to describe the through-the-thickness distributions of transverse-shearing strains. This approach yields a wide range of flexibility to the analyst when confronted with new structural configurations and the need to analyze both global and local response phenomena, and it enables a building-block approach to analysis. The theory also uses the three-dimensional elasticity form of the internal virtual work to obtain the symmetrical effective stress resulants that appear in classical nonlinear shell theory attributed to Leonard, Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky. The principle of virtual work, including "live" pressure effects, and the surface divergence theorem are used to obtain the nonlinear equilibrium equations and boundary conditions.

A key element of the shell theory presented herein is the treatment of the constitutive equations, which include thermal effects. The constitutive equations for laminated-composite shells are derived without using any shell-thinness approximations, and simplified forms and special cases are discussed that include the use of layerwise zigzag kinematics. In addition, the effects of shell-thinness approximations on the constitutive equations are presented. It is noteworthy that none of the shell-thinness approximations appear outside of the constitutive equations, which are inherently approximate. Lastly, the effects of "small" initial geometric imperfections are introduced in a relatively simple manner, and a resume' of the fundamental equations are given in an appendix. Overall, a hierarchy of shell theories that are amenable to the

prediction of global and local responses and to the development of generic design technology are obtained in a detailed and unified manner.

# **Major Symbols**

The primary symbols used in the present study are given as follows.

${\bf \hat{a}}_1,  {\bf \hat{a}}_2$	unit-magnitude base vector fields of the shell reference surface shown in figure 1
А	area of shell reference surface (see figure 1), in <sup>2</sup>
A <sub>1</sub> , A <sub>2</sub>	metric coefficients of the shell reference surface (see equation (1)
$A_{11}^{k}, A_{12}^{k}, A_{16}^{k}, A_{22}^{k}, A_{26}^{k}, A_{66}^{k}$	shell stiffnesses defined by equation (101)
A <sub>11</sub> , A <sub>12</sub> , A <sub>16</sub> , A <sub>22</sub> , A <sub>26</sub> , A <sub>66</sub>	shell membrane stiffnesses (see equation (B31)), lb/in.
A <sub>44</sub> , A <sub>45</sub> , A <sub>55</sub>	shell transverse-shearing stiffnesses (see equation (B32)), lb/in.
$B_{11}, B_{12}, B_{16}, B_{22}, B_{26}, B_{66}$	shell coupling stiffnesses (see equation (B31)), lb
c <sub>1</sub> , c <sub>2</sub> , c <sub>3</sub>	tracers used to indentify various shell theories (see equation (53))
$ar{ extbf{C}}_{ij}$	transformed shear stiffnesses appearing in equation (85b), psi
$[\mathbf{C}_{ij}]$	constitutive matrices defined by equations (87)
ds	differential arc length define by equation (1), in.
$D_{11}, D_{12}, D_{16}, D_{22}, D_{26}, D_{66}$	shell bending and twisting stiffnesses (see equation (B31)), inlb
$[\mathbf{d}_0], [\mathbf{d}_1], [\mathbf{d}_2]$	matrices defined by equations (26), (27), and (55)
$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_0^i \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_1^i \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_2^i \end{bmatrix}$	matrices defined by equations (116) - (117)
$e_{11}^{\circ}, e_{22}^{\circ}, e_{12}^{\circ}$	linear deformation parameters defined by equations (8)

$F_{1}(\xi_{3}), F_{2}(\xi_{3})$	analyst-defined functions that specify the through-the-thickness distributions of the transverse-shearing strains (see equations (3)), in.
$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{11}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{12}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{21}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{22}, \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_1\}, \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_2\}$	work-conjugate stress resultants defined by equations (20c) and (20d), lb
$G(\xi_3)$	function defining the through-the-thickness temperature variation (see equation (90))
$g_{11}^{jk}, g_{12}^{jk}, g_{22}^{jk}$	shell thermal coefficients defined by equation (109)
h	shell-wall thickness, in.
d R	maximum shell thickness divided by the minimum principal radius of curvature
$\mathbf{h}_{_{11}}^{_k},\mathbf{h}_{_{12}}^{_k},\mathbf{h}_{_{22}}^{_k}$	shell thermal coefficients defined by equation (108)
$k_{44}, k_{45}, k_{55}$	transverse-shear correction factors appearing in equation (B32)
$[\mathbf{k}_0], [\mathbf{k}_1], [\mathbf{k}_2], [\mathbf{k}_{11}], [\mathbf{k}_{12}], [\mathbf{k}_{22}]$	matrices defined by equations (28) and (29)
$M_{11}, M_{12}, M_{21}, M_{22}$	bending stress resultants defined by equations (13), in-lb/in.
$\mathcal{M}_{11}, \mathcal{M}_{12}, \mathcal{M}_{22}, \{\mathcal{H}\}$	work-conjugate bending stress resultants defined by equation (20b), in-lb/in.
$M_{1}(\xi_{2}), M_{12}(\xi_{2})$	applied loads on edge $\xi_1$ = constant (see figure 2), in-lb/in.
$M_{_{21}}(\xi_{_1}),M_{_2}(\xi_{_1})$	applied loads on edge $\xi_2$ = constant (see figure 2), in-lb/in.
n	unit-magnitude base vector field perpendicular to the shell reference surface, as depicted in figure 1
Ñ	unit-magnitude vector field perpendicular to the shell reference- surface boundary curve and $\hat{n}$ , as depicted in figure 1
$N_{11}, N_{12}, N_{21}, N_{22}$	membrane stress resultants defined by equations (13), lb/in.
$\mathcal{H}_{11}, \mathcal{H}_{12}, \mathcal{H}_{22}, \{\mathcal{H}\}$	work-conjugate membrane stress resultants defined by equation (20a), lb/in.
$N_1(\xi_2)$	applied load on edge $\xi_1$ = constant (see figure 2), lb/in.
$N_2(\xi_1)$	applied load on edge $\xi_2$ = constant (see figure 2), lb/in.

$\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2, \mathcal{P}_3$	effective tractions defined by equations (59), psi
$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1}^{\mathrm{i}}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2}^{\mathrm{i}}, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{3}^{\mathrm{i}}$	effective tractions defined by equations (122), psi
$q_1, q_2, q_3, \{q\}$	applied surface tractions (see equations (32)), psi
$q_1^{\rm D}, q_2^{\rm D}, q_3^{\rm D}$	dead-load part of applied surface tractions (see equations (32)), psi
$q_3^L$	live-load part of applied surface tractions (see equations (32)), psi
$\mathbf{q}_{1}^{i},  \mathbf{q}_{2}^{i},  \mathbf{q}_{3}^{i}$	tractions associated with interactions between live pressure and initial geometric imprefections, defined by equation (122d), psi
$Q_1(\xi_2)$	applied load on edge $\xi_1$ = constant (see figure 2), lb/in.
$Q_{2}(\xi_{1})$	applied load on edge $\xi_2$ = constant (see figure 2), lb/in.
Q <sub>13</sub> , Q <sub>23</sub>	transverse-shear stress resultants defined by equations (13), lb/in.
<i>2</i> <sub>13</sub> , <i>2</i> <sub>23</sub> , { <b>2</b> }	work-conjugate transverse-shear stress resultants defined by equation (20e), lb/in.
$\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{13},\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{23}$	stress resultants defined by equations (59), lb/in.
$\overline{Q}_{ij}$	transformed, reduced (plane stress) stiffnesses of classical laminated-shell and laminated-plate theories (see equation (85a)), psi
$Q_{11}^{ijk}, Q_{12}^{ijk}, Q_{16}^{ijk}, Q_{22}^{ijk}, Q_{26}^{ijk}, Q_{66}^{ijk}$	shell stiffnesses defined by equation (103)
R <sub>1</sub> , R <sub>2</sub>	principal radii of curvature of the shell reference surface along the $\xi_1$ and $\xi_2$ coordinate directions, respectively, in.
$R_{11}^{jk}, R_{12}^{jk}, R_{16}^{jk}, R_{22}^{jk}, R_{26}^{jk}, R_{66}^{jk}$	shell stiffnesses defined by equation (102)
$S_1(\xi_2)$	applied load on edge $\xi_1$ = constant (see figure 2), lb/in.
$S_2(\xi_1)$	applied load on edge $\xi_2$ = constant (see figure 2), lb/in.
$[\mathbf{S}_0], [\mathbf{S}_1], [\mathbf{S}_2], [\mathbf{S}_3], [\mathbf{S}_4], [\mathbf{S}_5]$	matrices defined by equations (17)

<b>u</b> <sub>1</sub> , <b>u</b> <sub>2</sub> , <b>u</b> <sub>3</sub>	displacements of material points comprizing the shell reference surface (see equations (3)), in.
$U_1, U_2, U_3$	displacements of shell material points (see equations (3)), in.
$\mathbf{w}^{i}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2})$	known, measured or assumed, distribution of reference-surface initial geometric imperfections measured along a vector normal to the reference surface at a given point, in.
$\mathbf{X}_{^{44}}^{^{ijk}}, \mathbf{X}_{^{45}}^{^{ijk}}, \mathbf{X}_{^{55}}^{^{ijk}}$	shell stiffnesses defined by equation (104)
$\mathbf{Y}_{44}^{ijk},  \mathbf{Y}_{45}^{ijk},  \mathbf{Y}_{55}^{ijk}$	shell stiffnesses defined by equation (105)
Z <sub>1</sub> , Z <sub>2</sub>	quantities defined as $1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}$ and $1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}$ , respectively, and used in equations (89) and (99)
Z	quantity defined as $z_1 + z_2 + \frac{1}{2}(z_2 - z_1)^2$ and used in equations (89) and (99)
$Z_{_{44}}^{_{ijk}}, Z_{_{45}}^{_{ijk}}, Z_{_{55}}^{_{ijk}}$	shell stiffnesses defined by equation (106)
$\overline{\alpha}_{ij}$	transformed coefficients of thermal expansion appeaing in equation (85a), ${}^{\circ}F^{1}$
$\gamma_{13}^{\circ}, \gamma_{23}^{\circ}, \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}$	transverse-shearing strains evaluated at the shell reference surface (see equation (16c))
$\Gamma_{12}$	transverse shear function defined by equation (5g)
$\delta e_{11}^{\circ},  \delta e_{22}^{\circ},  \delta e_{12}^{\circ}$	variations of the linear deformation parameters defined by equations (23)
$\delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11},  \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22},  \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12},  \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13},  \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23},  \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{33}$	virtual strains appearing in equation (14b)
$\delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11}^{^{o}}, \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22}^{^{o}}, \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{^{o}}, \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}^{^{o}} \right\}$	virtual membrane strains defined by equation (22a) and (53)
$\delta\gamma_{13}^{\circ},\delta\gamma_{23}^{\circ},\left\{\delta\gamma^{\circ}\right\}$	virtual transverse-shearing strains appearing in equation (22c)
$\delta \phi_1,  \delta \phi_2,  \delta \phi$	virtual rotations of the shell reference surface about the $\xi_1$ -, $\xi_2$ -, and $\xi_3$ -axes, respectively, defined by equations (23), radians

$\delta \chi^{\circ}_{11},  \delta \chi^{\circ}_{22},  \delta \chi^{\circ}_{12},  \left\{ \delta \chi^{\circ} \right\}$	vector of virtual bending strains defined by equation (22b), in <sup>-1</sup>
δ <b>2</b> // <sub>E</sub>	external virtual work per unit area of shell reference surface defined by equation (32a), lb/in.
δW <sub>E</sub> <sup>B</sup>	external virtual work per unit length of the applied tractions acting on the boundary curve $\partial A$ that encloses the region A
8 <b>2</b> // 8 <b>2</b> //	(see figure 1 and equation (33a)), lb external virtual work per unit length of shell reference surface
<b>U</b> <sub><i>U</i><sub>E1</sub></sub> , <b>U</b> <sub><i>U</i><sub>E2</sub></sub>	boundary defined by equations (33), lb
δΨι	internal virtual work per unit area of shell reference surface defined by equations (19), lb/in.
δŨ	internal virtual work per unit volume of shell defined by equations (14), psi
δΨι	internal virtual work per unit length of shell reference surface boundary defined by equation (47), lb
$\delta \mathcal{W}_{11}^{B}, \delta \mathcal{W}_{12}^{B}$	internal virtual work per unit length of shell reference surface boundary defined by equations (48), lb
$\delta u_1,  \delta u_2,  \delta u_3,  \{ \delta u \}$	virtual displacements of the shell reference surface about the $\xi_1$ -, $\xi_2$ -, and $\xi_3$ -axes, respectively, in. (see equation (27a))
$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11},\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22},\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12},\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13},\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23},\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{33}$	shell strains defined by equations (5)
$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\scriptscriptstyle 11}^{^{o}},\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\scriptscriptstyle 22}^{^{o}},\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{\scriptscriptstyle 12}^{^{o}},\left\{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{^{o}}\right\}$	reference-surface normal and shearing strains defined by equations (6) and (51)
$\mathbf{\kappa}_{11}^{\circ},\mathbf{\kappa}_{22}^{\circ},\mathbf{2\kappa}_{12}^{\circ}$	changes in reference surface curvature and torsion defined by equations (7), in <sup>-1</sup>
$\rho_{11}, \rho_{22}$	radii of geodesic curvature of the shell reference surface coordinate curves $\xi_1$ and $\xi_2$ , respectively, in.

$\sigma_{11}, \sigma_{22}, \sigma_{12}, \sigma_{13}, \sigma_{23}, \sigma_{33}$	shell stresses, psi
τ	parameter used to identify second-order terms in equations (100)
$\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3$	curvilinear coordinates of the shell, as depicted in figure 1
$\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi$	linear rotation parameters for the shell reference surface defined by equations (4), radians
$\chi_{11}^{\circ}, \chi_{22}^{\circ}, 2\chi_{12}^{\circ}, \left\{\chi^{\circ}\right\}$	linear deformation parameters defined by equations (8) and (16b), in. <sup>-1</sup>
Θ, Θ	function describeing the pointwise change in temperature from a uniform reference state (see equations (90)), °F
$\left\{ \mathbf{\Theta}_{k}  ight\}, \left\{ \overline{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{k}  ight\}$	thermal quantities defined by equations (88) and (92), respectively
∂A	curve bounding area of shell reference surface (see figure 1), in.

## Introduction

Classical plate and shell theories have played an important role in the design of highperformance aerospace structures for many years. As a result, familiarity with these theories is generally widespread throughout the aerospace industry, and a great amount of resources has gone into validating their use in design. Perhaps the best-known classical shell theory is the one attributed to A. E. H. Love<sup>1,2</sup> that was re-derived by Reissner<sup>3</sup> in 1941. This shell theory has become known worldwide as the Love-Kirchhoff classical thin-shell theory. This particular shell theory, as presented by Reissner, has some deficiencies that were later addressed by Sanders, Budiansky, and Koiter<sup>4-6</sup> to obtain what is generally deemed as the "best" first-approximation classical thin-shell theory. This shell theory was later extended to include the effects of geometric nonlinearities by Leonard,<sup>7</sup> Sanders,<sup>8</sup> Koiter,<sup>9,10</sup> and Budiansky.<sup>11</sup> For the most part, these theories are focused on shells made of isotropic materials.

As the need for improved structural performance has increased, new materials and design concepts have emerged that require refined plate and shell theories in order to predict adequately the structural behavior. For example, a sandwich plate with fiber-reinforced face plates and a relatively flexible core, either of which may have embedded electromechanical actuation layers, is a structure that typically requires a refined theory. Similarly, efforts made over the last 20 to 30 years to reduce structural weight or to enable active shape control have resulted in thin-walled, relatively flexible designs that require nonlinear theories to predict accurately responses such as

buckling and flutter.

Many refined plate and shell theories have been developed over the past 50 or so years that are classified as equivalent single-layer, layer-wise, zigzag, and variational asymptotic theories. Detailed historical accounts of these theories are beyond the scope of the present study and can be found in references 12-80. Each of these theories has its own merits and range of validity associated with a given class of problems, and the choice of which theory to use depends generally on the nature of the response characteristics of interest. For the most part, these theories have not yet found wide acceptance in standard industry design practices because of the extensive experience base with classical theories, the relatively limited amount of validation studies, and the increased complexity that designers usually try to avoid. In general, validation studies associated with stuctures made from exotic state-of-the-art materials are very expensive if experiments are involved. Moreover, there are usually many more structural parameters that must be examined in order to understand the design space, compared to the number of parameters that characterize the behaviors of the more commonplace metallic structures.

The present study is concerned with the development of refined shell theories that include the classical shell theories as well-defined, explicit proper subsets. Herein, the term "explicit proper subset" means that the equations of a particular classical shell theory appear directly when all quantities associated with higher-order effects, such as transverse shearing deformations, are neglected. In contrast, the terms "implicit subset" and "contained implicitly" are used to indicate cases where the equations of a particular classical shell theory can be recovered by using a transformation of the fundamental unknown response functions. This interest in refined shell theories that include the classical shell theories as well-defined, explicit subsets is motivated by the need for design-technology and certification technology development that takes full advantage of the existing experience base. For example, legacy codes used by industry that have undergone extensive, expensive experimental validation over many years can be enhanced to address issues associated with new materials and design concepts with a high degree of confidence. Moreover, this approach appears to avoid undesirable computational ill-conditioning effects.<sup>61</sup> Likewise, experience and insight gained in the development and use of nondimensional parameters<sup>81-165</sup> to characterize the very broad response spectrum of laminated-composite plates and shells can be retained and extended with the high degree of confidence needed to design and certify aerospace vehicles. Furthermore, the development and use of nondimensional parameters have a high potential to impact the development of scaling technologies that can be used to design sub-scale experiments for validation of new analysis methods and for flight certification of aerospace vehicles (e. g., see reference 147).

Of the many refined theories for plates and shells discussed in references 12-80, several are particularly relevant to the present study.<sup>166-212</sup> In an early 1958 paper by Ambartsumian,<sup>166</sup> a general equivalent single-layer, linear theory of anisotropic shells was derived that presumes parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing stresses. Subsequent integration of the corresponding strain-displacement relations is shown to yield expressions for the displacement fields that include those of the classical theory of shells explicitly as a proper subset. Six equilibrium equations are also used that involve the asymmetrical shearing and twisting stress resultants that are obtained by integrating the shearing stresses across the shell thickness. A similar derivation was presented later by Ambartsumian<sup>167</sup> for shallow shells in 1960.

Likewise, Tomashevski<sup>168</sup> used a similar approach to derive the corresponding equations for buckling of orthotropic cylinders in 1966.

In 1969, Cappelli et.al.<sup>169</sup> presented equations for orthotropic shells of revolution that are based on Sanders'<sup>8</sup> linear shell theory and that include the effects of transverse-shear deformations. In those equations, the two rotations of a material line element that is perpendicular to the shell reference surface are used as fundamental unknowns and, as a result, the corresponding equations of classical shell theory do not appear explicitly as a proper subset. In contrast, Bhimaraddi<sup>170</sup> presented linear equations for vibration analysis of isotropic circular cylindrical shells in 1984 that include parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing stresses and contain Flügge's equations<sup>171</sup> as an explicit proper subset. It is noteworthy to recall that Flügge's equations retains terms of second order in the ratio of the maximum thickness to the minimum radius of curvature that is used in the shell-thinness approximations.

Also in 1984, Reddy<sup>172</sup> presented a linear first-order transverse-shear-deformation theory for doubly curved, laminated-composite shells that extends Sanders' original work<sup>4</sup> by including the two rotations of a material line element that is perpendicular to the shell reference surface that are used as fundamental unknowns and by introducing constitutive equations that relate the transverse-shear stress resultant to the transverse shearing strains. Similarly, in 1985, Reddy and Liu<sup>173</sup> extended Reddy's previous shear-deformation theory for doubly curved, laminated-composite shells by including parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing stresses. Like Cappelli et.al.,<sup>169</sup> the equations in references 172 and 173 do not contain the equations of Sanders' shell theory as an explicit proper subset.

Soldatos<sup>174-178</sup> presented a refined shear-deformation theory for isotropic and laminatedcomposite non-circular cylindrical shells during 1986-1992. This particular theory includes parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing stresses and contains the equations of Love-Kirchoff classical shell theory as an explicit proper subset. Additionally, only five independent unknown functions are present in the kinematic equations, like first-order transverse-shear deformation theories. In 1989, Bhimaraddi et al.<sup>179</sup> presented a derivation for a shear-deformable shell finite element that is based on kinematics that include parabolic throughthe-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing strains in addition to the kinematics based on the hypothesis originally used by Love.<sup>1,2</sup> Likewise, in 1992, Touratier<sup>180</sup> presented a generalization of the theories discussed herein so far that combines parabolic through-thethickness distributions for the transverse-shearing strains and the classical Love-Kirchhoff linear shell theory. Specifically, following his earlier work on plates (see reference 181), Touratier appended the Love-Kirchhoff kinematics for shells undergoing axisymmetric deformations with a transverse-shear deformation term that uses a somewhat arbitrary function of the through-thethickness coordinate to define the distributions of the transverse-shearing stresses. The arbitrariness of this function is limited by the requirement that the corresponding transverse shearing stresses satisfy the traction boundary conditions on the bounding surfaces of the shell. This process yields general functional representations for the transverse shearing stresses, much like that of Ambartsumian,<sup>166, 167, 182</sup> that are specified by the analyst a priori. Moreover, by specifying the appropriate shear-deformation functions, the first-order and refined theories that

have uniform and parabolic shear-stress distributions, respectively, discussed herein previously are obtained as special cases. Touratier<sup>181, 183</sup> also presented results based on using sinusoidal through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing strains that are similar to those used earlier by Stein and Jegley.<sup>184, 185</sup> A similar formulation for shallow shells was given by Sklepus<sup>186</sup> in 1996, which includes thermal effects. Additionally, in 1992, Soldatos<sup>187</sup> presented a refined shear-deformation theory for circular cylindrical shells that is similar to general formulation of Touratier<sup>180</sup> but utilizes only four unknown functions in the kinematic equations and also accounts for transverse normal strains. Later, in 1999, Lam et.al.<sup>188</sup> determined the vibration modes of thick laminated-composite cylindrical shells by using a refined theory that includes parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing strains in addition to the kinematics of classical Love-Kirchhoff shell theory. In 2001, Fares & Youssif<sup>189</sup> derived an improved first-order shear-deformation nonlinear shell theory, with the Sanders-type kinematics used by Reddy,<sup>172</sup> that uses a mixed variational principle to obtain stresses that are continuous across the shell thickness. A similar theory was also derived by Zenkour and Fares<sup>190</sup> in 2001 for laminated cylindrical shells.

Recently, Mantari et.al.<sup>191</sup> presented a linear theory for doubly curved shallow shells, made of laminated-composite materials, that is similar in form to the derivation given by Reddy and Liu,<sup>173</sup> but uses the form of the kinematics used by Touratier<sup>180</sup> in 1992 and discussed previously herein. In contrast to Touratier's work, the theory given by Mantari et.al. contains the linear equations of the Donnell-Mushtari-Vlasov<sup>192</sup> shell theory as an explicit proper subset. In addition, Mantari et al. use a special form of the functions used to specify the through-the-thickness distributions of the transverse-shearing strains that contains a "tuning" parameter. This parameter is selected to maximize the transverse flexibility of a given laminate construction. A similar derivation, but with an emphasis on a different form of the functions used to specify the through-the-thickness distributions of the transverse-shearing strains was presented by Mantari et al.<sup>193,194</sup> in 2012. Very recently, Viola et.al.<sup>195</sup> presented a general high-order, linear, equivalent single-layer shear-deformation theory for shells that contains many of the theories described herein previously as special cases.

Several shell theories have been derived over the past 25 to 30 years that utilize layerwise kinematics to enhance an equivalent single-layer theory without introducing additional unknown independent functions that lead to boundary-value problems of higher order. In 1991, Librescu & Schmidt<sup>196</sup> presented a general theory of shells that appends the kinematics of first-order shear-deformation shell theory with layerwise functions that are selected to yield displacement and stress continuity at layer interfaces. However, the traction boundary conditions at the top and bottom shell surfaces are not satisfied. In addition, the theory includes the effects of relatively small-magnitude geometric nonlinearities. In contrast, to a standard first-order shear-deformation shell theory of Librescu & Schmidt has a twelveth-order system of equations governing the response.

Later, in 1993 and 1995, Soldatos and Timarci<sup>197, 198</sup> presented, and applied, a general formulation for cylindrical laminated-composite shells, similar to that of Touratier,<sup>180</sup> that includes five independent unknown functions in the kinematic equations and a discussion about incorporating layerwise zigzag kinematics into the functions used to specify the through-the-

thickness distribution of transverse shearing stresses. Similarly, in 1993 and 1995, Jing and Tzeng<sup>199, 200</sup> presented, and applied, a refined theory for laminated-composite shells that is based on the kinematics of first-order transverse-shear-deformation shell theory appended with zigzag layer-displacement functions, and on assumed independent transverse-shearing stress fields that satisfy traction continuity at the layer interfaces. A mixed variational approach is used to obtain the compatibility equations for transverse-shearing deformations in addition to the equilibrium equations and boundary conditions. Although, the theory captures the layerwise deformations and stresses, it has only seven unknown functions in the kinematic equations, regardless of the number of layers. In addition, the theory includes the exact form of the shell curvature terms appearing in the strain-displacement relations of elasticity theory and in the usual, general definitions of the stress resultants for shells. Likewise, in 1993, a general theory for doubly curved laminatedcomposite shallow shells was presented by Beakou and Touratier<sup>201</sup> that incorporates zigzag layerdisplacement functions and that has only five unknown functions in the kinematic equations, regardless of the number of layers. Similar work was presented by Ossadzow, Muller, Touratier, and Faye<sup>202, 203</sup> in 1995. Moreover, Shaw and Gosling<sup>204</sup> extended the theory of Beakou and Touratier<sup>201</sup> in 2011 to include non-shallow, deep shells.

In 1994, He<sup>205</sup> presented a general linear theory of laminated-composite shells that has the three unknown reference-surface displacement fields of classical Love-Kirchhoff shell theory and two additional ones that are selected to satisfy continuity of displacements and stresses at layer interfaces and the traction boundary conditions at the two bounding surfaces of a shell. Similarly, Shu<sup>206</sup> presented a linear theory for laminated-composite shallow shells in 1996 that also satisfies continuity of displacements and stresses at layer interfaces and the traction boundary conditions at the two bounding surfaces of a shell. Similarly, Shu<sup>206</sup> presented a linear theory for laminated-composite shallow shells in 1996 that also satisfies continuity of displacements and stresses at layer interfaces and the traction boundary conditions at the two bounding surfaces of a shell. Shu's theory, however, contains the equations of the Donnell-Mushtari-Vlasov<sup>192</sup> shell theory as an explicit proper subset. In 1997, Shu<sup>207</sup> extended this theory to include nonshallow shells, with the classical Love-Kirchhoff shell theory as an explicit proper subset.

Cho, Kim, and Kim<sup>208</sup> presented a refined theory for laminated-composite shells in 1996 that is based on the kinematics of first-order transverse-shear-deformation shell theory appended with zigzag layer-displacement functions. In contrast to the theory of Jing and Tzeng,<sup>199</sup> this theory uses a displacement formulation to enforce traction continuity at the layer interfaces. In 1999, Soldatos & Shu<sup>209</sup> presented a stress analysis method for doubly curved laminated shells that is based on their earlier work (e.g., see references 197, 198, 206, and 208), which includes five unknown independent functions in the kinematic equations and two general functions that are used to specify the through-the-thickness distribution of transverse shearing stresses. The two functions that are used to specify the through-the-thickness distribution of transverse shearing stresses are determined by applying the two equilibrium equations of elasticity theory that relate the transverse-shearing stresses to the stresses acting in the tangent plane to obtain a system of ordinary differential equations for the two unknown functions. This approach yields solutions for the two functions in each shell layer. The constants of integration are determined by enforcing continuity of displacements and stresses at layer interfaces and the traction boundary conditions at the two bounding surfaces of a shell.

The present study is also concerned primarily with the development of refined nonlinear shell

theories. Several previous works relevant to the present study are given by references 210-220 and 72. Specifically, in 1987, Librescu<sup>210</sup> presented a general theory for geometrically perfect, elastic, anisotropic, multilayer shells of general shape, using the formalism of general tensors, that utilizes a mixed variational approach to obtain the equations governing the shell response. These equations include continuity conditions for stresses and displacements at the layer interfaces. In his theory, the displacement fields are expanded in power series with respect to the through-thethickness shell coordinate, and then substituted into the three-dimensional, nonlinear Green-Lagrange strains of elasticity theory. This step yields nonlinear strain-displacement relations with no restrictions placed on the size of the displacement gradients, and it contains the classical "small finite deflection" theory of Koiter<sup>9</sup> and the classical "small strain-moderate rotation" theory of Sanders<sup>8</sup> as special cases. A wide range of refined geometrically nonlinear shell theories can be obtained from Librescu's general formulation, each of which is based on the number of terms retained in the power series expansions. In 1988, Librescu and Schmidt<sup>211</sup> presented a similar derivation for a general theory of shells, again using the formalism of general tensors, that uses Hamilton's variational principle to derive the equations of motion and boundary conditions. This particular derivation did not yield continuity conditions for stresses and displacements at the layer interfaces, and focused on geometric nonlinearities associated with "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. Likewise, Schmidt and Reddy<sup>212</sup> presented a general first-order sheardeformation theory for elastic, geometrically perfect anisotropic shells in 1988, following an approach similar to Librescu and Schmidt, for "small" strains and "moderate" rotations that includes uniform through-the-thickness normal strain. Their derivation also uses the formalism of general tensors. Another similar presentation and an assessment of the theory was given by Palmerio, Reddy, and Schmidt in 1990.<sup>213,214</sup> In contrast to the theory of Librescu and Schmidt, the theory of Schmidt and Reddy utilizes a simpler set of strain-displacement relations which neglects nonlinear rotations about the vector field normal to the reference surface. Moreover, the dynamic version of the principle of virtual displacements is used to obtain the corresponding equations of motion and boundary conditions. Furthermore, the classical "small" strain and "moderate" rotation theories given by Leonard,<sup>7</sup> Sanders,<sup>8</sup> and Koiter<sup>9,10</sup> are contained in the Schmidt-Reddy theory implicitly; that is, they can be obtain by using a change of independent variables in the equations governing the response.

In 1991, Carrera<sup>215</sup> presented a first-order shear-deformation theory for buckling and vibration of doubly curved laminated-composite shells that includes the Flügge-Lur'e-Byrne equations<sup>216</sup> as an explicit proper subset. This particular set of classical equations for doubly curved shells also retains terms of second order in the ratio of the maximum thickness to the minimum radius of curvature that is used in the shell-thinness approximations. The geometric nonlinearities used by Carrera are identical to those of the Donnell-Mushtari-Vlasov shell theory, as presented by Sanders.<sup>8</sup> In 1992 and 1993, Simitses and Anastasiadis<sup>217, 218</sup> presented a refined nonlinear theory for moderately thick, laminated-composite, circular cylindrical shells that includes geometric nonlinearity associated with "small" strains and "moderate" rotations, like that given by Sanders,<sup>8</sup> and initial geometric imperfections. The theory is based on cubic through-the-thickness axial and circumferential displacements and constant through-the-thickness normal displacements, and neglects rotations about the vector field normal to the reference surface. Moreover, the classical theory of Sanders<sup>8</sup> is contained as an implicit subset. Also in 1992, Soldatos<sup>219</sup> presented a refined nonlinear theory for geometrically perfect laminated-composite

cylindrical shells with a general non-circular cross-sectional profile. Soldatos' theory presumes parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing stresses and contains the equations of Love-Kirchoff classical shell theory as an explicit proper subset. Additionally, only five unknown independent functions are present in the kinematic equations, like first-order transverse-shear deformation theories. The geometric nonlinearity correspond to the "small" strains and "moderate" rotations of Sanders,<sup>8</sup> with rotations about the normal vector field neglected. The equations of motion and boundary conditions are obtained by using Hamilton's variational principle.

Several years later, in 2008, Takano<sup>220</sup> presented a nonlinear theory for geometrically perfect, anisotropic, circular cylindrical shells. His theory uses the full geometric nonlinearity possessed by the three-dimensional Green-Lagrange strains of elasticity theory, and the equilibrium equations and boundary conditions are obtained by applying the principle of virtual work. Moreover, the theory is formulated as a first-order shear deformation theory and, when linearized, includes Flügge's equations<sup>171</sup> as an explicit proper subset. Takano's work is similar to that presented in 1991 by Carrera<sup>215</sup> for doubly curved shells, but includes a higher degree of nonlinearity in the strain-displacement relations. In 2009, Pirrera and Weaver<sup>72</sup> presented a nonlinear, first-order shear-deformation theory for geometrically perfect anisotropic shells that uses the rotations of material line elements normal to the reference surface as fundamental unknowns. In their theory, the full geometric nonlinearity possessed by the three-dimensional Green-Lagrange strains of elasticity theory is used and expressed in terms of linear strains and rotations, and their products. Additionally, the equations of motion used in their theory are based on momentum balance of a differential shell element, as opposed to being determined from a variational principle. Moreover, the equations of motion are linear, which appears to be inconsistent with a geometrically nonlinear theory.

The literature review given previously herein reveals a need for a detailed exposition on a refined nonlinear shell theory that is suitable for nonlinear limit-point buckling analyses of practical aerospace structures made of laminated-composites that utilize advanced structural design concepts. A major goal of the present study is to supply this exposition. Another goal is to focus on a shell theory that includes the classical nonlinear shell theories as explicit proper subsets in order to leverage the exisiting experience base and to make the theory attractive to industry. To accomplish these goals, the formalism of general tensors is avoided in order to expose the details needed to fully understand and use the theory in a process leading ultimately to vehicle certification. In addition, the analysis is simplified greatly by focusing on the many practical cases that can be addressed by using principal-curvature coordinates. The key to accomplishing these goals is the form of the strain-displacement relations.

The strain-displacement relations used in the present study are a subset of those derived in reference 221, that are useful for nonlinear limit-point buckling analyses. These straindisplacement relations are based on "small" strains and "moderate" rotations, and are presented first, along with a description of the shell geometry and kinematics. Moreover, the straindisplacement relations are presented in terms of the linear reference-surface strains, rotations, and changes in curvature and twist that appear in the classical "best" first-approximation linear shell theory attributed to Sanders<sup>4</sup>, Koiter<sup>5</sup>, and Budiansky.<sup>6</sup> The effects of transverse-shearing deformations are included in the strain-displacement relations and kinematic equations by using

the approach of Touratier<sup>180</sup> in which the through-the-thickness distributions of transverseshearing strains are represented by analyst-defined functions. Additionally, no shell-thinness approximations involving the ratio of the maximum thickness to the minimum radius of curvature are used and, as a result, the strain-displacement relations are exact within the presumptions of "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. This approach yields a wide range of flexibility to the analyst when confronted with new structural configurations and the need to analyze both global and local response phenomena. Next, the usual asymmetrical shell stress resultants that are obtained by integrating the stresses across the shell thickness are defined, and the threedimensional elasticity form of the internal virtual work is given and used to obtain the corresponding symmetrical effective stress resulants that appear in classical nonlinear shell theory attributed to Leonard,<sup>7</sup> Sanders,<sup>8</sup> Koiter,<sup>9,10</sup> and Budiansky.<sup>11</sup> Afterward, the principle of virtual work, including "live" pressure effects, and the surface divergence theorem are used to obtain the nonlinear equilibrium equations and boundary conditions. Then, the thermoelastic constitutive equations for laminated-composite shells are derived without using any shell-thinness approximations. Simplified forms and special cases of the constitutive equations are also discussed that include the use of layerwise zigzag kinematics. In addition, the effects of shellthinness approximations on the constitutive equations are presented. It is noteworthy to mention that none of the shell-thinness approximations discussed in the present study appear outside of the constitutive equations, which are inherently approximate due to the fact that their specification requires experimentally determined quantities that are often not known precisely. Lastly, the effects of "small" initial geometric imperfections are introduced in a relatively simple manner, and a resume' of the fundamental equations are given in an appendix. Overall, a hierarchy of shell theories are obtained in a detailed and unified manner that are amenable to the prediction of global and local responses and to the development of generic design technology.

#### **Geometry and Coordinate Systems**

The equations governing the nonlinear deformations of doubly curved shells are presented subsequently in terms of the orthogonal, principal-curvature, curvilinear coordinates  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3)$  that are depicted in figure 1 for a generic shell reference surface A. Associated with each point **p** of the reference surface, with coordinates  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0)$ , are three perpendicular, unit-magnitude vector fields  $\hat{a}_1$ ,  $\hat{a}_2$ , and  $\hat{n}$ . The vectors  $\hat{a}_1$  and  $\hat{a}_2$  are tangent to the  $\xi_1$ - and  $\xi_2$ -coordinate curves, respectively, and reside in the tangent plane at the point **p**. The vector  $\hat{n}$  is tangent to the  $\xi_3$ - coordinate curve at point **p** and perpendicular to the tangent plane. The metric coefficients of the reference surface, also known as coefficients of the first fundamental form, are denoted by the functions  $A_1(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  and  $A_2(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  that appear in the equation

$$(ds)^{2} = (A_{1}d\xi_{1})^{2} + (A_{2}d\xi_{2})^{2}$$
(1)

where ds is the differential arc length between two infinitesimally neighboring points of the surface, **p** and **q**. This class of parametric coordinates permits substantial simplification of the shell equations and has many practical applications.

Principal-curvature coordinates form an orthogonal coordinate mesh and are identified by examining how the vectors  $\hat{a}_1$ ,  $\hat{a}_2$ , and  $\hat{n}$  change as the coordinate curves are traversed by an infinitesimal amount. In particular, at every point q that is infinitesimally close to point p there is another set of vectors  $\hat{a}_1$ ,  $\hat{a}_2$ , and  $\hat{n}$  with similar attributes; that is, the vectors  $\hat{a}_1$  and  $\hat{a}_2$  are orthogonal and tangent to the  $\xi_1$ - and  $\xi_2$ -coordinate curves at **q**, respectively, and reside in the tangent plane at the point **q**. Likewise, vector  $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$  is tangent to the  $\xi_3$ -coordinate curve at point **q** and perpendicular to the tangent plane at point q. Next, consider the finite portion of the tangent plane at point **p** shown in figure 1. Because of the identical properties of the vectors  $\hat{a}_1$ ,  $\hat{a}_2$ , and  $\hat{n}$  at every point of the surface, an identical, corresponding planar region exists at point **q**. Therefore, the vectors  $\hat{a}_1$ ,  $\hat{a}_2$ , and  $\hat{n}_1$  at point **q** can be obtained by moving the vectors  $\hat{a}_1$ ,  $\hat{a}_2$ , and  $\hat{n}$  at point **p** to point **q**. In addition, the plane region at point **p** moves into coincidence with the corresponding plane region at point **q** as the surface is traversed from point **p** to point **q**. During this process, the plane region at point **p** undergoes roll, pitch, and yaw (rotation about the normal line to the surface) motions. The roll and pitch motions are caused by surface twist (torsion) and curvature, respectively. The yaw motion is associated with the geodesic curvature of the surface curve traversed in going from point **p** to **q**. When a principal-curvature coordinate curve is traversed in going from point **p** to **q**, the planar region at point **p** undergoes only pitch and yaw motions as it moves into coincidence with the corresponding region at point **q**. Rolling motion associated with local surface torsion does not occur. This attribute simplifies greatly the mathematics involved in deriving a shell theory.

In the shell-theory equations presented herein, the functions  $R_1(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  and  $R_2(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  denote the principal radii of curvature of the shell reference surface along the  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  coordinate directions, respectively. Similarly, the functions  $\rho_{11}(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  and  $\rho_{22}(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  denote the radii of geodesic curvature of the shell reference surface coordinate curves  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$ , respectively. Discussions of these quantities are found in the books by Weatherburn<sup>222</sup>, Eisenhart,<sup>223</sup> Struik,<sup>224</sup> and Kreyszig.<sup>225</sup> These functions are related to the metric coefficients by the equations

$$\frac{1}{\rho_{11}} = -\frac{1}{A_1 A_2} \frac{\partial A_1}{\partial \xi_2}$$
(2a)

$$\frac{1}{\rho_{22}} = \frac{1}{A_1 A_2} \frac{\partial A_2}{\partial \xi_1}$$
(2b)

### **Kinematics and Strain-Displacement Relations**

The kinematics and strain-displacement relations presented in this section are special cases of those given in reference 221. These equations were derived on the presumption of "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. Moreover, no shell-thinness approximations were used in their derivation. In the subsequent presentations, the term "tangential" refers to quantities associated

with the tangent plane at a given point of the shell reference surface. In contrast, the term "normal" refers to quantities perpendicular to the tangent plane at that given point.

The tangential and normal displacement fields of a material point  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3)$  of a shell are expressed in orthogonal principal-curvature coordinates as

$$U_{1}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{1} + \xi_{3}[\varphi_{1} - \varphi\varphi_{2}] + F_{1}(\xi_{3})\gamma_{13}^{o}$$
(3a)

$$U_{2}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{2} + \xi_{3}[\varphi_{2} + \varphi\varphi_{1}] + F_{2}(\xi_{3})\gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(3b)

$$U_{3}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{3} - \frac{1}{2}\xi_{3}(\varphi_{1}^{2} + \varphi_{2}^{2})$$
(3c)

where  $U_1$ ,  $U_2$ , and  $U_3$  are the displacement-field components in the  $\xi_1$ -,  $\xi_2$ -, and  $\xi_3$ -coordinate directions, respectively. The functions  $u_1(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  and  $u_2(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  are the corresponding tangential displacements of the reference-surface material point  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0)$ , and  $u_3(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  is the normal displacement of the material point  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0)$ . In addition, the functions  $\varphi_1(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ ,  $\varphi_2(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , and  $\varphi(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  are linear rotation parameters that are given in terms of the reference-surface displacements by

$$\varphi_1(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{u_1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial u_3}{\partial \xi_1}$$
(4a)

$$\varphi_2(\xi_1, \xi_2) = \frac{\mathbf{u}_2}{\mathbf{R}_2} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_2} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}_3}{\partial \xi_2}$$
(4b)

$$\varphi(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{22}} \right)$$
(4c)

The functions  $F_1(\xi_3)\gamma_{13}^{\circ}(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)\gamma_{23}^{\circ}(\xi_1,\xi_2)$  define the transverse-shearing strains. In particular,  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  are analyst-defined functions that specifiy the through-the-thickness distributions of the transverse-shearing strains, and are selected to satisfy the traction-free boundary conditions on the transverse-shear stresses at the bounding surfaces of the shell given by the coordinates  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \pm \frac{h}{2})$ . In addition,  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  are selected to satisfy the conditions  $U_1(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0) = u_1(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  and  $U_2(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0) = u_2(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ . Thus, from equations (3) it

follows that  $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = 0$ .

The nonlinear strain-displacement relations obtained from reference 221 are given as follows. The normal strains are

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2},\,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)} \left[\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ}\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{11}^{\circ} + F_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right)\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} - F_{2}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right)\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\boldsymbol{\rho}_{11}}\right]$$
(5a)

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\left(1+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} \left[\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ}\left(1+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) + \xi_{3}\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{22}^{\circ} + F_{1}\left(\xi_{3}\right)\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\boldsymbol{\rho}_{22}} + F_{2}\left(\xi_{3}\right)\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial\xi_{2}}\right]$$
(5b)

$$\mathbf{\epsilon}_{33}(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) = 0$$
 (5c)

and the shearing strains are

$$\gamma_{12}\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}\right) = \frac{\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{12}^{\circ}\left[\left(1+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)^{2}+\left(1+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)^{2}\right]+\xi_{3}\kappa_{12}^{\circ}\left[2+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right]+2\Gamma_{12}\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}\right)}{\left(1+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)\left(1+\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)}$$
(5d)

$$\gamma_{13}(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right)} \left[ F_1'(\xi_3) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) - \frac{F_1(\xi_3)}{R_1} \right] \gamma_{13}^{\circ}$$
(5e)

$$\gamma_{23}(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right)} \left[ F_2'(\xi_3) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) - \frac{F_2(\xi_3)}{R_2} \right] \gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(5f)

where

$$2\Gamma_{12} = \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) \left[F_1(\xi_3) \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \gamma_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \xi_2} - F_2(\xi_3) \frac{\gamma_{23}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}}\right] + \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) \left[F_2(\xi_3) \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \xi_1} + F_1(\xi_3) \frac{\gamma_{13}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}}\right]$$
(5g)

From equations (5e) and (5f), it follows that  $\gamma_{13}(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0) = F_1'(0)\gamma_{13}^{\circ}$  and

 $\gamma_{23}(\xi_1, \xi_2, 0) = F_2'(0)\gamma_{23}^\circ$ . Thus, it is convenient to scale  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  to give  $F_1'(0) = F_2'(0) = 1$ . For this scaling,  $\gamma_{13}^\circ$  and  $\gamma_{23}^\circ$  are the transverse-shearing strains at the shell reference surface.

In equations (5),  $\varepsilon_{11}^{\circ}$ ,  $\varepsilon_{22}^{\circ}$ , and  $\gamma_{12}^{\circ}$  are the reference-surface normal and shearing strains, which are given in terms of the linear strain and rotation parameters  $e_{11}^{\circ}$ ,  $e_{22}^{\circ}$ ,  $e_{12}^{\circ}$ ,  $\varphi_1$ ,  $\varphi_2$ , and  $\varphi_2$  by

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}) = \boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( \boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ} \right)^{2} + \left( \boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\varphi} \right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1}^{2} \right]$$
(6a)

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}) = \mathbf{e}_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2} \Big[ \left( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} - \boldsymbol{\varphi} \right)^{2} + \left( \mathbf{e}_{22}^{\circ} \right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{2}^{2} \Big]$$
(6b)

$$\gamma_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = 2e_{12}^{\circ} + e_{11}^{\circ}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) + e_{22}^{\circ}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) + \varphi_{1}\varphi_{2}$$
(6c)

Likewise, the changes in reference surface curvature and torsion  $\kappa_{11}^{\circ}$ ,  $\kappa_{22}^{\circ}$ , and  $2\kappa_{12}^{\circ}$  caused by deformation are given by

$$\kappa_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \chi_{11}^{\circ} - \frac{e_{11}^{\circ}}{R_1}$$
(7a)

$$\kappa_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \chi_{22}^{\circ} - \frac{e_{22}^{\circ}}{R_{2}}$$
(7c)

$$2\kappa_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = 2\chi_{12}^{\circ} - e_{12}^{\circ}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)$$
(7c)

where  $\chi_{11}^{\circ}$ ,  $\chi_{22}^{\circ}$ , and  $\chi_{12}^{\circ}$  are linear strain parameters associated with bending and twisting of the shell reference surface. The linear strain parameters are given in terms of the reference-surface displacements and linear rotations by

$$e_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{u_{3}}{R_{1}}$$
(8a)

$$e_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{u_{3}}{R_{2}}$$
(8b)

$$2e_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{22}}$$
(8c)

$$\chi_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{11}}$$
(8d)

$$\chi_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \varphi_2}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\varphi_1}{\rho_{22}}$$
(8e)

$$2\chi_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\varphi_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} + \frac{\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\varphi_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} - \frac{\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{22}} - \varphi\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)$$
(8f)

In these equations,  $e_{11}^{\circ}$ ,  $e_{22}^{\circ}$ , and  $2e_{12}^{\circ}$  are recognized as the linear reference-surface strains given by Sanders in reference 4. Likewise,  $\chi_{11}^{\circ}$ ,  $\chi_{22}^{\circ}$ , and  $2\chi_{12}^{\circ}$  are the linear bending-strain measures given by Sanders.

To arrive at the particular form of the nonlinear strain-displacement relations used in the present study, equations (5a), (5b), and (5d) are first re-arranged to get

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2},\,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\left(1+\frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)} \left[\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\left(\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ}}{R_{1}}\right) + F_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right)\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} - F_{2}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right)\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}}\right] \quad (9a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} \left[\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} + \xi_{3}\left(\boldsymbol{\kappa}_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ}}{R_{2}}\right) + F_{1}\left(\xi_{3}\right)\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\boldsymbol{\rho}_{22}} + F_{2}\left(\xi_{3}\right)\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial\xi_{2}}\right] \quad (9b)$$

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{12}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) &= \frac{\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{12}^{\circ} \left[ \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} - \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)^{2} \right]}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} \\ &+ \frac{\xi_{3} \left(\kappa_{12}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{4}\gamma_{12}^{\circ} \left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\right) \left[ \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \right] + 2\Gamma_{12}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3})}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} \end{split}$$
(9c)

where the identity

$$\left(\frac{\xi_3}{R_2} - \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right)^2 = \left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right) \left[\xi_3 \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) - \xi_3 \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right)\right]$$
(10)

has been used to obtain this particular form of these equations. As pointed out by Koiter,<sup>6,9-10</sup> terms involving a reference-surface strain divided by a principal radius of curvature are extremely small and can be added or neglected without significantly altering the fidelity of the strain-displacement relations. Thus, it follows that

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\kappa_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{\varepsilon_{11}^{\circ}}{R_{1}} \\
\kappa_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{\varepsilon_{22}^{\circ}}{R_{2}} \\
2\kappa_{12} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{12}^{\circ}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)
\end{pmatrix} \approx \begin{pmatrix}
\chi_{11}^{\circ} \\
\chi_{22}^{\circ} \\
2\chi_{12}^{\circ}
\end{pmatrix} = \{\chi^{\circ}\}$$
(11)

and equations (9) reduce to

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11} = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right)} \left[ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} + \xi_3 \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} + F_1(\xi_3) \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \xi_1} - F_2(\xi_3) \frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} \right]$$
(12a)

$$\varepsilon_{22} = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right)} \left[ \varepsilon_{22}^{\circ} + \xi_3 \chi_{22}^{\circ} + F_1(\xi_3) \frac{\gamma_{13}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} + F_2(\xi_3) \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \gamma_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \xi_2} \right]$$
(12b)

$$\gamma_{12} = \frac{\frac{1}{2}\gamma_{12}^{\circ}\left[\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} - \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)^{2}\right] + \xi_{3}\chi_{12}^{\circ}\left[\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)\right] + 2\Gamma_{12}}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)}$$
(12c)

Equations (12) and equations (5e) and (5f) constitute the nonzero nonlinear strain displacement relations of the present study. The membrane reference-surface strains defined by equations (6) are identical to those used by Budiansky<sup>11</sup> and Koiter,<sup>9,10</sup> and contain those used by Sanders<sup>8</sup> as a special case. Likewise, as mentioned before, the linear bending strain measures defined by equations (8d)-(8f) are identical to those used in the "best" first-approximation linear shell theory of Sanders, Budiansky, and Koiter. In contrast to the linear bending strain measures used in classical Love-Kirchhoff shell theory, those given by equations (8d)-(8f) vanish for rigid-body displacements (see reference 4).

#### **Stress Resultants and Virtual Work**

In the classical theories of shells, two-dimensional stress-resultant functions are used to represent the actual force per unit length produced by the internal stresses acting on the normal sections, or faces, of a shell given by constant values of the reference-surface coordinates  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$ . On an edge given by  $\xi_1$  = constant, the stress resultants are defined as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{N}_{11} \\ \mathbf{N}_{12} \\ \mathbf{M}_{11} \\ \mathbf{M}_{12} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{13} \end{pmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{\mathbf{h}}{2}}^{\mathbf{v}+\frac{\mathbf{h}}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{\sigma}_{11} \\ \mathbf{\sigma}_{12} \\ \mathbf{\xi}_{3}\mathbf{\sigma}_{11} \\ \mathbf{\xi}_{3}\mathbf{\sigma}_{12} \\ \mathbf{\sigma}_{13} \end{pmatrix} d\mathbf{\xi}_{3}$$
(13a)

In these definitions, the middle surface of the shell is used as the reference surface, for convenience. Likewise, on an edge given by  $\xi_2 = \text{constant}$ , the stress resultants are defined as

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} N_{21} \\ N_{22} \\ M_{21} \\ M_{22} \\ Q_{23} \end{array} \right\} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{+\frac{h}{2}} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1} \right) \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \sigma_{12} \\ \sigma_{22} \\ \xi_3 \sigma_{12} \\ \xi_3 \sigma_{22} \\ \sigma_{23} \end{array} \right\} d\xi_3 \tag{13b}$$

where  $\sigma_{11}$ ,  $\sigma_{22}$ ,  $\sigma_{12}$ ,  $\sigma_{13}$ , and  $\sigma_{23}$  are stresses and where, in general,  $h = h(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  is the shell thickness at the point  $(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  of the shell reference surface. Equations (13) show that the stress resultants are not symmetric; that is,  $N_{12} \neq N_{21}$  and  $M_{12} \neq M_{21}$ , even though the stresses  $\sigma_{12} = \sigma_{21}$ . As a result of this asymmetry, constitutive equations that are based on equations (13) are typically more complicated that the corresponding equations for flat plates.

To obtain symmetric stress resultant definitions that yield a simple form for the constitutive equations, the internal virtual work is used. The internal virtual work of a three-dimensional solid is given, in matrix form, in terms of the curvilinear coordinates used herein by

$$\int \int_{A} \int_{-\frac{1}{2}h}^{\frac{1}{2}h} \delta \tilde{\mathcal{U}}_{I}\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) d\xi_{3} A_{1}A_{2}d\xi_{1}d\xi_{2}$$
(14a)

with

$$\boldsymbol{\delta \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{12} \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11} \\ \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22} \\ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{23} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{33} \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13} \\ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23} \\ \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{33} \end{pmatrix}$$
(14b)

where the superscript T in equation (14b) denotes matrix transposition and where A denotes the reference-surface area of the shell. The functions  $\delta \varepsilon_{11}$ ,  $\delta \varepsilon_{22}$ ,  $\delta \gamma_{12}$ ,  $\delta \gamma_{13}$ ,  $\delta \gamma_{23}$ , and  $\delta \varepsilon_{33}$  in equation (14b) are the virtual strains that are obtained by taking the first variation of the corresponding shell strains. To obtain the form needed for the present shell theory, it is convenient to express the shell strains given by equations (12), (4e), and (4f) in matrix form as

$$\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \varepsilon_{11} \\ \varepsilon_{22} \\ \gamma_{12} \end{array} \right\} = \left[\mathbf{S}_{0}\right] \left\{ \varepsilon^{\circ} \right\} + \left[\mathbf{S}_{1}\right] \left\{ \boldsymbol{\chi}^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$+ \left[\mathbf{S}_{2}\right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} + \left[\mathbf{S}_{3}\right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} + \left[\mathbf{S}_{4}\right] \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(15a)$$

$$\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) \left\{\frac{\gamma_{13}}{\gamma_{23}}\right\} = \left[\mathbf{S}_{\mathfrak{s}}\right] \left\{\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\mathfrak{o}}\right\}$$
(15b)

where

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\circ}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{array}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{c} e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2} \left[ \left(e_{11}^{\circ}\right)^{2} + \left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}\right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1}^{2} \right] \\ e_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2} \left[ \left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}\right)^{2} + \left(e_{22}^{\circ}\right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{2}^{2} \right] \\ 2e_{12}^{\circ} + e_{11}^{\circ} \left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}\right) + e_{22}^{\circ} \left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}\right) + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{2} \right\}$$
(16a)

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\chi}^{\circ}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_{11}^{\circ} \\ \chi_{22}^{\circ} \\ 2\chi_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{11}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{2}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \left(\frac{\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{22}}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right) \varphi \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$
(16b)

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\mathsf{o}}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{c} \gamma_{13}^{\mathsf{o}} \\ \gamma_{23}^{\mathsf{o}} \end{array}\right\}$$
(16c)

and where

$$\begin{bmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \left[ \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\xi_3}{R_2} - \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right)^2 \right] \end{bmatrix}$$
(17a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{1} \end{bmatrix} = \xi_{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(17b)

$$\left[\mathbf{S}_{2}\right] = \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \left[ \begin{array}{c} F_{1}(\xi_{3}) & 0\\ 0 & 0\\ 0 & F_{2}(\xi_{3}) \end{array} \right]$$
(17c)

$$\left[\mathbf{S}_{3}\right] = \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & F_{2}(\xi_{3})\\ F_{1}(\xi_{3}) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(17d)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{4} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{\rho_{11}} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \\ \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{\rho_{22}} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) & 0 \\ \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{\rho_{11}} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) & -\frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{\rho_{22}} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(17e)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \left[F_{1}'(\xi_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) - \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{R_{1}}\right] & 0 \\ 0 & \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \left[F_{2}'(\xi_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) - \frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{R_{2}}\right] \end{bmatrix}$$
(17f)

Taking the first variation of equations (15) gives

$$\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \delta \varepsilon_{11} \\ \delta \varepsilon_{22} \\ \delta \gamma_{12} \end{array} \right\} = \left[ \mathbf{S}_{0} \right] \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\circ} \right\} + \left[ \mathbf{S}_{1} \right] \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\chi}^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$+ \left[ \mathbf{S}_{2} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} + \left[ \mathbf{S}_{3} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} + \left[ \mathbf{S}_{4} \right] \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(18a)$$

$$\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right) \left\{ \frac{\delta \gamma_{13}}{\delta \gamma_{23}} \right\} = \left[\mathbf{S}_{\mathfrak{s}}\right] \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}$$
(18b)

Next, substituting equations (18) into equations (14) and performing the through-the-thickness integration yields the internal virtual work as

$$\iint_{A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{I} A_{1} A_{2} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2}$$
(19a)

with

$$\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathcal{U}_{I} = \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\mathrm{o}}\right\} + \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\chi}^{\mathrm{o}}\right\} + \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{1}{\mathrm{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\mathrm{o}}\right\} + \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{1}{\mathrm{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\mathrm{o}}\right\} + \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\mathrm{o}}\right\}$$
(19b)

where

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \left[\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{0}}\right]^{\mathbf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{12} \end{pmatrix} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$
(20a)

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \left[\mathbf{S}_{1}\right]^{\mathbf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{12} \end{pmatrix} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$
(20b)

$$\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{1}\} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{12} \right\} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \left[ \mathbf{S}_{2} \right]^{T} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{12} \right\} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$
(20c)

$$\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2}\} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{21} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{22} \right\} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \left[ \mathbf{S}_{3} \right]^{\mathbf{T}} \left\{ \begin{matrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{12} \end{matrix} \right\} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$
(20d)

$$\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}\} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{23} \end{pmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \left[ \mathbf{S}_{4} \right]^{\mathbf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{12} \end{pmatrix} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3} + \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \left[ \mathbf{S}_{5} \right]^{\mathbf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{23} \end{pmatrix} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$
(20e)

are defined as work-conjugate stress resultants. The relationship of these quantities with those

defined by equations (13) are

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{R}_{11} \\ \mathcal{R}_{22} \\ 2\mathcal{R}_{12} \\ \mathcal{M}_{11} \\ \mathcal{M}_{22} \\ 2\mathcal{M}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} N_{11} \\ N_{22} \\ N_{12} + N_{21} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \right) (M_{12} - M_{21}) \\ M_{11} \\ M_{22} \\ M_{12} + M_{21} \end{pmatrix}$$
(21)

which are identical to the effective stress results first defined by Sanders.<sup>4</sup> The virtual referencesurface strains are given by

$$\left\{\delta\epsilon^{\circ}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{l} \delta\epsilon^{\circ}_{11}\\ \delta\epsilon^{\circ}_{22}\\ \delta\gamma^{\circ}_{12}\end{array}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{l} \left(1 + e^{\circ}_{11}\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{11} + \left(e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi_{1}\delta\phi_{1} + \left(e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi\right)\delta\phi\\ \left(1 + e^{\circ}_{22}\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{22} + \left(e^{\circ}_{12} - \phi\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi_{2}\delta\phi_{2} - \left(e^{\circ}_{12} - \phi\right)\delta\phi\\ \left(e^{\circ}_{12} - \phi\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{11} + \left(e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{22} + \left(2 + e^{\circ}_{11} + e^{\circ}_{22}\right)\delta e^{\circ}_{12}\\ + \phi_{2}\delta\phi_{1} + \phi_{1}\delta\phi_{2} + \left(e^{\circ}_{22} - e^{\circ}_{11}\right)\delta\phi\end{array}\right\}$$
(22a)

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\delta\chi}^{\circ}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{l} \delta\chi_{11}^{\circ} \\ \delta\chi_{22}^{\circ} \\ \delta2\chi_{12}^{\circ} \end{array}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{l} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial\delta\varphi_{1}}{\partial\xi_{1}} - \frac{\delta\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{11}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial\delta\varphi_{2}}{\partial\xi_{2}} + \frac{\delta\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial\delta\varphi_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial\delta\varphi_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} + \left(\frac{\delta\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\delta\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{22}}\right) + \delta\varphi\left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right) \right\}$$
(22b)

$$\left\{ \delta \gamma^{\circ} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \delta \gamma^{\circ}_{13} \\ \delta \gamma^{\circ}_{23} \end{array} \right\}$$
(22c)

where the variations of the linear deformation parameters are given by

$$\delta e_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{\delta u_{2}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\delta u_{3}}{R_{1}}$$
(23a)

$$\delta e_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_1, \xi_2) = \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_2}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\delta u_1}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{\delta u_3}{R_2}$$
(23b)

$$2\delta e_{12}^{\circ}\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}\right) = \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} + \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} + \frac{\delta u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\delta u_{2}}{\rho_{22}}$$
(23c)

$$\delta \varphi_1(\xi_1, \xi_2) = \frac{\delta u_1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_1}$$
(23d)

$$\delta\varphi_2(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{\delta u_2}{R_2} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_2}$$
(23e)

$$\delta\varphi\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\delta u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\delta u_{2}}{\rho_{22}} \right)$$
(23f)

From these expressions, it follows that

$$\delta \varepsilon_{11}^{\circ} = \left[ \frac{\varphi_1}{R_1} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi}{\rho_{11}} \right] \delta u_1 - \frac{1 + e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} \, \delta u_2 + \frac{1 + e_{11}^{\circ}}{R_1} \, \delta u_3 + \left(1 + e_{11}^{\circ}\right) \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_1}{\partial \xi_1} + \left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi\right) \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_2}{\partial \xi_1} - \varphi_1 \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_1}$$
(24a)

$$\delta \varepsilon_{22}^{\circ} = \frac{1 + e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} \, \delta u_1 + \left[ \frac{\varphi_2}{R_2} - \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi}{\rho_{22}} \right] \delta u_2 + \frac{1 + e_{22}^{\circ}}{R_2} \, \delta u_3 + \left( e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \right) \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_1}{\partial \xi_2} + \left( 1 + e_{22}^{\circ} \right) \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_2}{\partial \xi_2} - \varphi_2 \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_2}$$
(24b)

$$\begin{split} \delta\gamma_{12}^{\circ} &= \left[\frac{\phi_{2}}{R_{1}} + \frac{1 + e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi}{\rho_{22}}\right] \delta u_{1} + \left[\frac{\phi_{1}}{R_{2}} - \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{1 + e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}}\right] \delta u_{2} + \left[\frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi}{R_{1}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi}{R_{2}}\right] \delta u_{3} \\ &+ \left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi\right) \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \left(1 + e_{11}^{\circ}\right) \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \left(1 + e_{22}^{\circ}\right) \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \\ &+ \left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi\right) \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \phi_{2} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \phi_{1} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \end{split}$$
(24c)

and

$$\delta\chi_{11}^{\circ} = \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_1} \left( \frac{1}{R_1} \right) \delta u_1 + \frac{1}{R_1} \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial\delta u_1}{\partial\xi_1} - \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \frac{\delta u_2}{R_2} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial\delta u_3}{\partial\xi_2} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_1} \left( \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial\delta u_3}{\partial\xi_1} \right)$$
(25a)

$$\delta\chi_{22}^{\circ} = \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \frac{\delta u_1}{R_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_2} \left( \frac{1}{R_2} \right) \delta u_2 + \frac{1}{R_2} \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_2}{\partial \xi_2} - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_1} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_2} \left( \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_2} \right)$$
(25b)

$$\delta 2\chi_{12}^{\circ} = \left[\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{2}}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}}\right) + \frac{1}{2\rho_{11}}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\right]\delta u_{1} + \left[\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{1}}\left(\frac{1}{R_{2}}\right) - \frac{1}{2\rho_{22}}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\right]\delta u_{2} \\ + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{3}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{3}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} - \frac{1}{\rho_{11}}\left(\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{3}}{\partial\xi_{1}}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}}\left(\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{3}}{\partial\xi_{2}}\right) - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{2}}\left(\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{3}}{\partial\xi_{1}}\right) - \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{1}}\left(\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\delta u_{3}}{\partial\xi_{2}}\right)$$
(25c)

Equation (22a) is now expressed in matrix form as

$$\left\{\delta\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\circ}\right\} = \left[\mathbf{d}_{0}\right]\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\} + \left[\mathbf{d}_{1}\right]\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{1}}\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\} + \left[\mathbf{d}_{2}\right]\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{2}}\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\}$$
(26)

where

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{l} \delta u_1\\ \delta u_2\\ \delta u_3\end{array}\right\}$$
(27a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{0} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\varphi_{1}}{R_{1}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi}{\rho_{11}} & -\frac{1 + e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} & \frac{1 + e_{11}^{\circ}}{R_{1}} \\ \frac{1 + e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{\varphi_{2}}{R_{2}} - \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{1 + e_{22}^{\circ}}{R_{2}} \\ \frac{\varphi_{2}}{R_{1}} + \frac{1 + e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{\varphi_{1}}{R_{2}} - \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{1 + e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi}{R_{1}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi}{R_{2}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(27b)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 + e_{11}^{\circ} & e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi & -\varphi_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi & 1 + e_{22}^{\circ} & -\varphi_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(27c)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi & 1 + e_{22}^{\circ} & -\varphi_{2} \\ 1 + e_{11}^{\circ} & e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi & -\varphi_{1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(27d)

Likewise, equation (22b) is now expressed in matrix form as

$$\{ \boldsymbol{\delta \chi}^{\circ} \} = [\mathbf{k}_{0}] \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \} + [\mathbf{k}_{1}] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \} + [\mathbf{k}_{2}] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \}$$

$$- [\mathbf{k}_{11}] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \} \right) - [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \} \right)$$

$$- [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \} \right) - [\mathbf{k}_{22}] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \} \right)$$

$$(28)$$

where

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{0} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} \end{pmatrix} & -\frac{1}{\rho_{11}R_{2}} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{\rho_{22}R_{1}} & \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{2}} \end{pmatrix} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2\rho_{11}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \end{pmatrix} & \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{2}} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{1}{2\rho_{22}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \end{pmatrix} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(29a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) & -\frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(29b)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{R_{2}} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) & 0 & \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(29c)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{11} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(29d)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{12} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(29e)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(29f)

## **Equilibrium Equations and Boundary Conditions**

Equilibrium equations and boundary conditions that are work conjugate to the strains appearing in equations (15) are obtained by applying the principle of virtual work. The statement of this principle for the shells considered herein is given by

$$\iint_{A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{I} A_{1} A_{2} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = \iint_{A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{E} A_{1} A_{2} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{E}^{B} ds$$
(30)

where  $\delta \mathcal{W}_{E}$  is the virtual work of the internal stresses and  $\delta \mathcal{W}_{E}$  is the virtual work of the external surface tractions acting at each point of the shell reference surface A depicted in figure 1. The symbol  $\delta \mathcal{W}_{E}^{B}$  represents the virtual work of the external tractions acting on the boundary curve  $\partial A$  that encloses the region A, as shown in figure 1. The specific form of the internal virtual work needed to obtain the equilibrium equations is obtained by substituting equations (26) and (28) into equation (19b). The result of this substitution yields

$$\delta \mathcal{W}_{I} = \left(\left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{0} \right] + \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{0} \right] \right) \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} \\ + \left( \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] \right) \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \left( \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2} \right] + \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{2} \right] \right) \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \\ - \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right) - \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right) \\ - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right) - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right) \\ + \left\{ \mathcal{F}_{1} \right\}^{T} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \left\{ \mathcal{F}_{2} \right\}^{T} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \left\{ \mathcal{F}_{2} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \mathbf{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(31)$$

The pointwise external virtual work of the tangential surface tractions  $q_1$  and  $q_2$  and the normal surface traction  $q_3$  is

$$\boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{U}}_{E} = q_{1} \delta u_{1} + q_{2} \delta u_{2} + q_{3} \delta u_{3} = \left\{ \mathbf{q} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \right\}$$
(32a)

where

$$\left\{ \mathbf{q} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} q_{1}^{D} + q_{3}^{L} \varphi_{1} \\ q_{2}^{D} + q_{3}^{L} \varphi_{2} \\ q_{3}^{D} + q_{3}^{L} \left( e_{11}^{o} + e_{22}^{o} \right) + \frac{\partial q_{3}^{L}}{\partial \xi_{1}} u_{1} + \frac{\partial q_{3}^{L}}{\partial \xi_{2}} u_{2} + \frac{\partial q_{3}^{L}}{\partial \xi_{3}} u_{3} \end{array} \right\}$$
(32b)

The surface tractions  $q_1$ ,  $q_2$ , and  $q_3$  are defined to be positive-valued in the positive  $\xi_1$ -,  $\xi_2$ -, and  $\xi_3$ coordinate directions, respectively, as shown in figure 2, and include the effects of a live normalpressure field (see Appendix A), denoted by the superscript "L" and dead surface tractions, denoted by the superscript "D." The boundary integral in equation (30) represents the virtual work of forces per unit length that are applied to the boundary  $\partial A$  of the region A, and it is implied that the integrand is evaluated on the boundary. The symbol ds denotes the boundary differential arc-length coordinate, which is traversed in accordance with the surface divergence theorem of Calculus. For many practical cases, the domain of the surface A is given by  $a_1 \le \xi_1 \le b_1$  and  $a_2 \le \xi_2 \le b_2$ , and the boundary curve  $\partial A$  consists of four smooth arcs given by the constant values of the coordinates  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$ , as depicted in figure 2. The general form of the boundary integral is given by
$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E}^{B} ds = \int_{\partial A} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E1}^{B} (\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1}) + \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E2}^{B} (\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2}) \right] ds$$
(33a)

where

$$\delta \mathcal{W}_{E1}^{B} = N_1 \delta u_1 + S_1 \delta u_2 + Q_1 \delta u_3 + M_1 \delta \varphi_1 + M_{12} \delta \varphi_2$$
(33b)

$$\delta \mathcal{W}_{E2}^{B} = S_{2} \delta u_{1} + N_{2} \delta u_{2} + Q_{2} \delta u_{3} + M_{21} \delta \varphi_{1} + M_{2} \delta \varphi_{2}$$
(33c)

In equations (33);  $N_1$ ,  $S_1$ ,  $Q_1$ ,  $N_2$ ,  $S_2$ , and  $Q_2$  are the  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  components of the external forces per unit length that are applied normal, tangential, and transverse to the given edge, respectively, as shown in figure 2. Likewise,  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  are the components of the moment per unit length with an axis of rotation that is parallel to the given edge, at the given point of the boundary. In addition,  $M_{12}$  and  $M_{21}$  are applied twisting moment per unit length with an axis of rotation that is perpendicular to the given edge, at the given point of the boundary.

The equilibrium equations and boundary conditions are obtained by applying "integrationby-parts" formulas, obtained by specialization of the surface divergence theorem, to the first integral in equation (30). For two arbitrary differentiable functions  $f(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  and  $g(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , the integration-by-parts formulas are given in general form by

$$\iint_{A} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \xi_{1}}(g) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = -\iint_{A} \left(f\right) \frac{\partial g}{\partial \xi_{1}} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \frac{fg}{A_{2}} \left(\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1}\right) ds$$
(34a)

$$\iint_{A} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \xi_{2}}(g) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = -\iint_{A} (f) \frac{\partial g}{\partial \xi_{2}} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \frac{fg}{A_{1}} (\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2}) ds$$
(34b)

where  $\hat{N}$  is the outward unit-magnitude vector field that is perpendicular to points of  $\partial A$ , and that lies in the corresponding reference-surface tangent plane. In addition,  $\hat{a}_1$  and  $\hat{a}_2$  are unit-magnitude vector fields that are tangent to the  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  coordinate curves, respectively, at every point of A and  $\partial A$ , as shown in figure 1.

The integration-by-parts formulas are easily extended to a useful vector form by noting that the product  $\{\mathbf{v}\}^{T}\{\mathbf{w}\}$  represent a linear combination of scalar pairs. Thus, the vector forms of equations (34) are given by

$$\iint_{A} \left\{ \mathbf{f} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \mathbf{g} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = -\iint_{A} \frac{\partial \left\{ \mathbf{f} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left\{ \mathbf{g} \right\} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \frac{\left\{ \mathbf{f} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left\{ \mathbf{g} \right\}}{A_{2}} \left( \hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1} \right) ds \quad (35a)$$

$$\iint_{A} \left\{ \mathbf{f} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \mathbf{g} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = -\iint_{A} \frac{\partial \left\{ \mathbf{f} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left\{ \mathbf{g} \right\} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \frac{\left\{ \mathbf{f} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left\{ \mathbf{g} \right\}}{A_{1}} \left( \hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{2} \right) ds \quad (35b)$$

Applying these equations to the left-hand side of equation (30), and using equation (31) for  $\delta \mathcal{W}_{I}$ , gives the following results:

$$\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] \right) \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\langle \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\rangle}{\partial \xi_{1}} A_{1} A_{2} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = 
- \int\!\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] \right) \right) \left\langle \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\rangle d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} 
+ \int_{\partial A} \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] \right) \left\langle \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\rangle \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1} \right) ds$$
(36)

$$\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{d}_{2}] + \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{2}] \right) \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\langle \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\rangle}{\partial \xi_{2}} A_{1} A_{2} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = 
- \int\!\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{d}_{2}] + \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{2}] \right) \right) \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} 
+ \int_{\partial A} \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{d}_{2}] + \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{2}] \right) \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\} \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2} \right) ds$$
(37)

$$-\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} A_{2} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{II}}] \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = \\ -\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{II}}] \right) \right) \!\!\!\left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u} \right\} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2}$$

$$+ \int_{\partial A} \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{II}}] \right) \!\!\!\left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u} \right\} - \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{II}}] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right) \!\!\!\left( \hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1} \right) ds$$

$$(38)$$

$$-\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} A_{1} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{22}\right] \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}}\right) \mathrm{d}\xi_{1} \mathrm{d}\xi_{2} = \\ -\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(A_{1} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{22}\right]\right)\right) \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\} \mathrm{d}\xi_{1} \mathrm{d}\xi_{2}$$

$$+ \int_{\partial A} \left(\frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(A_{1} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{22}\right]\right) \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\} - \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{22}\right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}}\right) \left(\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2}\right) \mathrm{d}s$$

$$(39)$$

$$-\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} A_{2} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = \\ -\int\!\!\!\!\int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \right) \right) \!\!\!\left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u} \right\} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} \\ + \int_{\partial A} \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \right) \!\!\!\left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u} \right\} \left( \hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{2} \right) ds \\ - \int_{\partial A} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{\mathrm{T}} [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right) \left( \hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1} \right) ds$$

$$(40)$$

$$-\int\!\!\!\!\int_{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{A}_{1} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right] \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}}\right) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = \\ -\int\!\!\!\!\!\int_{\mathbf{A}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(\mathbf{A}_{1} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\right)\right) \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} \\ +\int_{\partial \mathbf{A}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1} \mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left(\mathbf{A}_{1} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\right) \left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\} \left(\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1}\right) ds \\ -\int_{\partial \mathbf{A}} \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right] \left(\frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{\mathbf{\delta u}\right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}}\right) \left(\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2}\right) ds$$

$$(41)$$

$$\iint_{A} A_{2} \{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1} \}^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{\partial \{ \boldsymbol{\delta} \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2} = -\int_{A} \int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} (A_{2} \{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1} \}^{\mathrm{T}}) \{ \boldsymbol{\delta} \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1} \}^{\mathrm{T}} \{ \boldsymbol{\delta} \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \} (\hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1}) ds$$

$$(42)$$

$$\int\!\!\!\int_{A} A_{1} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2}\}^{\mathrm{T}} \frac{\partial \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ}\}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2} = -\int\!\!\!\int_{A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \left(A_{1} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2}\}^{\mathrm{T}}\right) \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ}\} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1} d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2}\}^{\mathrm{T}} \{\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ}\} \left(\hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{2}\right) ds$$
(43)

From these equations, it follows that

$$\iint_{A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{1} A_{1} A_{2} d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} = \iint_{A} \left( \left\{ \Sigma \mathcal{P} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} + \left\{ \Sigma \tilde{\mathcal{P}} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \mathbf{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} \right) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{1}^{B} ds \quad (44)$$

where

$$\left\{ \boldsymbol{\Sigma} \,\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathrm{A}_{1} \mathrm{A}_{2} \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{0} \right] + \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{0} \right] \right)$$

$$- \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{2} \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] \right) + \frac{1}{\mathrm{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] + \frac{1}{\mathrm{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \right)$$

$$- \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{1} \left\{ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2} \right] + \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{2} \right] \right) + \frac{1}{\mathrm{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] + \frac{1}{\mathrm{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \right)$$

$$\left\{ \boldsymbol{\Sigma} \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{\tilde{P}}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathrm{A}_{1} \mathrm{A}_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \mathrm{A}_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{2} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right)$$

$$(45b)$$

Next, equations (2) are used to get

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\Sigma} \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{0} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{1} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2} \end{bmatrix} \right] + \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{0} \end{bmatrix} 
- \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{1} \end{bmatrix} \right] - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2} \end{bmatrix} \right) 
- \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{1} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{11} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{12} \end{bmatrix} \right) 
- \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{2} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{12} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right) 
- \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{2} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{12} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right) 
- \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{2} \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{12} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

$$(46b)$$

The boundary integral appearing in equation (44) is given by

$$\int_{\partial \mathbf{A}} \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{I}}^{\mathbf{B}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{s} = \int_{\partial \mathbf{A}} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{I}}^{\mathbf{B}} (\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1}) + \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{I}2}^{\mathbf{B}} (\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2}) \right] \mathrm{d}\mathbf{s}$$
(47)

where

$$\delta \mathcal{W}_{I1}^{B} = \left[ \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}$$

$$- \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \left\{ \mathcal{P}_{1} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \mathbf{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(48a)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{W}_{12}^{B} = \left( \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2} \right] + \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{2} \right] \right) \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} \\ + \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} \\ - \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \left\langle \mathcal{H} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \left\langle \mathcal{P}_{2} \right\rangle^{T} \left\{ \delta \gamma^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(48b)$$

Next, equations (32a) and (44) are substituted into equation (30) to get

$$\iint_{A} \left( \left( \left\{ \Sigma \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} - A_{1} A_{2} \left\{ \mathbf{q} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \right) \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} + \left\{ \Sigma \, \boldsymbol{\tilde{\mathcal{P}}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} \right) \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1} \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2} + \int_{\partial A} \left( \delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}_{1}^{\mathrm{B}} - \delta \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}_{E}^{\mathrm{B}} \right) \mathrm{d} \mathbf{s} = 0 \quad (49)$$

as the statement of the principle of virtual work. Because  $\{\delta u\}$  and  $\{\delta \gamma^{\circ}\}$  are independent virtual displacements, that are generally nonzero, the localization lemma for the Calculus of Variations yields the equilibrium equations

$$\frac{1}{A_1A_2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\Sigma} \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} - \left\{ \mathbf{q} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} = \left\{ \mathbf{0} \right\}$$
(50a)

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\,\boldsymbol{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}} = \left\{\boldsymbol{0}\right\} \tag{50b}$$

In order to identify the strain-displacement relations of several different theories that appear often in the literature, equation (16a) is expressed as

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\circ}\right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{array} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \varphi_{1}^{2} + c_{2} \varphi^{2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} c_{1} \left[ \left( e_{11}^{\circ} \right)^{2} + e_{12}^{\circ} \left( e_{12}^{\circ} + 2\varphi \right) \right] \\ e_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \varphi_{2}^{2} + c_{2} \varphi^{2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} c_{1} \left[ \left( e_{22}^{\circ} \right)^{2} + e_{12}^{\circ} \left( e_{12}^{\circ} - 2\varphi \right) \right] \\ 2 e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi_{1} \varphi_{2} + c_{1} \left[ e_{11}^{\circ} \left( e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \right) + e_{22}^{\circ} \left( e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \right) \right] \end{array} \right\}$$
(51)

and equations (4) as

$$\varphi_1(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{c_3 u_1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial u_3}{\partial \xi_1}$$
(52a)

$$\varphi_2(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{c_3 u_2}{R_2} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial u_3}{\partial \xi_2}$$
(52b)

$$\varphi\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2}c_{3}\left(\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{22}}\right)$$
(52c)

With this notation, equations (16a) and (8) are recovered by specifying  $c_1 = c_2 = c_3 = 1$ . Specifying  $c_1 = 0$  and  $c_2 = c_3 = 1$  gives Sanders' strain-displacement relations, and specifying  $c_1 = 0$ ,  $c_2 = 0$ , and  $c_3 = 1$  gives Sanders' strain-displacement relations with nonlinear rotations about the reference-surface normal neglected. In addition, specifying  $c_1 = c_2 = c_3 = 0$  gives the strain-displacement relations of the Donnell-Mushtari-Vlasov theory. Accordingly,

$$\left\{ \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\circ} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\circ}_{11} \\ \delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{\circ}_{22} \\ \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\circ}_{12} \end{array} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \left( 1 + c_{1} e^{\circ}_{11} \right) \delta e^{\circ}_{11} + c_{1} \left( e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi \right) \delta e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi_{1} \delta \phi_{1} + \left( c_{1} e^{\circ}_{12} + c_{2} \phi \right) \delta \phi \\ \left( 1 + c_{1} e^{\circ}_{22} \right) \delta e^{\circ}_{22} + c_{1} \left( e^{\circ}_{12} - \phi \right) \delta e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi_{2} \delta \phi_{2} - \left( c_{1} e^{\circ}_{12} - c_{2} \phi \right) \delta \phi \\ c_{1} \left( e^{\circ}_{12} - \phi \right) \delta e^{\circ}_{11} + c_{1} \left( e^{\circ}_{12} + \phi \right) \delta e^{\circ}_{22} + \left[ 2 + c_{1} \left( e^{\circ}_{11} + e^{\circ}_{22} \right) \right] \delta e^{\circ}_{12} \\ + \phi_{2} \delta \phi_{1} + \phi_{1} \delta \phi_{2} + c_{1} \left( e^{\circ}_{22} - e^{\circ}_{11} \right) \delta \phi \end{array} \right\}$$
(53)

where

$$\delta\varphi_1(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{c_3\delta u_1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{A_1}\frac{\partial\delta u_3}{\partial\xi_1}$$
(54a)

$$\delta\varphi_2(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{c_3\delta u_2}{R_2} - \frac{1}{A_2}\frac{\partial\delta u_3}{\partial\xi_2}$$
(54b)

$$\delta\varphi(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{1}{2}c_3\left(\frac{1}{A_1}\frac{\partial\delta u_2}{\partial\xi_1} - \frac{1}{A_2}\frac{\partial\delta u_1}{\partial\xi_2} + \frac{\delta u_1}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\delta u_2}{\rho_{22}}\right)$$
(54c)

Substituting equations (23a)-(23c) and (54) into (53), the matrices in equations (26) are expressed as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{0}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{c_{3}\phi_{1}}{R_{1}} + \frac{c_{1}(1+c_{3})e_{12}^{\circ} + (c_{1}+c_{2}c_{3})\phi}{2\rho_{11}} \\ \frac{c_{1}(1-c_{3})e_{12}^{\circ} + (c_{2}c_{3}-c_{1})\phi}{2\rho_{11}} + \frac{1+c_{1}e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} \\ \frac{c_{3}\phi_{2}}{R_{1}} + \frac{2+c_{1}(1-c_{3})e_{11}^{\circ} + c_{1}(1+c_{3})e_{22}^{\circ}}{2\rho_{11}} + \frac{c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ}+\phi)}{\rho_{22}} \\ \frac{c_{1}(c_{3}-1)e_{12}^{\circ} + (c_{2}c_{3}-c_{1})\phi}{2\rho_{22}} - \frac{1+c_{1}e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} \\ \frac{c_{3}\phi_{2}}{R_{2}} - \frac{c_{1}(1+c_{3})e_{12}^{\circ} - (c_{1}+c_{2}c_{3})\phi}{2\rho_{22}} \\ \frac{c_{3}\phi_{1}}{R_{2}} - \frac{2+c_{1}(1+c_{3})e_{11}^{\circ} + c_{1}(1-c_{3})e_{22}^{\circ}}{2\rho_{22}} - \frac{c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ}-\phi)}{\rho_{11}} \\ c_{1}\left(\frac{e_{12}^{\circ}-\phi}{R_{1}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ}+\phi}{R_{2}}\right) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(55a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 + c_{1}e_{11}^{\circ} & \frac{c_{1}}{2}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) + \frac{c_{3}}{2}(c_{1}e_{12}^{\circ} + c_{2}\varphi) & -\varphi_{1} \\ 0 & \frac{c_{1}}{2}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) - \frac{c_{3}}{2}(c_{1}e_{12}^{\circ} - c_{2}\varphi) & 0 \\ c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) & 1 + \frac{c_{1}}{2}(1 - c_{3})e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{c_{1}}{2}(1 + c_{3})e_{22}^{\circ} & -\varphi_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(55b)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{c_{1}}{2} (e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) - \frac{c_{3}}{2} (c_{1}e_{12}^{\circ} + c_{2}\varphi) & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{c_{1}}{2} (e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) + \frac{c_{3}}{2} (c_{1}e_{12}^{\circ} - c_{2}\varphi) & 1 + c_{1}e_{22}^{\circ} & -\varphi_{2} \\ 1 + \frac{c_{1}}{2} (1 + c_{3})e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{c_{1}}{2} (1 - c_{3})e_{22}^{\circ} & c_{1} (e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) & -\varphi_{1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(55c)

Moreover,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{0} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{1} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2} \end{bmatrix} =$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{c_{3}\phi_{1}}{R_{1}} + \frac{c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi)}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{1 + c_{1}e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} & -\frac{c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi)}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{1 + c_{1}e_{11}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} & \frac{1 + c_{1}e_{11}^{\circ}}{R_{1}} + \frac{\phi_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \\ \frac{c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi)}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{1 + c_{1}e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{c_{3}\phi_{2}}{R_{2}} - \frac{c_{1}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi)}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{1 + c_{1}e_{22}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} & \frac{1 + c_{1}e_{22}^{\circ}}{R_{2}} - \frac{\phi_{2}}{\rho_{11}} \\ \frac{c_{3}\phi_{2}}{R_{1}} + \frac{2 + c_{1}(e_{11}^{\circ} + e_{22}^{\circ})}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{2c_{1}\phi}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{c_{3}\phi_{1}}{R_{2}} - \frac{2 + c_{1}(e_{11}^{\circ} + e_{22}^{\circ})}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{2c_{1}\phi}{\rho_{11}} & c_{1}\left(\frac{e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi}{R_{1}} + \frac{e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi}{R_{2}}\right) + \frac{\phi_{2}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{\phi_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \end{bmatrix}$$

In addition, substituting equations (54) in to equation (22b) yields the revised matrices

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{0} \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{c}_{3} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) & -\frac{1}{\rho_{11}R_{2}} & 0\\ \frac{1}{\rho_{22}R_{1}} & \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) & 0\\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) + \frac{1}{2\rho_{11}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) & \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) - \frac{1}{2\rho_{22}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(57a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{c_{3}}{R_{1}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \\ 0 & \frac{c_{3}}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) & -\frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(57b)  
$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{k}_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \\ 0 & \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} & 0 \\ \frac{c_{3}}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) & 0 & \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(57c)

that appear in equation (28). Equations (29d)-(29f) remain unaltered. By applying these revised matrices to equations (46) and (50), the equilibrium equations are found to be

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{11}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \frac{2\mathcal{H}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{c_{3}\widetilde{Q}_{13}}{R_{1}} + \frac{c_{3}}{2A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}}\left[\mathcal{H}_{12}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{P}_{1} + q_{1} = 0 \quad (58a)$$

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{2\mathcal{H}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{c_{3}\tilde{Q}_{23}}{R_{2}} + \frac{c_{3}}{2A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}}\left[\mathcal{H}_{12}\left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{P}_{2} + q_{2} = 0 \quad (58b)$$

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \widetilde{Q}_{13}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \widetilde{Q}_{23}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\widetilde{Q}_{13}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{\widetilde{Q}_{23}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\varkappa_{11}}{R_{1}} - \frac{\varkappa_{22}}{R_{2}} + \mathcal{P}_{3} + q_{3} = 0$$
(58c)

$$\mathcal{Z}_{13} + \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{21}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{11}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}_{11}}{\partial \xi_1} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}_{21}}{\partial \xi_2} = 0$$
(58d)

$$\mathcal{Z}_{23} + \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}_{22}}{\partial \xi_2} = 0$$
(58e)

where

$$\widetilde{Q}_{13} = \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{11}}{\partial \xi_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\mathcal{M}_{11} - \mathcal{M}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{2\mathcal{M}_{12}}{\rho_{11}}$$
(59a)

$$\widetilde{Q}_{23} = \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{22}}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\mathcal{M}_{11} - \mathcal{M}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{2\mathcal{M}_{12}}{\rho_{22}}$$
(59b)

$$\mathcal{P}_{1} = -\frac{\mathbf{c}_{3}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \varphi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi_{2} \Big] - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{2}}{2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \Big[ \varphi \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \Big] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \Big) \Big] \\ - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \Big) + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \Big) + \mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \mathbf{e}_{22}^{\circ} \Big) \Big] - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} \mathbf{e}_{22}^{\circ} - \mathcal{H}_{11} \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi \Big] \quad (59c) \\ + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \Big[ \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi + 2 \Big( \mathcal{H}_{22} \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} \Big) \Big]$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{2} = -\frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} \varphi_{2} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi_{1} \Big] - \frac{c_{2}}{2A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \Big[ \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi \Big] + \frac{c_{1}}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} e_{22}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \Big) \Big] \\ + \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \Big( e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \Big) + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big( e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \Big) + \mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( e_{11}^{\circ} + e_{22}^{\circ} \Big) \Big] - \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} e_{22}^{\circ} - \mathcal{H}_{11} e_{11}^{\circ} + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi \Big]$$
(59d)  
$$+ \frac{c_{1}}{2A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \Big[ \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi + 2 \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} e_{12}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} e_{22}^{\circ} \Big) \Big]$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{3} = -\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{1}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{2} \Big] - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{2} \Big] - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{22}\phi_{2} \Big] \\ + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{22}\phi_{2} \Big] - \frac{c_{1}}{R_{1}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11}e_{11}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi) \Big] - \frac{c_{1}}{R_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22}e_{22}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi) \Big]$$
(59e)

Before the boundary conditions can be obtained, the boundary integral given by equation (43) must be reduced further. In particular, by noting that

$$(\mathbf{\hat{N}} \bullet \mathbf{\hat{a}}_1) d\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{A}_2 d\boldsymbol{\xi}_2$$
 (60a)

$$(\mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_2) ds = -A_1 d\xi_1$$
 (60b)

it is seen that the integrals

$$\int_{\partial A} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_2} \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \bullet \mathbf{\hat{a}}_1 \right) \mathrm{ds}$$
(61a)

$$\int_{\partial \mathbf{A}} \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \bullet \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2} \right) \mathrm{ds}$$
(61b)

can be integrated by parts further, by using the product rule of differentiation, to get

$$\int_{\partial A} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \left[ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2} \right) \right] \mathrm{ds} = \\ - \int_{\partial A} \left[ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{2} \right) \mathrm{ds} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \left( \mathbf{\hat{N}} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{a}}_{1} \right) \mathrm{ds} \right] \left\{ \mathbf{\delta u} \right\}$$
(62)  
$$+ \int_{\partial A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \left\{ \mathbf{\delta u} \right\} \right] \mathrm{d}\xi_{2} - \int_{\partial A} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \left\{ \mathbf{\delta u} \right\} \right] \mathrm{d}\xi_{1}$$

Using this result, equation (47) is expressed as

$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{I}^{B} ds = \int_{\partial A} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}}_{I1}^{B} (\hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1}) + \boldsymbol{\delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}}_{I2}^{B} (\hat{\mathbf{N}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{2}) \right] ds + \left\langle \{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\}^{T} [\mathbf{k}_{12}] \{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\} \right\rangle_{\partial A}$$
(63)

where

$$\left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle \right\rangle_{\partial \mathrm{A}} = \int_{\partial \mathrm{A}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle \right] \mathrm{d}\xi_{2} - \int_{\partial \mathrm{A}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \left( \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle \right] \mathrm{d}\xi_{1} \quad (64a)$$

$$\delta \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}_{I1}^{B} = \left[ \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} + \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \left\{ \mathcal{P}_{1} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \gamma^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(64b)$$

$$\delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{12}^{B} = \left[ \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2} \right] + \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{2} \right] + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} + \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \left\{ \mathcal{P}_{2} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \gamma^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$(64c)$$

On an edge given by  $\xi_1 = \text{constant}$ ;  $d\xi_1 = 0$ ,  $(\hat{N} \cdot \hat{a}_1) = 1$ , and  $(\hat{N} \cdot \hat{a}_2) = 0$ . For this case,

$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{I}^{B} ds = \int_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{I1}^{B} A_{2} \right]_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} d\xi_{2} + \left( \left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \left\langle \boldsymbol{\delta u} \right\rangle \right\rangle_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} \right)_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}}$$
(65a)

where

$$\left(\left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle \right\rangle_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} \right)_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}} = \left( \left[ \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle \right]_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} \right)_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}}$$
(65b)

Likewise, equation (33a) has the form

$$\int_{\partial A} \delta \mathcal{U}_{E}^{B} ds = \int_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}} \left[ \delta \overline{\overline{\mathcal{U}}}_{E1}^{B} A_{2} \right]_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} d\xi_{2}$$
(66a)

with

$$\delta \overline{\overline{\mathcal{W}}}_{E_{1}}^{B} = \left[ N_{1}(\xi_{2}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{1}(\xi_{2})}{R_{1}} \right] \delta u_{1} + \left[ S_{1}(\xi_{2}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{12}(\xi_{2})}{R_{2}} \right] \delta u_{2} + Q_{1}(\xi_{2}) \delta u_{3} - \frac{M_{1}(\xi_{2})}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{M_{12}(\xi_{2})}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}}$$
(66b)

where equations (54) have been used for the virtual rotations. Noting that

$$\int_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}} \left[ M_{12}(\xi_{2}) \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right]_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} d\xi_{2} = - \int_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}} \left[ \frac{dM_{12}(\xi_{2})}{d\xi_{2}} \delta u_{3} \right]_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} d\xi_{2} + \left( M_{12}(\xi_{2}) \delta u_{3\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} \right)_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}}$$
(67)

equations (66) are expressed as

$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E}^{B} ds = \int_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E1}^{B} A_{2} \right]_{\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} d\xi_{2} - \left( M_{12}(\xi_{2}) \delta u_{3\xi_{1} = \text{ constant}} \right)_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}}$$
(68a)

with

$$\delta \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}_{E1}^{B} = \left[ N_{1}(\xi_{2}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{1}(\xi_{2})}{R_{1}} \right] \delta u_{1} + \left[ S_{1}(\xi_{2}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{12}(\xi_{2})}{R_{2}} \right] \delta u_{2} + \left[ Q_{1}(\xi_{2}) + \frac{dM_{12}(\xi_{2})}{d\xi_{2}} \right] \delta u_{3} - \frac{M_{1}(\xi_{2})}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}}$$
(68b)

The matrix form of equation (68b) is given by

$$\delta \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{E_{1}}^{B} = \left\langle \overline{\mathcal{R}}_{1} \right\rangle^{T} \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle - \left\langle \overline{\mathcal{R}}_{1} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\langle \delta \mathbf{u} \right\rangle}{\partial \xi_{1}}$$
(69)

with

$$\left\{\overline{\mathcal{R}}_{1}\right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} N_{1} + \frac{c_{3}M_{1}}{R_{1}} \\ S_{1} + \frac{c_{3}M_{12}}{R_{2}} \\ Q_{1} + \frac{dM_{12}}{d\xi_{2}} \end{array} \right\}$$
(70a)
$$\left\{\overline{\mathcal{R}}_{1}\right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} M_{1} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array} \right\}$$
(70b)

In addition,

$$\left(\mathbf{M}_{12}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2})\boldsymbol{\delta}\boldsymbol{u}_{\boldsymbol{3}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}}=\text{constant}}\right)_{\boldsymbol{a}_{2}}^{\boldsymbol{b}_{2}} = \left(\left[\left\{\overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{W}}}_{1}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}\left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}\right\}\right]_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}=\text{constant}}\right)_{\boldsymbol{a}_{2}}^{\boldsymbol{b}_{2}}$$
(71)

Thus, enforcing the boundary integral term in equation (49) for an edge given by  $\xi_1$  = constant by using equations (64b), (65), and (67) and applying the localization lemma of the Calculus of Variations yields

$$\delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{I1}^{B} - \delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{E1}^{B} = \left[ \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1} \right] + \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{1} \right] + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) - \left\{ \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{1} \right\}^{T} \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} \\ + \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}$$
(72a)
$$\left( \left\{ \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{1} \right\}^{T} - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \right) \left[ \mathbf{k}_{11} \right] \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \left\{ \mathcal{P}_{1} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \mathbf{\gamma}^{\circ} \right\} = 0$$

$$\left(\left[\left(\left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}-\left\{\boldsymbol{\overline{\mathcal{M}}}_{1}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)\left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\}\right]_{\xi_{1}=\mathrm{constant}}\right)_{a_{2}}^{b_{2}}=0$$
(72b)

where  $\{\delta \mathbf{u}\}$ ,  $\frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \{\delta \mathbf{u}\}}{\partial \xi_1}$ , and  $\{\delta \gamma^\circ\}$  are arbitrary virtual displacements. The component form of these equations yield the following boundary conditions for the edge given by  $\xi_1$  = constant:

$$\mathcal{H}_{11}\left(1+c_{1}e_{11}^{\circ}\right)+\mathcal{H}_{12}c_{1}\left(e_{12}^{\circ}-\varphi\right)+\mathcal{H}_{11}\frac{c_{3}}{R_{1}}=N_{1}\left(\xi_{2}\right)+M_{1}\left(\xi_{2}\right)\frac{c_{3}}{R_{1}} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_{1}=0$$
(73a)

$$\mathcal{H}_{12} + \frac{c_2}{2} \left( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \right) \varphi + \frac{c_1}{2} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \left( 2e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \right) - \mathcal{H}_{22} \varphi + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} e_{22}^{\circ} \right] + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{c_3}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \right) = S_1(\xi_2) + \frac{M_{12}(\xi_2)}{R_2}$$
 or  $\delta u_2 = 0$  (73b)

$$\overline{Q}_{13} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_2} - \left( \mathcal{H}_{11} \phi_1 + \mathcal{H}_{12} \phi_2 \right) = Q_1(\xi_2) + \frac{dM_{12}(\xi_2)}{d\xi_2} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_3 = 0$$
(73c)

$$\mathcal{W}_{11} = \mathbf{M}_1(\boldsymbol{\xi}_2) \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_1} \frac{\partial \delta \mathbf{u}_3}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_1} = 0$$
 (73d)

$$\mathcal{P}_{11} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \delta \gamma_{13}^{\circ} = 0$$
 (73e)

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{12} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \delta \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} = 0 \tag{73f}$$

and

$$\mathcal{W}_{12} = \mathbf{M}_{12}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_2) \quad \text{or} \quad \delta \mathbf{u}_3 = 0 \tag{73g}$$

at the corners given by  $\xi_2 = a_2$  and  $\xi_2 = b_2$ . Examination of equations (20c) reveals that  $\mathcal{P}_{11}$  and

 $\mathcal{F}_{12}$  appearing in these boundary conditions correspond to forces per unit length associated with through-the-thickness distributions of  $\sigma_{11}$  and  $\sigma_{12}$ , respectively, that supress transverse-shearing deformations of the plate edge face.

On an edge given by  $\xi_2 = \text{constant}$ ;  $d\xi_2 = 0$ ,  $(\hat{N} \cdot \hat{a}_1) = 0$ , and  $(\hat{N} \cdot \hat{a}_2) = 1$ . For this case,

$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{I}^{B} ds = \int_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}}_{I_{2}}^{B} A_{1} \right]_{\xi_{2} = \text{constant}} d\xi_{1} + \left( \left\langle \left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{W}} \right\rangle^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \left\{ \boldsymbol{\delta u} \right\} \right\rangle_{\xi_{2} = \text{constant}} \right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}$$
(74a)

where

$$\left(\left\langle \left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}\left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\}\right\rangle_{\xi_{2}=\mathrm{constant}}\right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}=\left(\left[\left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}\left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\}\right]_{\xi_{2}=\mathrm{constant}}\right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}$$
(74b)

Likewise, equation (33a) has the form

$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{U}}_{E}^{B} ds = \int_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta} \overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{W}}}_{E2}^{B} A_{1} \right]_{\xi_{2} = \text{constant}} d\xi_{1}$$
(75a)

with

$$\delta \overline{\overline{W}}_{E2}^{B} = \left[ S_{2}(\xi_{1}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{21}(\xi_{1})}{R_{1}} \right] \delta u_{1} + \left[ N_{2}(\xi_{1}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{2}(\xi_{1})}{R_{2}} \right] \delta u_{2} + Q_{2}(\xi_{1}) \delta u_{3} - \frac{M_{2}(\xi_{1})}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \frac{M_{21}(\xi_{2})}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}}$$
(75b)

where equations (53) have been used for the virtual rotations. Noting that

$$\int_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}} \left[ M_{21}(\xi_{1}) \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right]_{\xi_{2} = \text{constant}} d\xi_{1} = - \int_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}} \left[ \frac{dM_{21}(\xi_{1})}{d\xi_{1}} \delta u_{3} \right]_{\xi_{2} = \text{constant}} d\xi_{1} + \left( M_{21}(\xi_{1}) \delta u_{3\xi_{2} = \text{constant}} \right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}$$
(76)

equations (75) are expressed as

$$\int_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E}^{B} ds = \int_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}} \left[ \boldsymbol{\delta \mathcal{W}}_{E2}^{B} A_{1} \right]_{\xi_{2} = \text{ constant}} d\xi_{1} - \left( M_{21}(\xi_{1}) \delta u_{3\xi_{2} = \text{ constant}} \right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}$$
(77a)

$$\delta \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}_{E_{2}}^{B} = \left[ S_{2}(\xi_{1}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{21}(\xi_{1})}{R_{1}} \right] \delta u_{1} + \left[ N_{2}(\xi_{1}) + \frac{c_{3}M_{2}(\xi_{1})}{R_{2}} \right] \delta u_{2} + \left[ Q_{2}(\xi_{1}) + \frac{dM_{21}(\xi_{1})}{d\xi_{1}} \right] \delta u_{3} - \frac{M_{2}(\xi_{1})}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}}$$
(77b)

with

The matrix form of equation (77b) is given by

$$\delta \widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{E_{2}}^{B} = \left\langle \overline{\mathcal{R}}_{2} \right\rangle^{T} \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} - \left\{ \overline{\mathcal{R}}_{2} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}}$$
(78)

with

$$\left\{\overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}}_{2}\right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} S_{2} + \frac{c_{3}M_{21}}{R_{1}} \\ N_{2} + \frac{c_{3}M_{2}}{R_{2}} \\ Q_{2} + \frac{dM_{21}}{d\xi_{1}} \end{array} \right\}$$
(79a)

$$\left\{\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{2}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{c} 0\\ M_{2}\\ 0\end{array}\right\}$$
(79b)

In addition,

$$\left(\mathbf{M}_{21}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1})\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}=\text{constant}}\right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}} = \left(\left[\left\{\overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}}_{2}\right\}^{T}\left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\left\{\boldsymbol{\delta}\mathbf{u}\right\}\right]_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}=\text{constant}}\right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}$$
(80)

Thus, enforcing the boundary integral term in equation (49) for an edge given by  $\xi_2$  = constant by using equations (64c), (74), and (76) and applying the localization lemma of the Calculus of Variations yields

$$\delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{12}^{B} - \delta \widehat{\mathcal{W}}_{E2}^{B} = \left[ \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2} \right] + \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{2} \right] + \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) - \left\{ \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{2} \right\}^{T} \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\} \\ + \frac{1}{A_{1}A_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left( A_{2} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{12} \right] \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( A_{1} \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \right) \right] \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}$$
(81a)  
$$\left( \left\{ \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{2} \right\}^{T} - \left\{ \mathcal{H} \right\}^{T} \right) \left[ \mathbf{k}_{22} \right] \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \left\{ \delta \mathbf{u} \right\}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \left\{ \mathcal{H}_{2} \right\}^{T} \left\{ \delta \gamma^{\circ} \right\}$$

$$\left(\left[\left(\left\{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}-\left\{\boldsymbol{\overline{\mathcal{M}}}_{2}\right\}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)\left[\mathbf{k}_{12}\right]\left\{\boldsymbol{\delta u}\right\}\right]_{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}=\mathrm{constant}}\right)_{a_{1}}^{b_{1}}=0$$
(81b)

where  $\{\delta \mathbf{u}\}$ ,  $\frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \{\delta \mathbf{u}\}}{\partial \xi_2}$  and  $\{\delta \gamma^\circ\}$  are arbitrary virtual displacements. The component form of these equations yield the following boundary conditions for the edge given by  $\xi_2 = \text{constant}$ :

$$\mathcal{H}_{12} - \frac{c_2}{2} \left( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \right) \varphi + \frac{c_1}{2} \left[ \left( \mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22} \right) \varphi + 2 \left( \mathcal{H}_{22} e_{12}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} e_{11}^{\circ} \right) \right] + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{c_3}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2} \right) = S_2(\xi_1) + \frac{M_{21}(\xi_1)}{R_1} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_1 = 0 \quad (82a)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{22}\left(1+c_{1}e_{22}^{\circ}\right)+\mathcal{H}_{12}c_{1}\left(e_{12}^{\circ}+\varphi\right)+\mathcal{H}_{22}\frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}}=N_{2}\left(\xi_{1}\right)+M_{2}\left(\xi_{1}\right)\frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_{2}=0$$
(82b)

$$\overline{Q}_{23} + \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} - \left( \mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi_1 + \mathcal{H}_{22} \varphi_2 \right) = Q_2(\xi_1) + \frac{dM_{21}(\xi_1)}{d\xi_1} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_3 = 0$$
(82c)

$$\mathcal{W}_{22} = \mathbf{M}_2(\xi_1) \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_2} \frac{\partial \delta \mathbf{u}_3}{\partial \xi_2} = 0$$
 (82d)

$$\mathcal{F}_{21} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \delta \gamma_{13}^{\circ} = 0 \tag{82e}$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{22} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \delta \gamma_{23}^{\circ} = 0 \tag{82f}$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}_{12} = \mathbf{M}_{21}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1) \quad \text{or} \quad \delta \mathbf{u}_3 = 0 \tag{82g}$$

at the corners given by  $\xi_1 = a_1$  and  $\xi_1 = b_1$ . Examination of equations (20d) reveals that  $\mathcal{P}_{12}$  and  $\mathcal{P}_{22}$  appearing in these boundary conditions correspond to forces per unit length associated with through-the-thickness distributions of  $\sigma_{12}$  and  $\sigma_{22}$ , respectively, that supress transverse-shearing deformations of the plate edge face.

## **Alternate Form of the Boundary Conditions**

In the present derivation of the boundary conditions, and those given by Koiter,6,9-10 the

derivatives  $\frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_1} = 0$  and  $\frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_2} = 0$  have been taken as the basic displacement parameters along the edges  $\xi_1 = \text{constant}$  and  $\xi_2 = \text{constant}$ , respectively. In contrast, Sanders and Budiansky<sup>5</sup>. <sup>8,11</sup> use the virtual rotations  $\delta \phi_1$  and  $\delta \phi_2$  as the corresponding basic displacement parameters. For these basic displacement parameters, equation (73a) and (73d) are replaced with

$$\mathcal{H}_{11}(1 + c_1 e_{11}^\circ) + \mathcal{H}_{12} c_1(e_{12}^\circ - \varphi) = N_1(\xi_2) \text{ or } \delta u_1 = 0$$
 (83a)

$$\mathcal{M}_{11} = \mathbf{M}_1(\boldsymbol{\xi}_2) \quad \text{or } \delta \boldsymbol{\varphi}_1 = 0 \tag{83b}$$

for the edge  $\xi_1$  = constant. Similarly, equation (82b) and (82d) are replaced with

$$\mathcal{H}_{22}(1+c_1e_{22}^{\circ}) + \mathcal{H}_{12}c_1(e_{12}^{\circ}+\phi) = N_2(\xi_1) \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_2 = 0$$
(84a)

$$\mathcal{M}_{22} = \mathbf{M}_2(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1) \quad \text{or } \delta \boldsymbol{\varphi}_2 = 0 \tag{84b}$$

As pointed out by Koiter<sup>9</sup> (see part 3, p.49), these alternate boundary conditions are completely equivalent to those presented herein previously, and are completely acceptable.

# Thermoelastic Constitutive Equations for Elastic Shells

Up to this point in the present study, the analysis has a very high fidelity within the presumptions of "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. The constitutive equations are approximate in nature and, as a result, are the best place to introduce approximations in a shell theory. The constitutive equations used in the present study are those for a shell made of one or more layers of linear elastic, specially orthotropic materials that are in a state of plane stress. These equations, referred to the shell ( $\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3$ ) coordinate system are given by

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{11} \\ \sigma_{22} \\ \sigma_{12} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} \ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{22} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \ \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \begin{cases} \epsilon_{11} \\ \epsilon_{22} \\ \gamma_{12} \end{cases} - \begin{cases} \overline{\alpha}_{11} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{22} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{12} \end{cases} \Theta(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) \right\}$$
(85a)

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{13} \\ \sigma_{23} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \ \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \ \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{13} \\ \gamma_{23} \end{pmatrix}$$
(85b)

The  $\overline{Q}_{ij}$  terms are the transformed, reduced (plane stress) stiffnesses of classical laminated-shell

and laminated-plate theories, and the  $\overline{C}_{ij}$  terms are the stiffnesses of a generally orthotropic solid. Both the  $\overline{Q}_{ij}$  and the  $\overline{C}_{ij}$  terms are generally functions of the through-the-thickness coordinate,  $\xi_3$ , for a laminated shell. The  $\overline{\alpha}_{ij}$  terms are the corresponding transformed coefficients of thermal expansion, and  $\Theta(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3)$  is a function that describes the pointwise change in temperature from a uniform reference state. An in-depth description of these quantities is found in references 226 and 227.

The work-conjugate stress resultants defined by equations (20) are the only stress resultants that appear in the virtual work, equilibrium equations, and boundary conditions. Thus, the shell constitutive equations are obtained by substituting equations (15) into (85), and then substituting the result into equations (20). This process gives the two-dimensional shell constitutive equations by the general form

$$\begin{bmatrix} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\} \\ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}} \right\} \\ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\} \\ \left[ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{10} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{01} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{02} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{03} \right] & \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{04} \right] \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{13} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{12} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{13} \right] & \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{14} \right] \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{23} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{23} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{23} \right] & \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{24} \right] \\ \left[ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{30} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{31} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{32} \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{33} \right] & \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{34} \right] \\ \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}_{34} \right] \\ \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{A}} \right\} \\ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\} \\ \left\{ \boldsymbol{$$

where

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right)} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_i \end{bmatrix}^{\mathbf{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} & \overline{Q}_{12} & \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} & \overline{Q}_{22} & \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} & \overline{Q}_{26} & \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_j \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3 \text{ for } i, j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}$$
(87a)

$$\left[\mathbf{C}_{55}\right] = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} \left[\mathbf{S}_{5}\right]^{\mathrm{T}} \left[\frac{\overline{\mathbf{C}}_{55}}{\overline{\mathbf{C}}_{45}}\frac{\overline{\mathbf{C}}_{45}}{\overline{\mathbf{C}}_{44}}\right] \left[\mathbf{S}_{5}\right] \mathrm{d}\xi_{3}$$
(87b)

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\Theta}_{\mathbf{k}}\right\} = \int_{-\frac{\mathbf{h}}{2}}^{\frac{\mathbf{h}}{2}} \left[\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{k}}\right]^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{11} \ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{12} \ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{16} \\ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{16} \ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{26} \ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{66} \\ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{16} \ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{26} \ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \begin{matrix} \overline{\alpha}_{11} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{22} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{12} \end{matrix} \right\} \boldsymbol{\Theta}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right) d\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$

$$(88)$$

Substituting equations (17) into equation (87) and using the shorthand notation  $z_1 = 1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}$ ,

 $z_2 = 1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}$ , and  $Z = z_1 + z_2 + \frac{1}{2}(z_2 - z_1)^2$  yields the following exact expressions

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{00} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} \overline{Q}_{11} & \overline{Q}_{12} & \frac{Z}{2Z_1} \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} & \frac{Z_1}{Z_2} \overline{Q}_{22} & \frac{Z}{2Z_2} \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \frac{Z}{2Z_1} \overline{Q}_{16} & \frac{Z}{2Z_2} \overline{Q}_{26} & \frac{Z^2}{4Z_1Z_2} \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3$$
(89a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{01} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{\mathbf{h}}{2}}^{-\frac{\mathbf{h}}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\mathbf{Z}_{2}}{\mathbf{Z}_{1}} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{11} & \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{12} & \frac{\mathbf{Z}_{1} + \mathbf{Z}_{2}}{2\mathbf{Z}_{1}} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{16} \\ \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{12} & \frac{\mathbf{Z}_{1}}{\mathbf{Z}_{2}} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{22} & \frac{\mathbf{Z}_{1} + \mathbf{Z}_{2}}{2\mathbf{Z}_{2}} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{26} \\ \frac{\mathbf{Z}}{2\mathbf{Z}_{1}} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{16} & \frac{\mathbf{Z}}{2\mathbf{Z}_{2}} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{26} & \frac{\mathbf{Z}_{1} + \mathbf{Z}_{2}}{4\mathbf{Z}_{1}\mathbf{Z}_{2}} \mathbf{Z} \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3} \mathbf{d} \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}$$
(89b)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{02} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} F_1(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{11} & \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} F_2(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{16} \\ F_1(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{12} & F_2(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \frac{Z}{2Z_1} F_1(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{16} & \frac{Z}{2Z_1} F_2(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3$$
(89c)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{03} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} F_{1}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{16} & F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{12} \\ \frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}}F_{1}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} & \frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}}F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{22} \\ \frac{Z}{2Z_{2}}F_{1}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{66} & \frac{Z}{2Z_{2}}F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} \end{bmatrix} d\xi_{3}$$
(89d)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{04} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_1 & -\left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{16}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{11}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{22}}{z_2 \rho_{22}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11}} \right) F_1 & -\left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} \right) F_2 \\ -\frac{L}{2} \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{66}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_1 & -\frac{Z}{2} \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{66}}{z_2 \rho_{22}} \right) F_2 \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3$$
(89e)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{11} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{e}_{2}^{\mathbf{h}} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{Z_{2}}{Z_{1}} \overline{Q}_{11} & \overline{Q}_{12} & \frac{Z_{1} + Z_{2}}{2Z_{1}} \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \\ \overline{Q}_{12} & \frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}} \overline{Q}_{22} & \frac{Z_{1} + Z_{2}}{2Z_{2}} \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \\ \frac{Z_{1} + Z_{2}}{2Z_{1}} \overline{Q}_{16} & \frac{Z_{1} + Z_{2}}{2Z_{2}} \overline{Q}_{26} & \frac{(Z_{1} + Z_{2})^{2}}{4Z_{1}Z_{2}} \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} (\xi_{3})^{2} d\xi_{3}$$
(89f)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{12} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} F_1(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{11} & \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} F_2(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{16} \\ F_1(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{12} & F_2(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \frac{Z_1 + Z_2}{2Z_1} F_1(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{16} & \frac{Z_1 + Z_2}{2Z_1} F_2(\xi_3) \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \xi_3 d\xi_3$$
(89g)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{13} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} F_{1}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{16} & F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{12} \\ \frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}}F_{1}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} & \frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}}F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{22} \\ \frac{Z_{1}+Z_{2}}{2Z_{2}}F_{1}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{66} & \frac{Z_{1}+Z_{2}}{2Z_{2}}F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} \end{bmatrix} \xi_{3}d\xi_{3}$$
(89h)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{14} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} \frac{\overline{Q}_{16}}{\rho_{11}} \right) F_1 & -\left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{16}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} \frac{\overline{Q}_{11}}{\rho_{11}} \right) F_2 \\ \left( \frac{Z_1}{Z_2} \frac{\overline{Q}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11}} \right) F_1 & -\left( \frac{Z_1}{Z_2} \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} \right) F_2 \\ \frac{Z_1 + Z_2}{2Z_1 Z_2} \left( \frac{Z_1}{\rho_{22}} \overline{Q}_{26} + \frac{Z_2}{\rho_{11}} \overline{Q}_{66} \right) F_1 & -\frac{Z_1 + Z_2}{2Z_1 Z_2} \left( \frac{Z_1}{\rho_{22}} \overline{Q}_{66} + \frac{Z_2}{\rho_{11}} \overline{Q}_{16} \right) F_2 \end{bmatrix} \xi_3 d\xi_3 \quad (89i)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} F_{1}^{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{11} & F_{1}(\xi_{3})F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{16} \\ F_{1}(\xi_{3})F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{16} & F_{2}^{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \frac{Z_{2}}{Z_{1}} d\xi_{3}$$
(89j)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{23} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} F_{1}^{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{16} & F_{1}(\xi_{3})F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{12} \\ F_{1}(\xi_{3})F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{66} & F_{2}^{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} \end{bmatrix} d\xi_{3}$$
(89k)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{24} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{Z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_1^2 & -\left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{16}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{Z_2 \overline{Q}_{11}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{Z_2 \overline{Q}_{66}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_1 F_2 & -\left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{66}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{Z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}} \right) F_2^2 \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3$$
(891)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{33} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} F_{1}^{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{66} & F_{1}(\xi_{3})F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} \\ F_{1}(\xi_{3})F_{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{26} & F_{2}^{2}(\xi_{3})\overline{Q}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}} d\xi_{3}$$
(89m)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{34} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{66}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{z_1}{z_2} \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{22}} \right) F_1^2 & -\left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{16}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{z_1}{z_2} \frac{\overline{Q}_{66}}{\rho_{22}} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{z_1}{z_2} \frac{\overline{Q}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} \right) F_1 F_2 & -\left( \frac{\overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{z_1}{z_2} \frac{\overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{22}} \right) F_2^2 \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3$$
(89n)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{+\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{66}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{2 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{22}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1^2 & - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{12} + \overline{Q}_{66}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{12} + \overline{Q}_{66}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{11}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{12}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{11}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1^2 \\ - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_2^2 \\ - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_2^2 \\ - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_2^2 \\ - \left( \frac{z_2 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{\rho_{11} \rho_{22}} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{26}}{z_2 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_1 F_2 \\ \left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{22}^2} \right) F_2^2 \\ \left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{12}^2} \right) F_1 \\ \left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{12}^2} \right) F_1 \\ \left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} + \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^2} \right) F_1 \\ \left( \frac{z_1 \overline{Q}_{16}}{z_1 \rho_{11}^$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{55} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{Z_2}{Z_1} \left( z_1 F_1' - \frac{F_1}{R_1} \right)^2 \overline{C}_{55} & \left( z_1 F_1' - \frac{F_1}{R_1} \right) \left( z_2 F_2' - \frac{F_2}{R_2} \right) \overline{C}_{45} \\ \left( \left( z_1 F_1' - \frac{F_1}{R_1} \right) \left( z_2 F_2' - \frac{F_2}{R_2} \right) \overline{C}_{45} & \frac{Z_1}{Z_2} \left( z_2 F_2' - \frac{F_2}{R_2} \right)^2 \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} d\xi_3$$
(89p)

and  $[\mathbf{C}_{ji}] = [\mathbf{C}_{ij}]^{T}$  for  $i, j \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}$ . Next, the thermal stress resultants  $\{\boldsymbol{\Theta}_{k}\}$  are obtained by first expressing the temperature-change field by

$$\Theta(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) = \widehat{\Theta}(\xi_1, \xi_2) G(\xi_3)$$
(90)

such that

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\Theta}_{\mathbf{k}}\right\} = \widehat{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}\right) \left\{\overline{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}_{\mathbf{k}}\right\}$$
(91)

with

$$\left\{\overline{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{k}\right\} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{n}{2}} \left[\mathbf{S}_{k}\right]^{T} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} \ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{2} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \ \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\alpha}_{11} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{22} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{12} \end{pmatrix} G(\xi_{3}) d\xi_{3} \qquad k \in \{0, 1, 2, 3, 4\}$$
(92)

Specific expressions for  $\{\overline{\Theta}_k\}$  are obtained by substituting equations (17) into equation (92).

The constitutive equations given by equations (86), (89), and (92) include the effects of transverse-shearing deformations in a very general manner. Specifically, the constitutive equations of a given transverse-shear-deformation theory depend on the choices for the functions  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$ , which are required to satisfy  $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = 0$  and  $F_1'(0) = F_2'(0) = 1$ . With these functions specified, expressions for the transverse shearing stresses are then obtained by substituting equations (4e) and (4f) into equation (85b) to obtain

$$\sigma_{13} = \frac{F_{1}'(\xi_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) - \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{R_{1}}}{1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}} \overline{C}_{55}\gamma_{13}^{\circ} + \frac{F_{2}'(\xi_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) - \frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{R_{2}}}{1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}} \overline{C}_{45}\gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(93a)

$$\sigma_{23} = \frac{F_{1}'(\xi_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) - \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{R_{1}}}{1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}} \overline{C}_{45}\gamma_{13}^{\circ} + \frac{F_{2}'(\xi_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) - \frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{R_{2}}}{1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}} \overline{C}_{44}\gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(93b)

In refined transverse-shear-deformation theories, it is desireable, but not always necessary, to specify  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  such that  $\sigma_{13} = \sigma_{23} = 0$  at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$ . For example, two similar choices for the pair  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  will yield different stress predictions yet their stiffnesses, obtained from equations (89), will yield nearly identical predictions of overall buckling and vibration responses. In contrast, for accurate stress analyses, one might expect  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  to account for the inhomogeneity found in a general laminated-composite wall construction. Examples of various choices for  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  that have been used in the analysis of plates and shells are found in references 193-195. Some examples are discussed subsequently.

Constitutive equations that correspond to a first-order transverse-shear-deformation theory are obtained by specifying

$$F_{1}(\xi_{3}) = F_{2}(\xi_{3}) = \xi_{3}$$
(94a)

For this fundamental, first-approximation case

$$\sigma_{13} = \frac{\overline{C}_{55}\gamma_{13}^{\circ}}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}} + \frac{\overline{C}_{45}\gamma_{23}^{\circ}}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}}$$
(94b)

$$\sigma_{23} = \frac{\overline{C}_{45} \gamma_{13}^{\circ}}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}} + \frac{\overline{C}_{44} \gamma_{23}^{\circ}}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}}$$
(94c)

Thus, the functions specified by equation (94a) lead to expressions for the transverse-shearing stresses that do not satisfy the traction-free boundary conditions  $\sigma_{13} = \sigma_{23} = 0$  at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$ . Moreover, these choices for the distibution of the transverse-shearing stresses and strains, given by equation (94a), do not reflect the inhomogenous through-the-thickness nature of laminated-composite and sandwich shells.

A more robust transverse-shear-deformation theory is obtained by specifying

$$F_{1}(\xi_{3}) = F_{2}(\xi_{3}) = \xi_{3} - \frac{4}{3h^{2}}(\xi_{3})^{3}$$
(95a)

Upon substituting these functions into equations (3) and neglecting the nonlinearities, it is seen that the displacements  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  are cubic functions of  $\xi_3$  and that  $U_3$  has no dependence on  $\xi_3$  at all. As a result of this character, a transverse-shear-deformation theory based on equation (95a) is referred to herein as a  $\{3, 0\}$  shear-deformation theory. For this case

$$\sigma_{13} = \frac{1 - \left[1 + \frac{2\xi_3}{3R_1}\right] \left(\frac{2\xi_3}{h}\right)^2}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}} \,\overline{C}_{55} \gamma_{13}^\circ + \frac{1 - \left[1 + \frac{2\xi_3}{3R_2}\right] \left(\frac{2\xi_3}{h}\right)^2}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}} \,\overline{C}_{45} \gamma_{23}^\circ \tag{95b}$$

$$\sigma_{23} = \frac{1 - \left[1 + \frac{2}{3}\frac{\xi_3}{R_1}\right] \left(\frac{2\xi_3}{h}\right)^2}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_1}} \overline{C}_{45}\gamma_{13}^\circ + \frac{1 - \left[1 + \frac{2}{3}\frac{\xi_3}{R_2}\right] \left(\frac{2\xi_3}{h}\right)^2}{1 + \frac{\xi_3}{R_2}} \overline{C}_{44}\gamma_{23}^\circ$$
(95c)

The functions specified by equation (95a) also lead to expressions for the transverse-shearing stresses that do not satisfy the traction-free boundary conditions  $\sigma_{13} = \sigma_{23} = 0$  at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$  unless  $h/R_1$  and  $h/R_2$  are negligible. If  $\ell/R$  denotes that maximum shell thickness divided by the minimum principal radius of curvature, then

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{13} \\ \sigma_{23} \end{pmatrix}_{\xi_{3}=\pm\frac{h}{2}} = -\frac{\pm\frac{4}{3\mathcal{R}}}{1\pm\frac{4}{2\mathcal{R}}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \ \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \ \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix}_{\xi_{3}=\pm\frac{h}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{13}^{\circ} \\ \gamma_{23}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix}$$
(96)

For moderately thick shells with  $\ell/\mathcal{R} = 0.1$ , the coefficient in equation (96) involving  $\ell/\mathcal{R}$  is equal to 0.035. This result suggests that the error in the traction-free boundary conditions may be within the error of the constitutive equations for the practical range of values  $\ell/\mathcal{R} \le 0.1$ . However, these choices for the distibution of the transverse-shearing stresses and strains, given by equation (95a), also do not reflect the inhomogenous nature of laminated-composite and sandwich shells.

Expressions for  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  that satisfy  $\sigma_{13} = \sigma_{23} = 0$  at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$  are obtained by assuming cubic polynomials for  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$ , with a total of eight unknown constants, and then enforcing  $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = 0$  and  $F_1'(0) = F_2'(0) = 1$  in addition to the four traction boundary conditions. This approach yields

$$F_{1}(\xi_{3}) = \xi_{3} \left[ \frac{1 + \left(\frac{2\xi_{3}}{h}\right) \left(\frac{h}{6R_{1}}\right) - \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{2\xi_{3}}{h}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{12} \left(\frac{h}{R_{1}}\right)^{2}}{1 - \frac{1}{12} \left(\frac{h}{R_{1}}\right)^{2}} \right]$$
(97a)

$$F_{2}(\xi_{3}) = \xi_{3} \left[ \frac{1 + \left(\frac{2\xi_{3}}{h}\right) \left(\frac{h}{6R_{2}}\right) - \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{2\xi_{3}}{h}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{12} \left(\frac{h}{R_{2}}\right)^{2}}{1 - \frac{1}{12} \left(\frac{h}{R_{2}}\right)^{2}} \right]$$
(97b)

However,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are generally functions of  $(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , which violates the requirement that  $F_1 = F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2 = F_2(\xi_3)$ . If the terms involving  $h/R_1$  and  $h/R_2$  are neglected, then equation (95a) is obtained. A simple choice for  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  that satisfies  $\sigma_{13} = \sigma_{23} = 0$  at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$  and avoids the presence of  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  is given by

$$F_{1}(\xi_{3}) = F_{2}(\xi_{3}) = \xi_{3} - \frac{8}{h^{2}}(\xi_{3})^{3} + \frac{16}{h^{4}}(\xi_{3})^{5}$$
(98)

These functions and their first derivatives vanish at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$ .

A highly refined transverse-shear-deformation theory for laminated-composite and sandwich shells is obtained by specifying  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  based on "zigzag" kinematics. This approach has been presented in reference 228 for laminated-composite and sandwich plates. This approach satisfies the traction-free boundary conditions  $\sigma_{13} = \sigma_{23} = 0$  at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$ , and yields functional forms for  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  that account through-the-thickness inhomogeneities. Moreover, for a general inhomogeneous shell wall,  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  are found to be different functions.

### Simplified Constitutive Equations for Elastic Shells

The exact forms of equations (87) and (88) are obtained by integrating equations (89) and

(92) exactly, once the through-the-thickness distribution of the elements of the constitutive matrix in equation (85) are known. Generally, this process leads to very complicated functional expressions for the stiffnesses defined by equations (89). However, for laminated-composite materials, the elements of the constitutive matrix in equation (85) are modeled as piecewise-constant functions and the integration of equations (87) and (88) poses no problems.

In the present study, the approximate nature of the constitutive equations is exploited to simplify the shell constitutive equations by expanding the functions of  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_1}$  and  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_2}$  appearing in equations (89) in power series and then neglecting terms that are third-order and higher in  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_1}$  and

 $\frac{\xi_3}{R_2}$ . In addition, it is noted that

$$\frac{z_{1}}{z_{2}} \approx 1 + \left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right) \left[\xi_{3} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}(\xi_{3})^{2}\right]$$
(99a)

$$\frac{Z_2}{Z_1} \approx 1 + \left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right) \left[\xi_3 - \frac{1}{R_1} (\xi_3)^2\right]$$
(99b)

$$\frac{Z}{2z_{1}} \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) \xi_{3} + \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{3}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}} \right) \left( \xi_{3} \right)^{2}$$
(99c)

$$\frac{Z}{2z_2} \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2} \right) \xi_3 + \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{1}{R_1^2} + \frac{3}{R_2^2} - \frac{4}{R_1 R_2} \right) \left( \xi_3 \right)^2$$
(99d)

$$\frac{Z^{2}}{4z_{1}z_{2}} \approx 1 + \frac{3}{4} \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)^{2} (\xi_{3})^{2}$$
(99e)

$$\frac{z_1 + z_2}{2z_1} \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \right) \left[ \xi_3 - \frac{1}{R_1} (\xi_3)^2 \right]$$
(99f)

$$\frac{z_1 + z_2}{2z_2} \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2} \right) \left[ \xi_3 - \frac{1}{R_2} (\xi_3)^2 \right]$$
(99g)

$$\frac{z_1 + z_2}{4z_1 z_2} Z \approx 1 + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \right)^2 (\xi_3)^2$$
(99h)

$$\frac{\left(z_{1}+z_{2}\right)^{2}}{4z_{1}z_{2}} \approx 1 + \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)^{2} \left(\xi_{3}\right)^{2}$$
(99i)

Following this process yields the following constitutive equations for a laminated-composite shell:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{00} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{16}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{11}^{1} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{16}^{1} \\ 0 & \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{22}^{1} & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{1} \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{16}^{1} & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{1} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{16}^{1} & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{1} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{16}^{1} & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{1} & 0 \\ + \tau \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{11}^{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{3}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}} \right) A_{16}^{2} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{R_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) \overline{Q}_{22} & \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{2} \\ \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{3}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}} \right) A_{16}^{2} & \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{2} & \frac{3}{4} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right)^{2} A_{66}^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{01} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{1} A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{1} A_{66}^{1} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{11}^{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{16}^{2} \\ 0 & \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{22}^{2} & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{16}^{2} & \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) A_{26}^{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+\tau \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right) A_{11}^{3} & 0 & \frac{1}{2R_{1}} \left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right) A_{16}^{3} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{R_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right) A_{22}^{3} & \frac{1}{2R_{2}} \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right) A_{26}^{3} \\ \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{3}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}}\right) A_{16}^{3} & \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{1}{R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3}{R_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{R_{1}R_{2}}\right) A_{26}^{3} & \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)^{2} A_{66}^{3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100b)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{02} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{20}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{20} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{21} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{21} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \tau \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{11}^{12} & \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{16}^{22} \\ + \tau \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{11}^{12} & \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{16}^{22} \\ \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{3}{\mathbf{R}_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{\mathbf{R}_{1}\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{16}^{12} \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{3}{\mathbf{R}_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{\mathbf{R}_{1}\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{66}^{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100c)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{03} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{12}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{20} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{11} & \mathbf{R}_{22}^{21} \\ \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{11} & \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \tau \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{11} & \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \\ \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{11} & \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ \tau \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{26}^{12} & \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{22}^{22} \\ \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3}{\mathbf{R}_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{\mathbf{R}_{1}\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{66}^{12} \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}^{2}} + \frac{3}{\mathbf{R}_{2}^{2}} - \frac{4}{\mathbf{R}_{1}\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \mathbf{R}_{26}^{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100d)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} \approx \frac{1}{2\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} 2R_{15}^{10} + 2\left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{15}^{11} - 2R_{12}^{20} + 2\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{12}^{21} \\ 2R_{15}^{10} - 2R_{15}^{20} - 2R_{12}^{20} \\ R_{15}^{10} + \left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{15}^{11} - R_{16}^{20} + \left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{15}^{21} \\ + \frac{1}{2\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} 2R_{22}^{10} + 2\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{25}^{11} - 2R_{26}^{20} + 2\left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{25}^{21} \\ R_{26}^{10} + 2\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{25}^{11} - 2R_{26}^{20} + 2\left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{25}^{21} \\ R_{26}^{10} + \left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{25}^{11} - R_{26}^{20} + \left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{25}^{21} \\ + \frac{\tau}{4\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{4}{R_1}\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{26}^{11} - R_{26}^{20} + \left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{25}^{21} \\ 0 & 0 \\ \left(\frac{3}{R_1^2} + \frac{1}{R_2^2} - \frac{4}{R_1R_2}\right)R_{26}^{11} - \left(\frac{3}{R_1^2} + \frac{1}{R_2^2} - \frac{4}{R_1R_2}\right)R_{25}^{21} \\ + \frac{\tau}{4\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \frac{4}{R_2}\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right)R_{25}^{12} & \frac{4}{R_1}\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2}\right)R_{26}^{21} \\ \left(\frac{1}{R_1^2} + \frac{3}{R_2^2} - \frac{4}{R_1R_2}\right)R_{26}^{11} - \left(\frac{1}{R_1^2} + \frac{3}{R_2^2} - \frac{4}{R_1R_2}\right)R_{26}^{21} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100e)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{11} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{2} A_{12}^{2} A_{16}^{2} \\ A_{12}^{2} A_{22}^{2} A_{26}^{2} \\ A_{16}^{2} A_{26}^{2} A_{66}^{2} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{3} - \frac{\tau A_{11}^{4}}{R_{1}} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \left( A_{16}^{3} - \frac{\tau A_{16}^{4}}{R_{1}} \right) \\ 0 & -A_{22}^{3} + \frac{\tau A_{22}^{4}}{R_{2}} & -\frac{1}{2} \left( A_{26}^{3} - \frac{\tau A_{26}^{4}}{R_{2}} \right) \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( A_{16}^{3} - \frac{\tau A_{16}^{4}}{R_{1}} \right) & -\frac{1}{2} \left( A_{26}^{3} - \frac{\tau A_{26}^{4}}{R_{2}} \right) & \frac{1}{4} \tau \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) A_{66}^{4} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100f)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{12} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{12} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{11}^{13}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} & \mathbf{R}_{16}^{22} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{16}^{23}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{12} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{16}^{13}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} & \mathbf{R}_{66}^{22} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{66}^{23}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100g)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{13} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{12}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{22}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{12} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{26}^{13}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} & \mathbf{R}_{22}^{22} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{22}^{23}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \\ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{12} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{66}^{13}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} & \mathbf{R}_{26}^{22} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{26}^{23}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100h)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{14} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} & -\mathbf{R}_{16}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{22}^{11} & -\mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{11} & -\mathbf{R}_{66}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{R}_{22}^{12} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{22}^{13}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} & -\mathbf{R}_{26}^{22} + \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{26}^{23}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbf{R}_{26}^{12} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{26}^{13}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbf{R}_{66}^{22} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{R}_{66}^{23}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(100i)

$$+\frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} R_{16}^{11} - R_{11}^{21} \\ R_{26}^{11} - R_{12}^{21} \\ R_{66}^{11} - R_{16}^{21} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \left( \frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \right) \begin{bmatrix} R_{16}^{12} - \frac{\tau R_{16}^{13}}{R_1} \\ 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( R_{66}^{12} - \frac{\tau R_{66}^{13}}{R_1} \right) & -\frac{1}{2} \left( R_{16}^{22} - \frac{\tau R_{11}^{23}}{R_1} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{11}^{110} \, \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{120} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{120} \, \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_2} - \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_1} \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{11}^{111} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{Q}_{11}^{112}}{\mathbf{R}_1} \, \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{121} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{122}}{\mathbf{R}_1} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{121} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{122}}{\mathbf{R}_1} \, \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{221} - \frac{\tau \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{222}}{\mathbf{R}_1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100j)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{23} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} Q_{16}^{110} & Q_{12}^{120} \\ Q_{66}^{120} & Q_{26}^{220} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100k)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{24} \end{bmatrix} \approx \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{12}^{110} & -\mathbf{Q}_{16}^{120} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{26}^{120} & -\mathbf{Q}_{66}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{110} & -\mathbf{Q}_{11}^{120} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{120} & -\mathbf{Q}_{16}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{110} & -\mathbf{Q}_{11}^{120} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{120} & -\mathbf{Q}_{16}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{111} & -\mathbf{Q}_{16}^{121} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{111} & -\mathbf{Q}_{16}^{121} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{121} & -\mathbf{Q}_{16}^{121} + \frac{\tau \mathbf{Q}_{11}^{122}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1001)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{33} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} Q_{66}^{110} Q_{26}^{120} \\ Q_{26}^{120} Q_{22}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \left( \frac{1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2} \right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{66}^{111} - \frac{\tau Q_{66}^{112}}{R_2} Q_{26}^{121} - \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{122}}{R_2} \\ Q_{26}^{121} - \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{122}}{R_2} Q_{22}^{221} - \frac{\tau Q_{22}^{222}}{R_2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100m)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{34} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{26}^{110} - Q_{66}^{120} \\ Q_{22}^{120} - Q_{26}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{66}^{110} - Q_{16}^{120} \\ Q_{26}^{120} - Q_{12}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{12}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{10}^{110} - Q_{12}^{120} \\ Q_{26}^{120} - Q_{12}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{26}^{111} - \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{112}}{R_2} - Q_{66}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{66}^{122}}{R_2} \\ Q_{22}^{121} - \frac{\tau Q_{22}^{221}}{R_2} - Q_{26}^{221} + \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{222}}{R_2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(100n)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\rho_{11}^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{66}^{110} - Q_{16}^{120} \\ -Q_{16}^{120} & Q_{11}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}^{2}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{66}^{111} - \frac{\tau Q_{66}^{112}}{R_{1}} - Q_{16}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{16}^{122}}{R_{1}} \\ -Q_{16}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{16}^{122}}{R_{1}} & Q_{11}^{221} - \frac{\tau Q_{21}^{222}}{R_{1}} \end{bmatrix} \\ + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{22}^{110} - Q_{26}^{120} \\ -Q_{26}^{120} & Q_{66}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}^{2}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{21}^{111} - \frac{\tau Q_{22}^{121}}{R_{2}} - Q_{26}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{122}}{R_{2}} \\ -Q_{26}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{122}}{R_{2}} & Q_{66}^{221} - \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{222}}{R_{2}} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}\rho_{22}} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{21}^{111} - \frac{\tau Q_{22}^{112}}{R_{2}} - Q_{26}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{122}}{R_{2}} \\ -Q_{26}^{121} + \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{122}}{R_{2}} & Q_{66}^{221} - \frac{\tau Q_{26}^{222}}{R_{2}} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}\rho_{22}} \left[ \frac{2Q_{26}^{110} - (Q_{12}^{120} + Q_{66}^{120})}{(Q_{12}^{12} + Q_{66}^{120})} \right] + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}\rho_{22}} \left[ \frac{2Q_{26}^{110} - (Q_{12}^{120} + Q_{66}^{120})}{(Q_{12}^{12} + Q_{66}^{120})} \right] \right]$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{55} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{110} Z_{45}^{120} \\ Z_{45}^{120} Z_{44}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{R_1} \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{111} - 2Y_{55}^{110} Z_{45}^{121} - Y_{45}^{210} \\ Z_{45}^{121} - Y_{45}^{210} Z_{44}^{221} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{R_2} \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{121} - Y_{45}^{120} - Y_{45}^{221} \\ Z_{45}^{121} - Y_{45}^{210} Z_{44}^{220} \end{bmatrix} \\ + \frac{\tau}{R_1 R_2} \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{112} - 2Y_{55}^{111} \\ Z_{45}^{122} - Y_{45}^{211} - Y_{45}^{211} + Z_{45}^{120} \\ Z_{45}^{122} - Y_{45}^{211} - Y_{45}^{211} + Z_{45}^{120} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{\tau}{R_1^2} \begin{bmatrix} X_{55}^{110} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(100p)
$$+ \frac{\tau}{R_2^2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & X_{45}^{220} \end{bmatrix} + \tau \left(\frac{1}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1}\right) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{R_1^2} \left(X_{55}^{111} - \frac{X_{55}^{112}}{R_1}\right) & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{R_2^2} \left(-X_{44}^{221} + \frac{X_{44}^{222}}{R_2}\right) \end{bmatrix}$$

where

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k} & A_{12}^{k} & A_{16}^{k} \\ A_{12}^{k} & A_{22}^{k} & A_{26}^{k} \\ A_{16}^{k} & A_{26}^{k} & A_{66}^{k} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} & \overline{Q}_{12} & \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} & \overline{Q}_{22} & \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} & \overline{Q}_{26} & \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} (\xi_{3})^{k} d\xi_{3}$$
(101)

$$\begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{jk} R_{12}^{jk} R_{16}^{jk} \\ R_{12}^{jk} R_{22}^{jk} R_{26}^{jk} \\ R_{16}^{jk} R_{26}^{jk} R_{66}^{jk} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} \overline{Q}_{12} \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} \overline{Q}_{22} \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} \overline{Q}_{26} \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} F_{j}(\xi_{3})(\xi_{3})^{k} d\xi_{3}$$
(102)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Q_{11}^{ijk} & Q_{12}^{ijk} & Q_{16}^{ijk} \\ Q_{12}^{ijk} & Q_{22}^{ijk} & Q_{26}^{ijk} \\ Q_{16}^{ijk} & Q_{26}^{ijk} & Q_{66}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} \equiv \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} & \overline{Q}_{12} & \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} & \overline{Q}_{22} & \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} & \overline{Q}_{26} & \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} F_{i}(\xi_{3})F_{j}(\xi_{3})(\xi_{3})^{k}d\xi_{3}$$
(103)

$$\begin{bmatrix} X_{55}^{ijk} X_{45}^{ijk} \\ X_{45}^{ijk} X_{44}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} F_i(\xi_3) F_j(\xi_3) (\xi_3)^k d\xi_3$$
(104)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Y_{55}^{ijk} Y_{45}^{ijk} \\ Y_{45}^{ijk} Y_{44}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} F_{i}'(\xi_{3}) F_{j}(\xi_{3}) (\xi_{3})^{k} d\xi_{3}$$
(105)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{ijk} Z_{45}^{ijk} \\ Z_{45}^{ijk} Z_{44}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} F_{i}'(\xi_{3})F_{j}'(\xi_{3})(\xi_{3})^{k}d\xi_{3}$$
(106)

In these equations,  $\tau = 1$  gives the constitutive equations that are second order in  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_1}$  and  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_2}$ 

that are generalizations of those put forth by Flügge<sup>171</sup> for isotropic shells. Setting  $\tau = 0$  gives constitutive equations that are first order. It is also important to note that the matrices obtained from equation (101) for k = 0, 1, and 2 correspond to the [A], [B], and [D] matrices, respectively, of classical laminated-plate theory (see reference 226). Similarly, the thermal parts of the constitutive equations are given by

$$\left\{\overline{\Theta}_{0}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{0} \\ h_{22}^{0} \\ h_{12}^{0} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{h_{22}^{1}}{R_{2}} \\ \frac{h_{22}^{1}}{R_{1}} \\ \frac{h_{12}^{1}}{2(R_{1} + R_{2})} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{\tau}{4} \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)^{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ h_{12}^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(107a)

$$\left\{ \overline{\Theta}_{1} \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} h_{11}^{1} \\ h_{22}^{1} \\ h_{12}^{1} \end{array} \right\} + \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \frac{h_{11}^{2}}{R_{2}} \\ \frac{h_{22}^{2}}{R_{1}} \\ \frac{h_{22}^{2}}{R_{1}} \\ \frac{h_{22}^{2}}{R_{1}} \end{array} \right\}$$
(107b)

$$\left\{\overline{\Theta}_{2}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{10} \\ g_{22}^{20} \\ g_{12}^{20} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{11} \\ g_{11}^{11} \\ g_{12}^{11} \end{pmatrix}$$
(107c)

$$\left\{\overline{\Theta}_{3}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{c} g_{12}^{10} \\ g_{22}^{20} \\ g_{22}^{20} \end{array}\right\} + \frac{1}{R_{1}} \left\{\begin{array}{c} g_{12}^{11} \\ g_{22}^{21} \\ g_{22}^{21} \end{array}\right\}$$
(107d)

$$\left\{\overline{\Theta}_{4}\right\} = \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} g_{22}^{10} + \frac{g_{22}^{11}}{R_{1}} \\ -g_{12}^{20} - \frac{g_{12}^{21}}{R_{1}} \end{array} \right\} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} g_{12}^{10} + \frac{g_{12}^{11}}{R_{2}} \\ -g_{11}^{20} - \frac{g_{11}^{21}}{R_{2}} \end{array} \right\}$$
(107e)

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{k} \\ h_{22}^{k} \\ h_{12}^{k} \end{pmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{-\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} \ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \ \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\alpha}_{11} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{22} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{12} \end{pmatrix} (\xi_{3})^{k} G(\xi_{3}) d\xi_{3}$$
(108)

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{jk} \\ g_{22}^{jk} \\ g_{12}^{jk} \end{pmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} \ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{2} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \ \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\alpha}_{11} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{22} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{12} \end{pmatrix} F_{j}(\xi_{3})(\xi_{3})^{k} G(\xi_{3}) d\xi_{3}$$
(109)

By examining equations (94a) and (95a), it is seen that the maximum magnitudes of  $\frac{F_i(\xi_3)}{h}$  and  $\frac{F_2(\xi_3)}{h}$  are typically greater than zero and less than unity. Using this information, the constitutive equations given by equations (93) are simplified, using binomial expansions of the denomenators, to obtain

$$\sigma_{13} \approx \left[ F_{1}'(\xi_{3}) - \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{R_{1}} \left( 1 - \tau \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} \right) \right] \overline{C}_{55} \gamma_{13}^{\circ} + \left[ F_{2}'(\xi_{3}) - \frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{R_{2}} \left( 1 - \tau \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} \right) \right] \overline{C}_{45} \gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(110a)

$$\sigma_{23} \approx \left[ F_{1}'(\xi_{3}) - \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{R_{1}} \left( 1 - \tau \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} \right) \right] \overline{C}_{45} \gamma_{13}^{\circ} + \left[ F_{2}'(\xi_{3}) - \frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{R_{2}} \left( 1 - \tau \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} \right) \right] \overline{C}_{44} \gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(110b)

#### **Special Cases of the Constitutive Equations**

In the original shell theories of Sanders, Budiansky, and Koiter; the constitutive equations used are the simplified, first-approximation constitutive equations of classical Love-Kirchhoff linear shell theory. Their constitutive equations follow from neglecting  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_1}$  and  $\frac{\xi_3}{R_2}$  in expressions for the effective stress resultants given by equations (20) when they are used with

equations (85) to determine the constitutive equations. A similar set of constitutive equations are obtained from equations (106) by neglecting all terms involving principal radii of curvature  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ . In addition, terms involving the radii of geodesic curvature  $\rho_{11}$  and  $\rho_{22}$  are neglected. These terms originally entered the constitutive equations through the matrix  $[S_4]$  in equations (87). To see the rationale for neglecting these terms, this matrix is expressed as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{4} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{h} \left(\frac{h}{\rho_{22}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) & 0\\ \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{h} \left(\frac{h}{\rho_{22}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) & 0\\ \frac{F_{1}(\xi_{3})}{h} \left(\frac{h}{\rho_{11}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) & -\frac{F_{2}(\xi_{3})}{h} \left(\frac{h}{\rho_{22}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(111)

Next, the fact that the maximum magnitudes of  $\frac{F_1(\xi_3)}{h}$  and  $\frac{F_2(\xi_3)}{h}$  are typically greater than zero and less than unity is used again. In addition, the radii of geodesic curvature measure the bending of the coordinate curves within the tangent plane at a given point of the reference surface.

Typically,  $\rho_{11}$  and  $\rho_{22}$  are substantially larger than the shell thickness h and, as a result,  $\frac{h}{\rho_{11}}$  and

 $\frac{h}{\rho_{22}}$  have very small relative magnitudes. Therefore, it follows that constitutive matrices based on [S<sub>4</sub>] can be neglected based on the inherent error in the constitutive equations. Based on the same reasoning, equations (110) are approximated as

$$\sigma_{13} \approx F_1'(\xi_3) \overline{C}_{55} \gamma_{13}^{\circ} + F_2'(\xi_3) \overline{C}_{45} \gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(112a)

$$\sigma_{23} \approx F_1'(\xi_3)\overline{C}_{45}\gamma_{13}^{\circ} + F_2'(\xi_3)\overline{C}_{44}\gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(112b)

A detailed derivation of these equations is presented in Appendix B. Additionally, constitutive equations are presented in Appendix B for transverse-shear deformation theories that include a first-order theory, a  $\{3, 0\}$  theory, and a zigzag theory.

# **Effects of "Small" Initial Geometric Imperfections**

The effects of "small" initial geometric imperfections are obtained in the present study by following the approach presented in reference 221. With regard to the strain fields, the effects of "small" initial geometric imperfections appear only in the nonlinear membrane strains given by equations (5). These effects are obtained by replacing the normal displacement  $u_3(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  with  $u_3(\xi_1, \xi_2) + w^i(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , where  $w^i(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  is a known, measured or assumed, distribution of reference-surface deviations along a vector normal to the reference surface at a given point. Then, all terms
involving  $w^i(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  appearing in a given membrane strain, that correspond to an unloaded state, are subtracted from that given strain. Applying this process to equation (51) yields

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2}(\varphi_{1}^{2} + c_{2}\varphi^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}c_{1}\left[\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ}\right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ}\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ} + 2\varphi\right)\right] + c_{1}\boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ}\frac{\boldsymbol{w}^{i}}{\boldsymbol{R}_{1}} - \varphi_{1}\frac{1}{\boldsymbol{A}_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{w}^{i}}{\partial\xi_{1}}$$
(113a)

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \boldsymbol{e}_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2}(\varphi_{2}^{2} + c_{2}\varphi^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}c_{1}\left[\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{22}^{\circ}\right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ}\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ} - 2\varphi\right)\right] + c_{1}\boldsymbol{e}_{22}^{\circ}\frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \varphi_{2}\frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}}$$
(113b)

$$\gamma_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = 2e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi_{1}\varphi_{2} + c_{1}\left[e_{11}^{\circ}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) + e_{22}^{\circ}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi)\right] + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{1}}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{2}}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) - \varphi_{1}\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \varphi_{2}\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}}$$
(113c)

By using equations (23), it follows that

$$\delta \left[ c_1 e_{11}^{\circ} \frac{w^i}{R_1} - \varphi_1 \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_1} \right] = c_1 \frac{w^i}{R_1} \left[ \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_1}{\partial \xi_1} - \frac{\delta u_2}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\delta u_3}{R_1} \right] - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_1} \left[ \frac{c_3 \delta u_1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_1} \right]$$
(114a)

$$\delta \left[ c_1 e_{22}^{\circ} \frac{w^i}{R_2} - \varphi_2 \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_2} \right] = c_1 \frac{w^i}{R_2} \left[ \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_2}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\delta u_1}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{\delta u_3}{R_2} \right] - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_2} \left[ \frac{c_3 \delta u_2}{R_2} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \delta u_3}{\partial \xi_2} \right]$$
(114b)

$$\delta \left[ \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{1}} (e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi) + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{2}} (e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) - \varphi_{1} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \varphi_{2} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right] \\ = \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{2R_{1}} \left[ (1 + c_{3}) \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \frac{\delta u_{2}}{\rho_{22}} \right) + (1 - c_{3}) \left( \frac{\partial \delta u_{2}}{A_{1}} + \frac{\delta u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \right) \right] \\ + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{2R_{2}} \left[ (1 + c_{3}) \left( \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{\delta u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \right) + (1 - c_{3}) \left( \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \frac{\delta u_{2}}{\rho_{22}} \right) \right] \\ - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \frac{c_{3}\delta u_{1}}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right] - \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \frac{c_{3}\delta u_{2}}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \delta u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right]$$
(114c)

Equation (26) is then expressed as

$$\left\{\delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\circ}\right\} = \left[\mathbf{d}_{0} + \mathbf{d}_{0}^{i}\right]\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\} + \left[\mathbf{d}_{1} + \mathbf{d}_{1}^{i}\right]\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{1}}\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\} + \left[\mathbf{d}_{2} + \mathbf{d}_{2}^{i}\right]\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{2}}\left\{\delta\mathbf{u}\right\}$$
(115)

where  $[\mathbf{d}_0]$ ,  $[\mathbf{d}_1]$ , and  $[\mathbf{d}_2]$  are given by equations (55) and where

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{0}}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \frac{c_{3}}{R_{1}} & -\frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{11}} & \frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} \frac{c_{1}}{R_{1}} \\ \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{22}} & -\frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} & \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \frac{c_{1}}{R_{2}} \\ \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{c_{3}}{R_{1}} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} & -\frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(116)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{1}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{c}_{1} \frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} & 0 & \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1} \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} & \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(117)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{2}} & \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \\ \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{1}} & 0 & \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(118)

From these equations, it follows that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{0}^{i} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{1}^{i} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{d}_{2}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = \\ \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{R_{1}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{c_{3}}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + c_{1} \frac{w^{i}}{\rho_{22}} \end{pmatrix} & -\frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{11}} & \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{1}^{2}} - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \\ \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{22}} & \frac{1}{R_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{c_{3}}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \end{pmatrix} & \frac{1}{\rho_{11}A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{2}^{2}} \\ \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{\rho_{11}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{c_{3}}{R_{1}} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} & -\frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{\rho_{22}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} & \frac{1}{\rho_{11}A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(119)

As a result of the "small" initial geometric imperfections, three additional terms appear in the counterpart of equation (46a); these terms are

$$\left\langle \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\rangle^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \left[ \mathbf{d}_{0}^{\mathrm{i}} \right] - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1}^{\mathrm{i}} \right] + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2}^{\mathrm{i}} \right] \right] - \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{1}^{\mathrm{i}} \right] \right] - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left( \left\{ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}} \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{2}^{\mathrm{i}} \right] \right)$$
(120)

Including these additional terms in equations (46) and (50) yields the equilibrium equations

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{11}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \frac{2\mathcal{H}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{c_{3}\overline{Q}_{13}}{R_{1}} + \frac{c_{3}}{2A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}}\left[\mathcal{H}_{12}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{P}_{1} + q_{1} + \mathcal{P}_{1}^{i} + q_{1}^{i} = 0$$
(121a)

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{2\mathcal{H}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{c_{3}\overline{Q}_{23}}{R_{2}} + \frac{c_{3}\overline{Q}_{23}}{2A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{1}}\left[\mathcal{H}_{12}\left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{P}_{2} + q_{2} + \mathcal{P}_{2}^{i} + q_{2}^{i} = 0$$
(121b)

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \overline{Q}_{13}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \overline{Q}_{23}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\overline{Q}_{13}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{\overline{Q}_{23}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11}}{R_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{H}_{22}}{R_{2}} + \mathcal{P}_{3} + q_{3} + \mathcal{P}_{3}^{i} + q_{3}^{i} = 0$$
(121c)

where

$$\mathcal{P}_{1}^{i} = \frac{\mathbf{c}_{3}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1} \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{\rho}_{22}} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{H}_{22}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right] - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1} \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{\rho}_{11}} \mathcal{H}_{12} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} + \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right)$$
(122a)

$$\mathcal{P}_{2}^{i} = \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] + \frac{c_{1}}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \right] + \frac{c_{1}}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \right] + \frac{c_{1} w^{i}}{\rho_{11}} \left( \frac{\mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{11}}{R_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{22}}{R_{2}} \right) + \frac{c_{1} w^{i}}{\rho_{22}} \mathcal{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right)$$
(122b)

$$\mathcal{P}_{3}^{i} = \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] \\ + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] - \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] - c_{1} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{H}_{22}}{R_{2}} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11}}{R_{1}} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} \right]$$
(122c)

and where

$$\begin{cases}
\begin{pmatrix}
q_{1}^{i} \\
q_{2}^{2} \\
q_{3}^{i}
\end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases}
-q_{3}^{L} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \\
-q_{3}^{L} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \\
q_{3}^{L} \left(\frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} + \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}}\right) + \frac{\partial q_{3}^{L}}{\partial \xi_{3}} w^{i}
\end{cases}$$
(122d)

The terms in equation (122d) arise from the live pressure load.

Additional terms associated with the initial geometric imperfections also appear in the boundary conditions given by equations (72) and (81). In particular,  $\{\boldsymbol{\varkappa}\}^{T}[\mathbf{d}_{1}]$  in equation (72a) is replaced with  $\{\boldsymbol{\varkappa}\}^{T}[\mathbf{d}_{1} + \mathbf{d}_{1}^{i}]$ , and  $\{\boldsymbol{\varkappa}\}^{T}[\mathbf{d}_{2}]$  in equation (81a) is replaced with  $\{\boldsymbol{\varkappa}\}^{T}[\mathbf{d}_{2} + \mathbf{d}_{2}^{i}]$ . As a result, equations (73a)-(73c) become

$$\mathcal{H}_{11}\left[1 + c_1\left(e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_1}\right)\right] + \mathcal{H}_{12}c_1\left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi\right) + \mathcal{H}_{11}\frac{c_3}{R_1} = N_1(\xi_2) + M_1(\xi_2)\frac{c_3}{R_1} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_1 = 0 \quad (123a)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{12} + \frac{c_2}{2} \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi + \frac{c_1}{2} \Bigg[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \Big( 2e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \Big) - \mathcal{H}_{22} \varphi + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \Bigg( e_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_2} \Bigg) \Bigg] \\ + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{c_3}{2} \Bigg( \frac{3}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \Bigg) = S_1(\xi_2) + \frac{M_{12}(\xi_2)}{R_2} \end{aligned} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_2 = 0 \quad (123b)$$

$$\overline{Q}_{13} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_2} - \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \left( \varphi_1 - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_1} \right) + \mathcal{H}_{12} \left( \varphi_2 - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_2} \right) \right] = Q_1(\xi_2) + \frac{dM_{12}(\xi_2)}{d\xi_2} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_3 = 0 \quad (123c)$$

Likewise, equations (82a)-(82c) become

$$\mathcal{H}_{12} - \frac{c_2}{2} \left( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \right) \varphi + \frac{c_1}{2} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \varphi + \mathcal{H}_{22} \left( 2e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \right) + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \left( e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_1} \right) \right] + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{c_3}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2} \right) = S_2(\xi_1) + \frac{M_{21}(\xi_1)}{R_1}$$
 or  $\delta u_1 = 0$  (124a)

$$\mathcal{H}_{22}\left[1 + c_1\left(e_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_2}\right)\right] + \mathcal{H}_{12}c_1\left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi\right) + \mathcal{H}_{22}\frac{c_3}{R_2} = N_2(\xi_1) + M_2(\xi_1)\frac{c_3}{R_2} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_2 = 0 \quad (124b)$$

$$\overline{Q}_{23} + \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} - \left[ \mathcal{R}_{12} \left( \varphi_1 - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_1} \right) + \mathcal{R}_{22} \left( \varphi_2 - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_2} \right) \right] = Q_2(\xi_1) + \frac{dM_{21}(\xi_1)}{d\xi_1} \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_3 = 0 \quad (124c)$$

In addition, the alternate boundary conditions given by equation (83a) becomes

$$\mathcal{H}_{11}\left[1 + c_1\left(e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_1}\right)\right] + \mathcal{H}_{12}c_1\left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi\right) = N_1(\xi_2) \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_1 = 0$$
(125)

and that given by equation (84a) becomes

$$\mathcal{H}_{22}\left[1 + c_1\left(e_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_2}\right)\right] + \mathcal{H}_{12}c_1\left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi\right) = N_2(\xi_1) \quad \text{or} \quad \delta u_2 = 0$$
(126)

Expressions for the displacements  $U_1$ ,  $U_2$ , and  $U_3$  are obtained by replacing  $u_3(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  with  $u_3(\xi_1, \xi_2) + w^i(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  in equations (52) and (3), and then eliminating terms involving  $w^i(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  in equation (3) that are left over when  $u_1$ ,  $u_2$ , and  $u_3$  are set equal to zero. This process gives

$$U_{1}(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}, \xi_{3}) = u_{1} + \xi_{3} \left[ \varphi_{1} - \varphi \left( \varphi_{2} - \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right) \right] + F_{1}(\xi_{3}) \gamma_{13}^{\circ}$$
(127)

$$U_{2}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{2} + \xi_{3}\left[\phi_{2} + \phi\left(\phi_{1} - \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial\xi_{1}}\right)\right] + F_{2}(\xi_{3})\gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(128)

$$U_{3}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{3} + w^{i} - \xi_{3} \left[ \frac{1}{2} (\varphi_{1}^{2} + \varphi_{2}^{2}) + \varphi_{1} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \varphi_{2} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right]$$
(129)

A complete resumé of these fundamental equations is given in Appendix C.

## **Concluding Remarks**

A detailed exposition on a refined nonlinear shell theory that is suitable for nonlinear limitpoint buckling analyses of practical laminated-composite aerospace structures has been presented. This shell theory includes the classical nonlinear shell theory attributed to Leonard, Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky as an explicit proper subset that is obtained directly by neglecting all quantities associated with higher-order effects such as transverse-shearing deformation. This approach has been used in order to leverage the exisiting experience base and to make the theory attractive to industry. The formalism of general tensors has been avoided in order to expose the details needed to fully understand and use the theory in a process leading ultimately to vehicle certification.

The shell theory presented is constructed around a set of strain-displacement relations that are based on "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. No shell-thinness approximations involving the ratio of the maximum thickness to the minimum radius of curvature were used and, as a result, the strain-displacement relations are exact within the presumptions of "small" strains and "moderate" rotations. To faciliate physical insight, these strain-displacement relations have been presented in terms of the linear reference-surface strains, rotations, and changes in curvature and twist that appear in the classical "best" first-approximation linear shell theory attributed to Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky. The effects of transverse-shearing deformations are included in the strain-displacement relations and kinematic equations, in a very general manner, by using analyst-defined functions to describe the through-the-thickness distributions of transverseshearing strains. This approach yields a wide range of flexibility to the analyst when confronted with new structural configurations and the need to analyze both global and local response phenomena, and it enables a consistent building-block approach to analysis. The threedimensional elasticity form of the internal virtual work has been used to obtain the symmetrical effective stress resulants that appear in classical nonlinear shell theory attributed to Leonard, Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky. The principle of virtual work, including "live" pressure effects, and the surface divergence theorem were used to obtain the nonlinear equilibrium equations and boundary conditions.

A general set of thermoelastic constitutive equations for laminated-composite shells have been derived without using any shell-thinness approximations. Acknowledging the approximate nature of constitutive equations, simplified forms and special cases that may be useful in practice have also been discussed. These special cases span a hierarchy of accuracy that ranges from that of first-order transverse-shear deformation theory, to that of a shear-deformation theory with parabolic through-the-thickness distributions for the transverse-shearing stresses, and to that which includes the use of layerwise zigzag kinematics without introducing additional unknown response functions into the formulation of the boundary-value problem. In addition, the effects of shell-thinness approximations on the constitutive equations have been presented. It is noteworthy that none of the shell-thinness approximations appear outside of the constitutive equations. Furthermore, the effects of "small" initial geometric imperfections have been introduced in a relatively simple manner to obtain a nonlinear shell theory suitable for studying the nonlinear limit-point response. The equations of this theory include tracers that are useful in assessing many approximations that appear in the literature. For convenience, a resumé of the fundamental equations of the theory are given in an appendix. Overall, a hierarchy of nonlinear shell theories have been presented in a detailed and unified manner that is amenable to the prediction of global and local responses and to the development of generic design technology.

## References

- 1. Love, A. E. H.: The Small Free Vibrations and Deformation of a Thin Elastic Shell. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, A*, vol. 179, 1888, pp. 491-546.
- 2. Love, A. E. H.: *A Treatise on the Mathematical Theory of Elasticity*. 4th ed., Dover, New York, 1944.
- 3. Reissner, E.: A New Derivation of the Equations for the Deformation of Elastic Shells. *American Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 63, 1941, pp. 177-184.
- 4. Sanders, J. L., Jr.: *An Improved First-Approximation Theory for Thin Shells*. NASA Technical Report R-24, 1959.
- Budiansky, B. and Sanders, J. L., Jr.: On the "Best" First-Order Linear Shell Theory. *Progress in Applied Mechanics: The Prager Anniversary Volume*, J. M. Alexander, S. Breuer, B. Budiansky, H. Demir, and D. C. Drucker, eds., The Macmillan Co., New York, 1963, pp. 129-140.
- Koiter, W. T.: A Consistent First Approximation in the General Theory of Thin Elastic Shells. *Proceedings of the IUTAM Symposium on the Theory of Thin Elastic Shells*, North Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1960, pp. 12-33.
- 7. Leonard, R. W.: Nonlinear First Approximation Thin Shell and Membrane Theory. Ph. D. Dissertation, Virginia Polytechnic Institute, Blacksburg, Virginia, 1961.
- 8. Sanders, J. L., Jr.: Nonlinear Theories for Thin Shells. *Quarterly Journal of Applied Mathematics*, vol. 21, no. 1, 1963, pp. 21-36.
- 9. Koiter, W. T.: On the Nonlinear Theory of Thin Elastic Shells. *Proceedings of the Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen*, Series B, vol. 69, 1966, pp. 1-54.
- 10. Koiter, W. T.: General Equations of Elastic Stability for Thin Shells. *Proceedings-Symposium* on the Theory of Shells, University of Houston, 1967, pp. 187-227.
- Budiansky, B.: Notes on Nonlinear Shell Theory. *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, vol. 35, no. 2, 1968, pp. 393-401.
- 12. Ambartsumian, S. A.: Contributions to the Theory of Anisotropic Layered Shells. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 15, no. 4, 1962, pp. 245-249.

- 13. Bert, C. W.: A Critical Evaluation of New Theories Applied to Laminated Composites. *Composite Structures*, vol. 2, 1984, pp. 329-347.
- 14. Reissner, E.: Reflections on the Theory of Elastic Plates. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 38, no. 11, 1985, pp. 1453-1464.
- Librescu, L. and Reddy, J. N.: A Critical Evaluation and Generalization of the Theory of Anisotropic Laminated Composite Panels. *Proceedings of the American Society for Composites, First Technical Conference*, Dayton, Ohio, October 7-9, 1986, pp. 472-489.
- Sathyamoorthy, M.: Effects of Transverse Shear and Rotatory Inertia on Large Amplitude Vibration of Composite Plates and Shells. *Composite Materials and Structures*, K. A. V. Pandalai, ed., Indian Academy of Sciences, 1988, pp. 95-105.
- 17. Kapania, R. K. and Raciti, S.: Recent Advances in Analysis of Laminated Beams and Plates, Part I: Shear Effects and Buckling. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 27, no. 7, 1989, pp. 923-934.
- 18. Kapania, R. K. and Raciti, S.: Recent Advances in Analysis of Laminated Beams and Plates, Part II: Vibrations and Wave Propagation. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 27, no. 7, 1989, pp. 935-946.
- 19. Kapania, R. K.: A Review on the Analysis of Laminated Shells. *Journal of Pressure Vessel Technology*, vol. 111, 1989, pp. 88-96.
- Librescu, L. and Reddy, J. N.: A Few Remarks Concerning Several Refined Theories of Anisotropic Composite Laminated Plates. *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 27, no. 5, 1989, pp. 515-527.
- 21. Noor, A. K. and Burton, W. S.: Assessment of Shear Deformation Theories for Multilayered Composite Plates. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 42, no. 1, 1989, pp. 1-13.
- 22. Noor, A. K. and Burton, W. S.:Analysis of Multilayered Anisotropic Plates-A New Look at an Old Problem. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC 30th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 1989, AIAA paper no. 89-1294.
- 23. Reddy, J. N.: On Refined Computational Models of Composite Laminates. *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, vol. 27, 1989, pp. 361-382.
- Reddy, J. N.: Two-Dimensional Theories of Plates. *Lecture Notes in Engineering*, C. A. Brebbia and Orszag, S. A., eds., vol. 37, *Finite Element Analysis for Engineering Design*, 1989, pp. 249-273.
- 25. Yu, Y.-Y.: Dynamics and Vibration of Layered Plates and Shells-A Perspective from Sandwiches to Laminated Composites. *First USSR-US Symposium on Mechanics of Composite Materials*, Riga, Latvian SSR, May 23-26, 1989, pp. 231-240.

- 26. Jemielita, G.: On Kinematical Assumptions of Refined Theories of Plates: A Survey. *Journal* of Applied Mechanics, vol. 57, 1990, pp. 1088-1091.
- 27. Noor, A. K. and Burton, W. S.: Assessment of Computational Models for Multilayered Composite Shells. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 43, no. 4, 1990, pp. 67-97.
- 28. Noor, A. K. and Burton, W. S.: Assessment of Computational Models for Multilayered Composite Plates. *Composite Structures*, vol. 14, 1990, pp. 233-265.
- 29. Reddy, J. N.: On Refined Theories of Composite Laminates. *MECCANICA*, vol. 25, 1990, pp. 230-238.
- 30. Reddy, J. N.: A Review of Refined Theories of Laminated Composite Plates. *The Shock and Vibration Digest*, vol. 22, no. 7, 1990, pp. 3-17.
- Nemish, Yu. N. and Khoma, I. Yu.: Stress-Deformation State of Thick Shells and Plates-Three Dimensional Theory (Review). *Prikladnaya Mekhanika*, vol. 27, no. 11, 1991, pp. 3-27.
- 32. Noor, A. K. and Burton, W. S.: Computational Models for High-Temperature Multilayered Composite Plates and Shells. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 45, no. 10, 1992, pp. 419-445.
- 33. Noor, A. K.: Mechanics of Anisotropic Plates and Shells-A New Look at an Old Subject. *Computers & Structures*, vol. 44, no. 3, 1992, pp. 499-514.
- 34. Mallikarjuna and Kant, T.: A Critical Review and Some Results of Recently Developed Refined Theories of Fiber-Reinforced Laminated Composites and Sandwiches. *Composite Structures*, vol. 23, 1993, pp. 293-312.
- 35. Reddy, J. N.: An Evaluation of Equivalent-Single-Layer and Layerwise Theories of Composite Laminates. *Composite Structures*, vol. 25, 1993, pp. 21-35.
- Noor, A. K.; Burton, W. S.; and Peters, J. M.: Hierarchical Adaptive Modeling of Structural Sandwiches and Multilayered Composite Panels. *Applied Numerical Mathematics*, vol. 14, 1994, pp. 69-90.
- 37. Reddy, J. N. and Robbins, D. H., Jr.: Theories and Computational Models for Composite Laminates. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 47, no. 6, part 1, 1994, pp. 147-169.
- Noor, A. K.; Burton, W. S.; and Peters, J. M.: Hierarchical Adaptive Modeling of Structural Sandwiches and Multilayered Composite Panels. *Engineering Fracture Mechanics*, vol. 50, no. 5-6, 1995, pp. 801-817.
- 39. Liu, D. and Li, X.: An Overall View of Laminate Theories Based on Displacement Hypothesis. *Journal of Composite Materials*, vol. 30, no. 14, 1996, pp. 1539-1561.

- 40. Noor, A. K.; Burton, W. S.; and Bert, C. W.: Computational Models for Sandwich Panels and Shells. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 49, no. 3, 1996, pp. 155-199.
- 41. Simitses, G.: Buckling of Moderately Thick Laminated Cylindrical Shells: A Review. *Composites Part B*, vol. 27B, 1996, pp. 581-587.
- 42. Leissa, A. W. and Chang, J.-D.: Elastic Deformation of Thick, Laminated Composite Shells. *Composite Structures*, vol. 35, 1996, pp. 153-170.
- 43. Carrera, E.: C<sub>z</sub><sup>0</sup> Requirements-Models for the Two Dimensional Analysis of Multilayered Structures. *Composite Structures*, vol. 37, no. 3/4, 1997, pp. 373-383.
- 44. Altenbach, H.: Theories for Laminated and Sandwich Plates. A Review. *Mechanics of Composite Materials*, vol. 34, no. 3, 1998, pp. 243-252.
- 45. Carrera, E.: Multilayered Shell Theories Accounting for Layerwise Mixed Description, Part 1: Governing Equations. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 37, no. 9, 1999, pp. 1107-1116.
- 46. Carrera, E.: Multilayered Shell Theories Accounting for Layerwise Mixed Description, Part 2: Numerical Evaluations. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 37, no. 9, 1999, pp. 1117-1124.
- 47. Gopinathan, S. V.; Varadan, V. V.; and Varadan, V. K.: A Review and Critique of Theories for Piezoelectric Laminates. *Smart Materials and Structures*, vol. 9, 2000, pp. 24-48.
- 48. Ramm, E.: From Reissner Plate Theory to Three Dimensions in Large Deformation Shell Analysis. *ZAMM-Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics*, vol. 80, 2000, pp. 61-68.
- 49. Toorani, M. H. and Lakis, A. A.: General Equations of Anisotropic Plates and Shells Including Transverse Shear Deformations, Rotary Inertia and Initial Curvature Effects. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 237, no. 4, 2000, pp. 561-615.
- 50. Wang, J. and Yang, J.: Higher-Order Theories of Piezoelectric Plates and Applications. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 53, no. 4, 2000, pp. 87-99.
- Zenkour, A. M. and Fares, M. E.: Thermal Bending Analysis of Composite Laminated Cylindrical Shells Using a Refined First-Order Theory. *Journal of Thermal Stresses*, vol. 23, 2000, pp. 505-526.
- 52. Carrera, E.: Developments, Ideas, and Evaluations Based Upon Reissner's Mixed Variational Theorem in the Modeling of Multilayered Plates and Shells. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 54, no. 4, 2001, pp. 301-329.
- 53. Ghugal, Y. M. and Shimpi, R. P.: A Review of Refined Shear Deformation Theories for Isotropic and Anisotropic Laminated Beams. *Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites*, vol. 20, no. 3, 2001, pp. 255-272.

- 54. Ambartsumian, S. A.: Nontraditional Theories of Shells and Plates. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 55, no. 5, 2002, pp. R35-R44.
- 55. Carrera, E.: Theories and Finite Elements for Multilayered, Anisotropic, Composite Plates and Shells. *Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering*, vol. 9, no. 2, 2002, pp. 87-140.
- Ghugal, Y. M. and Shimpi, R. P.: A Review of Refined Shear Deformation Theories for Isotropic and Anisotropic Laminated Plates. *Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites*, vol. 21, no. 9, 2002, pp. 775-813.
- 57. Piskunov, V. G. and Rasskazov, A. O.: Evolution of the Theory of Laminated Plates and Shells. *International Applied Mechanics*, vol. 38. no. 2, 2002, pp. 135-166.
- Altay, G. A. and Dökmeci, M. C.: Some Comments on the Higher Order Theories of Piezoelectric, Piezothermoelastic and Thermopiezoelectric Rods and Shells. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 40, 2003, pp. 4699-4706.
- 59. Brank, B.: On Composite Shell Models with a Piecewise Linear Warping Function. *Composite Structures*, vol. 59, 2003, pp. 163-171.
- 60. Carrera, E.: Historical Review of Zig-Zag Theories for Multilayered Plates and Shells. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 56, no. 3, 2003, pp. 287-308.
- 61. Carrera, E.: Theories and Finite Elements for Multilayered Plates and Shells: A Unified Compact Formulation with Numerical Assessment and Benchmarking. *Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering*, vol. 10, no. 3, 2003, pp. 215-296.
- 62. Hohe, J. and Librescu, L.: Advances in Structural Modeling of Elastic Sandwich Panels. *Mechanics of Advanced Materials and Structures*, vol. 11, 2004, pp. 395-424.
- 63. Reddy, J. N. and Arciniega, R. A.: Shear Deformation Plate and Shell Theories: From Stavsky to Present. *Mechanics of Advanced Materials and Structures*, vol. 11, 2004, pp. 535-582.
- 64. Yu, W. and Hodges, D. H.: A Geometrically Nonlinear Shear Deformation Theory for Composite Shells. *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, vol. 71, 2004, pp. 1-9.
- 65. Kim, J.-S.: Reconstruction of First-Order Shear Deformation Theory for Laminated and Sandwich Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 42, no. 8, 2004, pp. 1685-1697.
- 66. Tovstik, P. E. and Tovstik, T. P.: On the 2D Models of Plates and Shells Including the Transversal Shear. *ZAMM-Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics*, vol. 87, no. 2, 2007, pp. 160-171.

- 67. Carrera, E.; Brischetto, S.; and Giunta, G.: The Best on Plate/Shell Theories for Laminated Structures Analysis. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC 49th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 2008, AIAA Paper No. 2008-2187.
- Hu, H.; Belouettar, S.; Potier-Ferry, M.; and Daya, El M.: Review and Assessment of Various Theories for Modeling Sandwich Composites. *Composite Structures*, vol. 84, 2008, pp. 282-292.
- 69. Carrera, E. and Brischetto, S.: A Survey With Numerical Assessment of Classical and Refined Theories for the Analysis of Sandwich Plates. *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 62, no. 1, 2009, pp. 010803: 1-17.
- 70. Carrera, E.; Nali, P.; Brischetto, S.; and Cinefra, M.: Hierarchic Plate and Shell Theories With Direct Evaluation of Transverse Electric Displacement. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ ASCE/AHS/ASC 50th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 2009, AIAA Paper 2009-2138.
- 71. Lee, C.-Y. and Hodges, D. H.: Asymptotic Construction of a Dynamic Shell Theory: Finite-Element-Based Approach. *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 47, 2009, pp. 256-270.
- 72. Pirrera, A. and Weaver, P. M.: Geometrically Nonlinear First-Order Shear Deformation Theory for General Anisotropic Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 47, no. 3, 2009, pp. 767-782.
- 73. Biglari, H. and Jafari, A. A.: High-Order Free Vibrations of Doubly Curved Sandwich Panels With Flexible Core Based on a Refined Three-Layered Theory. *Composite Structures*, vol. 92, 2010, pp. 2685-2694.
- 74. Qatu, M. S.; Sullivan, R. W.; and Wang, W.: Recent Research Advances on the Dynamic Analysis of Composite Shells: 2000-2009. *Composite Structures*, vol. 93, 2010, pp. 14-31.
- 75. D'Ottavio, M. and Carrera, E.: Variable-Kinematics Approach for Linearized Buckling Analysis of Laminated Plates and Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 48, no. 9, 2010, pp. 1987-1996.
- 76. Giunta, G.; Biscani, F.; Belouettar, S.; and Carrera, E.: Hierarchical Modelling of Doubly Curved Laminated Composite Shells Under Distributed and Localised Loadings. *Composites: Part B*, vol. 42, 2011, pp. 682-691.
- 77. Barut, A.; Madenci, E.; and Nemeth, M. P.: Stress and Buckling Analyses of Laminates with a Cutout Using a {3,0}-Plate Theory. *Journal of Mechanics of Materials and Structures*, vol. 6, no. 6, 2011, pp. 827-868.
- Brischetto, S.; Polit, O.; and Carrera, E.: Refined Shell Model for the Linear Analysis of Isotropic and Composite Elastic Structures. *European Journal of Mechanics A/Solids*, vol. 34, 2012, pp. 102-119.

- 79. Crisafulli, D.; Cinefra, M.; and Carrera, E.: Advanced Layer-Wise Shells Theories Based on Trigonometric Functions Expansion. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC 53rd Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 2012, AIAA Paper No. 2012-1602.
- Williams, T. O.: A New Theoretical Framework for the Formulation of General, Nonlinear, Multi-Scale Shell Theories. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC 53rd Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 2012, AIAA Paper No. 2012-1604.
- Huber, M. T.: Die Theorie der Kreuzweise bewehrten Eisenbeton-Platte nebst Anwendungen auf mehrere bautechnisch wichtige Aufgaben uiber rechteckige Platten. *Bauingenieur*, vol. 4, 1923, pp. 354-360 and 392-395.
- 82. Seydel, E.: Wrinkling of Reinforced Plates Subjected to Shear Stresses. NACA TM 602, 1931.
- 83. Seydel, E.: The Critical Shear Load of Rectangular Plates. NACA TM 705, 1933.
- 84. Heck, O. S.; and Ebner, H.: *Methods and Formulas for Calculating the Strength of Plate and Shell Constructions as used in Aiplane Design*. NACA TM 785, 1936.
- 85. Smith, R. C. T.: *The Buckling of Flat Plywood Plates in Compression*. Report ACA-12, Australian Council for Aeronautics, December, 1944.
- 86. Cozzone, F. P.; and Melcon, M. A.: Nondimensional Buckling Curves Their Development and Application. *Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences*, vol. 13, no. 10, 1946, pp. 511-517.
- 87. Batdorf, S. B.: A Simplified Method of Elastic-Stability Analysis for Thin Cylindrical Shells, I - Donnell's Equation. NACA TN 1341, 1947.
- 88. Batdorf, S. B.: A Simplified Method of Elastic-Stability Analysis for Thin Cylindrical Shells, II - Modified Equilibrium Equation. NACA TN 1342, 1947.
- 89. Batdorf, S. B.; Schildcrout, M.; and Stein, M.: *Critical Stress of Thin-Walled Cylinders in Torsion*. NACA TN 1344, 1947.
- 90. Batdorf, S. B.: A Simplified Method of Elastic-Stability Analysis for Thin Cylindrical Shells. NACA TR 874, 1947.
- 91. Thielemann, W. F.: Contribution to the Problem of Buckling of Orthotropic Plates, with Special Reference to Plywood. NACA TM 1263, 1950.
- 92. Wittrick, W. H.: Correlation Between some Stability Problems for Orthotropic and Isotropic Plates under Bi-Axial and Uni-Axial Direct Stress. *The Aeronautical Quarterly*, vol. 4, August, 1952, pp. 83-92.

- 93. Shulesko, P.: A Reduction Method for Buckling Problems of Orthotropic Plates. *The Aeronautical Quarterly*, vol. 8, 1957, pp. 145-156.
- 94. Thielemann, W.; Schnell, W.; and Fischer, G.: Beul-und Nachbeulverhalten Orthotroper Kreiszylinderschalen Unter Axial-und Innendruck. Zeitschrift für Flugwissenschaften, vol. 8, 1960, pp. 284-293.
- 95. Thielemann, W.: New Developments in the Nonlinear Theories of the Buckling of Thin Cylindrical Shells. Aeronautics and Astronautics, Proceedings of the Durand Centennial Conference (AFOSR TR 59-108), N. J. Hoff and W. G. Vencenti, eds., Pergamon Press, 1960, pp. 76-121.
- 96. Geier, B.: Beullasten versteifter Kreiszylinderschalen. *Jahrbuch 1965 der WGLR*, Friedr. Vieweg, and Sohn GmbH, 1965, pp. 440-447.
- 97. Seggelke, P.; and Geier, B.: Das Beulverhalten versteifter Zylinderschalen. Zeitschrift für Flugwissenschaften, vol. 15, no. 12, 1967, pp. 477-490.
- Brukva, N. F.: Stability of Rectangular Orthotropic Plates. *Prikladnaya Mekhanika*, vol. 4, no. 3, 1968, pp. 77-85.
- 99. Khot, N. S.: Buckling and Postbuckling Behavior of Composite Cylindrical Shells Under Axial Compression. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 8, no. 2, 1970, pp 229-235.
- 100. Khot, N. S.; and Venkayya, V. B.: Effect of Fiber Orientation on Initial Postbuckling Behavior and Imperfection Sensitivity of Composite Cylindrical Shells. Report AFFDL-TR-70-125, Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory, December, 1970.
- 101. Johns, D. J.: *Shear Buckling of Isotropic and Orthotropic Plates A Review*. Report R & M No. 3677, Aeronautical Research Council, United Kingdom, 1971.
- 102. Housner, J. M.; and Stein, M.: Numerical Analysis and Parametric Studies of the Buckling of Composite Orthotropic Compression and Shear Panels. NASA TN D-7996, 1975.
- 103. Wiggenraad, J. F. M.: *The Influence of Bending-Torsional Coupling on the Buckling Load of General Orthotropic, Midplane Symmetric and Elastic Plates.* Report NLR TR 77126 U, National Aerospace Laboratory, The Netherlands, 1977.
- 104. Stein, M. and Housner, J. M.: Application of a Trigonometric Finite Difference Procedure to Numerical Analysis of Compressive and Shear Buckling of Orthotropic Panels. *Computers* & *Structures*, vol. 9, 1978, pp. 17-25.
- 105. Oyibo, G. A.: The Use of Affine Transformations in the Analysis of Stability and Vibrations of Orthotropic Plates. Ph. D. Dissertation, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, 1981.

- 106. Fogg, L.: Stability Analysis of Laminated Materials. *State of the Art Design and Analysis of Advanced Composite Materials*, Lockheed California Co., Sessions I and II, 1982.
- 107. Oyibo, G. A.: Flutter of Orthotropic Panels in Supersonic Flow Using Affine Transformations. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 21, no. 2, 1983, pp. 283-289.
- 108. Oyibo, G. A.: Unified Panel Flutter Theory with Viscous Damping Effects. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 21, no. 5, 1983, pp. 767-773.
- 109. Brunelle, E. J. and Oyibo, G. A.: Generic Buckling Curves for Specially Orthotropic Rectangular Plates. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 21, no. 8, 1983, pp. 1150-1156.
- 110. Oyibo, G. A.: Unified Aeroelastic Flutter Theory for Very Low Aspect Ratio Panels. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 21, no. 11, 1983, pp. 1581-1587.
- 111. Stein, M.: Postbuckling of Orthotropic Composite Plates Loaded in Compression. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 21, no. 12, 1983, pp. 1729-1735.
- 112. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling Behavior of Orthotropic Composite Plates with Centrally-Located Cutouts. Ph.D. Dissertation, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 1983.
- 113. Oyibo, G. A.: Generic Approach to Determine Optimum Aeroelastic Characteristics for Composite Forward-Swept-Wing Aircraft. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 21, no. 1, 1984, pp. 117-123.
- 114. Brunelle, E. J.: The Affine Equivalence of Local Stress and Displacement Distributions in Damaged Composites and Batdorf's Electric Analog. AIAA Journal, vol. 22, no. 3, 1984, pp. 445-447.
- 115. Nemeth, M. P.: Importance of Anisotropic Bending Stiffness on Buckling of Symmetrically Laminated Composite Plates Loaded in Compression. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/* ASCE/AHS 26th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference, 1985. AIAA Paper No. 85-0673-CP.
- 116. Oyibo, G. A. and Berman, J.: Influence of Warpage on Composite Aeroelastic Theories. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS 26th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 1985. AIAA Paper No. 85-0710-CP.
- 117. Oyibo, G. A. and Brunelle, E. J.: Vibrations of Circular Orthotropic Plates in Affine Space. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 23, no. 2, 1985, pp. 296-300.
- 118. Stein, M.: Postbuckling of Long Orthotropic Plates in Combined Shear and Compression. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 23, no. 5, 1985, pp. 788-794.
- 119. Stein, M.: Postbuckling of Long Orthotropic Composite Plates Under Combined Loads. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 23, no. 8, 1985, pp. 1267-1272.

- 120. Stein, M.: Analytical Results for the Post-Buckling Behavior of Plates in Compression and in Shear. Aspects of the Analysis of Plate Structures, A volume in honour of W. H. Wittrick, D. J. Dawe, R. W. Horsington, A. G. Kamtekar, and G. H. Little, eds., Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1985, pp. 205-223.
- 121. Brunelle, E. J.: The Fundamental Constants of Orthotropic Affine Slab/Plate Equations. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 23, no. 12, 1985, pp. 1957-1961.
- 122. Brunelle, E. J.: Eigenvalue Similarity Rules for Symmetric Cross-Ply Laminated Plates. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 24, no. 1, 1986, pp. 151-154.
- 123. Brunelle, E. J.: Generic Karman-Rostovstev Plate Equations in an Affine Space. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 24, no. 3, 1986, pp. 472-478.
- 124. Nemeth, M. P.: Importance of Anisotropy on Buckling of Compression-Loaded Symmetric Composite Plates. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 24, no. 11, 1986, pp. 1831-1835.
- 125. Yang, I.-H. and Kuo, W.-S.: The Global Constants in Orthotropic Affine Space. *Journal of the Chinese Society of Mechanical Engineers*, vol. 7, no. 5, 1986, pp. 355-360.
- 126. Yang, I. H. and Liu, C. R.: Buckling and Bending Behaviour of Initially Stressed Specially Orthotropic Thick Plates. *International Journal of Mechanical Sciences*, vol. 29, no. 12, 1987, pp. 779-791.
- 127. Yang, I. H. and Shieh, J. A.: Vibrations of Initially Stressed Thick, Rectangular Orthotropic Plates. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 119, no. 3, 1987, pp. 545-558.
- 128. Yang, I. H. and Shieh, J. A.: Vibrational Behavior of an Initially Stressed Orthotropic Circular Mindlin Plate. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 123, no. 1, 1988, pp. 145-156.
- 129. Yang, I. H. and Shieh, J. A.: Generic Thermal Buckling of Initially Stressed Antisymmetric Cross-Ply Thick Laminates. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 24, no. 10, 1988, pp. 1059-1070.
- 130. Kuo, W. S. and Yang, I. H.: On the Global Large Deflection and Postbuckling of Symmetric Angle-Ply Laminated Plates. *Engineering Fracture Mechanics*, vol. 30, no. 6, 1988, pp. 801-810.
- 131. Kuo, W. S. and Yang, I. H.: Generic Nonlinear Behavior of Antisymmetric Angle-Ply Laminated Plates. *International Journal of Mechanical Sciences*, vol. 31, no. 2, 1989, pp. 131-143.
- 132. Yang, I. H.: Generic Buckling and Bending Behavior of Initially Stressed Antisymmetric Cross-Ply Thick Laminates. *Journal of Composite Materials*, vol. 23, July, 1989, pp. 651-672.

- 133. Yang, I. H.: Bending, Buckling, and Vibration of Antisymmetrically Laminated Angle-Ply Rectangular Simply Supported Plates. *Aeronautical Journal*, vol. 93, no. 927, 1989, pp. 265-271.
- 134. Brunelle, E. J. and Shin, K. S.: Postbuckling Behavior of Affine Form of Specially Orthotropic Plates. 12th Annual Canadian Congress of Applied Mechanics - Mechanics of Solids and Structures Symposium, 1989, pp. 179-185.
- 135. Brunelle, E. J. and Shin, K. S.: Postbuckling Behavior of Affine Form of Specially Orthotropic Plates with Simply Supported-Free Edge. *Proceedings of the 1989 ASME International Computers in Engineering Conference and Exposition*, 1989, pp. 259-266.
- 136. Oyibo, G.: Some Implications of Warping Restraint on the Behavior of Composite Anisotropic Beams. *Journal of Aircraft*, vol. 26, no. 2, 1989, pp. 187-189.
- 137. Little, G. H.: Large Deflections of Orthotropic Plates Under Pressure. *Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, vol. 115, no. 12, 1989, pp. 2601-2620.
- 138. Nemeth, M. P.: Nondimensional Parameters and Equations for Buckling of Symmetrically Laminated Thin Elastic Shallow Shells. NASA TM 104060, March 1991.
- 139. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling Behavior of Long Symmetrically Laminated Plates Subjected to Combined Loadings. NASA TP 3195, 1992.
- 140. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling Behavior of Long Symmetrically Laminated Plates Subjected to Compression, Shear, and Inplane Bending Loads. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 30, no. 12, December 1992, pp. 2959-2965.
- 141. Nemeth, M. P.: Nondimensional Parameters and Equations for Buckling of Anisotropic Shallow Shells. *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, vol. 61, no. 9, 1994, pp. 664-669.
- 142. Radloff, H. D.; Hyer, M. W.; and Nemeth, M. P.: *The Buckling Response of Symmetrically Laminated Composite Plates Having a Trapezoidal Planform Area*. NASA CR-196975, 1994.
- 143. Nemeth, M. P.: *Buckling Behavior of Long Anisotropic Plates Subjected to Combined Loads*. NASA TP 3568, November 1995.
- 144. Lee, Y.-S. and Yang, M.-S.: Behaviour of Antisymmetric Angle-Ply Laminated Plates Using the Affine Transformation. *Computers & Structures*, vol. 61, no. 2, 1996, pp. 375-383.
- 145. Nemeth, M. P. and Smeltzer, S. S., III: *Bending Boundary Layers in Laminated-Composite Circular Cylindrical Shells*. NASA/TP-2000-210549, 2000.

- 146. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling Behavior of Long Anisotropic Plates Subjected to Restrained Thermal Expansion and Mechanical Loads. *Journal of Thermal Stresses*, vol. 23, 2000, pp. 873-916.
- 147. Hilburger, M. W.; Rose, C. A.; and Starnes, J. H., Jr.: Nonlinear Analysis and Scaling Laws for Noncircular Composite Structures Subjected to Combined Loads. *Proceedings of the* AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC 42nd Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference, 2001, AIAA Paper No. 2001-1335.
- 148. Weaver, P. M.; Driesen, J. R.; and Roberts, P.: The Effects of Flexural/Twist Anisotropy on the Compression Buckling of Quasi-Isotropic Laminated Cylindrical Shells. *Composite Structures*, vol. 55, 2002, pp. 195-204.
- 149. Weaver, P. M.; Driesen, J. R.; and Roberts, P.: Anisotropic Effects in the Compression Buckling of Laminated Composite Cylindrical Shells. *Composites Science and Technology*, vol. 62, 2002, pp. 91-105.
- 150. Weaver, P. M.: The Effect of Extension/Twist Anisotropy on Compression Buckling in Cylindrical Shells. *Composites: Part B*, vol. 34, 2003, pp. 251-260.
- 151. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling Behavior of Long Anisotropic Plates Subjected to Fully Restrained Thermal Expansion. NASA/TP-2003-212131, February 2003.
- 152. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling of Long Compression-Loaded Anisotropic Plates Restrained Against Inplane Lateral and Shear Deformations. *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 42, pp. 639-685, 2004.
- 153. Nemeth, M. P.: Buckling Behavior of Long Anisotropic Plates Subjected to Elastically Restrained Thermal Expansion and Contraction. NASA/TP-2004-213512, December 2004.
- 154. Diaconu, C. and Weaver, P. M.: Approximate Solution and Optimum Design of Compression-Loaded, Postbuckled Laminated Composite Plates. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 43, no. 4, 2005, pp. 906-914.
- 155. Weaver, P. M.: Design Formulae for Buckling of Biaxially Loaded Laminated Rectangular Plate with Flexural/Twist Anisotropy. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC* 46th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference, 2005, AIAA Paper No. 2005-2105.
- 156. Wong, K. F. W. and Weaver, P. M.: Approximate Solution for the Compression Buckling of Fully Anisotropic Cylindrical Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 43, no. 12, 2005, pp. 2639-2645.
- 157. Diaconu, C. and Weaver, P. M.: Postbuckling of Long Unsymmetrically Laminated Composite Plates Under Axial Compression. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 43, 2006, pp. 6978-6997.

- 158. Weaver, P. M.: Physical Insight into the Buckling Phenomena of Composite Structures. *Proceedings of the AIAA/ASME/ASCE/AHS/ASC 47th Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference*, 2006, AIAA Paper No. 2006-2031.
- 159. Weaver, P. M.: Approximate Analysis for Buckling of Compression Loaded Long Rectangular Plates with Flexural/Twist Anisotropy. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A*, vol. 462, 2006, pp. 59-73.
- 160. Weaver, P. M. and Nemeth, M. P.: Bounds on Flexural Properties and Buckling Response for Symmetrically Laminated Composite Plates. *Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, vol. 133, no. 11, 2007, pp. 1178-1191.
- 161. Weaver, P. M. and Nemeth, M. P.: Improved Design Formulae for Buckling of Orthotropic Plates under Combined Loading. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 46, no. 9, 2008, pp. 2391-2396.
- 162. Weaver, P. M.: Anisotropic Elastic Tailoring in Laminated Composite Plates and Shells. Buckling and Postbuckling of Structures-Experimental, Analytical and Numerical Studies, B. G. Falzon and M. H. Aliabadi, eds., Imperial College Press, 2008, pp. 177-224.
- 163. Mittelstedt, C. and Beerhorst, M.: Closed-Form Buckling Analysis of Compressively Loaded Composite Plates Braced by Omega-Stringers. *Composite Structures*, vol. 88, 2009, pp. 424-435.
- 164. Nemeth, M. P. and Mikulas, M. M., Jr.: Simple Formulas and Results for Buckling-Resistance and Stiffness Design of Compression-Loaded Laminated-Composite Cylinders. NASA/TP-2009-215778, August, 2009.
- 165. Nemeth, M. P.: Nondimensional Parameters and Equations for Nonlinear and Bifurcation Analyses of Thin Anisotropic Quasi-Shallow Shells. NASA/TP-2010-216726, July, 2010.
- 166. Ambartsumian, S. A.: On a General Theory of Anisotropic Shells. *Prikladnaya Matematika i Mekhanika*, vol. 22, no. 2, 1958, pp. 226-237.
- 167. Ambartsumian, S. A.: On the Theory of Bending of Anisotropic Plates and Shallow Shells. *Prikladnaya Matematika i Mekhanika*, vol. 24, no. 2, 1960, pp. 350-360.
- 168. Tomashevskii V. T.: On the Effect of Transverse Shear and State of Stress on the Stability of an Anisotropic Cylinder. *Prikladnaya Mekhanika*, vol. 2, no. 4, 1966, pp. 7-16.
- 169. Cappelli, A. P.; Nishimoto, T. S.; and Radkowski, P. P.: Analysis of Shells of Revolution Having Arbitrary Stiffness Distributions. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 7, no. 10, 1969, pp. 1909-1915.
- 170. Bhimaraddi, A.: A Higher Order Theory for Free Vibration Analysis of Circular Cylindrical Shells. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 20, no. 7, 1984, pp. 623-630.
- 171. Flügge, W.: Stresses in Shells. Second edition, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973.

- 172. Reddy, J. N.: Exact Solutions of Moderately Thick Laminated Shells. *Journal of Engineering Mechanics*, vol. 110, no. 5, 1984, pp. 794-809.
- 173. Reddy, J. N. and Liu, C. F.: A Higher-Order Shear Deformation Theory of Laminated Elastic Shells. *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 23, no. 3, 1985, pp. 319-330.
- 174. Soldatos, K. P.: On Thickness Shear Deformation Theories for the Dynamic Analysis of Non-Circular Cylindrical Shells. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 22, no. 6, 1986, pp. 625-641.
- 175. Soldatos, K. P.: Influence of Thickness Shear Deformation on Free Vibrations of Rectangular Plates, Cylindrical Panels and Cylinders of Antisymmetric Angle-ply Construction. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 119, no. 1, 1987, pp. 111-137.
- 176. Soldatos, K. P.: A Refined Laminated Plate and Shell Theory with Applications. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 144, no. 1, 1991, pp. 109-129.
- 177. Soldatos, K. P.: Nonlinear Analysis of Transverse Shear Deformable Laminated Composite Cylindrical Shells-Part I: Derivation of Governing Equations. *Journal of Pressure Vessel Technology*, vol. 114, 1992, pp. 105-109.
- 178. Soldatos, K. P.: Nonlinear Analysis of Transverse Shear Deformable Laminated Composite Cylindrical Shells-Part II: Buckling of Axially Compressed Cross-Ply Circular and Oval Cylinders. *Journal of Pressure Vessel Technology*, vol. 114, 1992, pp. 110-114.
- 179. Bhimaraddi, A.; Carr, A. J.; and Moss, P. J.: A Shear Deformable Finite Element for the Analysis of General Shells of Revolution. *Computers and Structures*, vol. 31, no. 3, 1989, pp. 299-308.
- 180. Touratier, M.: A Generalization of Shear Deformation Theories for Axisymmetric Multilayered Shells. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 29, no. 11, 1992, pp. 1379-1399.
- 181. Touratier, M.: An Efficient Standard Plate Theory. *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 29, no. 8, 1991, pp. 901-916.
- 182. Ambartsumyan, S. A.:: On the Problem of Oscillations of the Electroconductive Plates in the Transverse Magnetic Field. *Theory of Shells*, W. T. Koiter and G. K. Mikhailov, eds., 1980, pp. 121-136.
- 183. Touratier, M.: A Refined Theory of Laminated Shallow Shells. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 29, no. 11, 1992, pp. 1401-1415.
- 184. Stein, M.: Nonlinear Theory for Plates and Shells Including the Effects of Transverse Shearing. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 24, no. 9, 1986, pp. 1537-1544.

- 185. Stein, M. and Jegley, D. C.: Effects of Transverse Shearing on Cylindrical Bending, Vibration, and Buckling of Laminated Plates. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 25, no. 1, 1987, pp. 123-129.
- 186. Sklepus, S. N.: Thermoelasticity of Laminated Shallow Shells of Complex Form. *International Applied Mechanics*, vol. 32, no. 4, 1996, pp. 281-285.
- 187. Soldatos, K. P.: A Four-Degree-of-Freedom Cylindrical Shell Theory Accounting for Both Transverse Shear and Transverse Normal Deformation. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 159, no. 3, 1992, pp. 533-539.
- 188. Lam, K. Y.; Ng, T. Y.; and Wu, Q.: Vibration Analysis of Thick Laminated Composite Cylindrical Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 38, no. 6, 1999, pp. 1102-1107.
- 189. Fares, M. E. and Youssif, Y. G.: A Refined Equivalent Single-Layer Model of Geometrically Non-Linear Doubly Curved Layered Shells Using a Mixed Variational Approach. *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, vol. 36, 2001, pp. 117-124.
- 190. Zenkour, A. M. and Fares, M. E.: Bending, Buckling, and Free Vibration of Non-Homogeneous Composite Laminated Cylindrical Shells Using a Refined First-Order Theory. *Composites Part B*, vol. 32, 2001, pp. 237-247.
- 191. Mantari, J. L.; Oktem, A. S.; and Guedes Soares, C.: Static and Dynamic Analysis of Laminated Composite and Sandwich Plates and Shells by Using a New Higher-Order Shear Deformation Theory. *Composite Structures*, vol. 94, 2011, pp. 37-49.
- 192. Brush, D. O. and Almroth, B.: Buckling of Bars, Plates, and Shells. McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- 193. Mantari, J. L. and Guedes Soares, C.: Analysis of Isotropic and Multilayered Plates and Shells by Using a Generalized Higher-Order Shear Deformation Theory. *Composite Structures*, vol. 94, 2012, pp. 2640-2656.
- 194. Mantari, J. L.; Oktem, A. S.; and Guedes Soares, C.: Bending and Free Vibration Analysis of Isotropic and Multilayered Plates and Shells by Using a New Accurate Higher-Order Shear Deformation Theory. *Composites Part B*, vol. 43, 2012, pp. 3348-3360.
- 195. Viola, E.; Tornabene, F.; and Fantuzzi, N.: General Higher-Order Shear Deformation Theories for the Free Vibration Analysis of Completely Doubly-Curved Laminated Shells and Panels. *Composite Structures*, vol. 95, 2013, pp. 639-666.
- 196. Librescu, L. and Schmidt, R.: Substantiation of a Shear-Deformable Theory of Anisotropic Composite Laminated Shells Accounting for the Interlaminae Continuity Conditions. *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 29, no. 6, 1991, pp. 669-683.

- 197. Soldatos, K. P. and Timarci, T.: A Unified Formulation of Laminated Composite, Shear Deformable, Five-Degrees-of-Freedom Cylindrical Shell Theories. *Composite Structures*, vol. 25, 1993, pp. 165-171.
- 198. Timarci, T. and Soldatos, K. P.: Comparative Dynamic Studies for Symmetric Cross-Ply Circular Cylindrical Shells on the Basis of a Unified Shear Deformable Shell Theory. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 187, no. 4, 1995, pp. 609-624.
- 199. Jing, H.-S. and Tzeng, K.-S.: Refined Shear Deformation Theory of Laminated Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 31, no. 4, 1993, pp. 765-773.
- 200. Jing, H.-S. and Tzeng, K.-S.: Analysis of Thick Laminated Anisotropic Cylindrical Shells Using a Refined Shell Theory. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 32, no. 10, 1995, pp. 1459-1476.
- 201. Beakou, A. and Touratier, M.: A Rectangular Finite Element for Analyzing Composite Multilayered Shallow Shells in Statics, Vibration and Buckling. *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, vol. 36, 1993, pp. 627-653.
- 202. Ossadzow, C.; Muller, P.; and Touratier, M.: A General Doubly Curved Laminate Shell Theory. *Composite Structures*, vol. 32, 1995, pp. 299-312.
- 203. Touratier, M. and Faye, J.-P.: On a Refined Model in Structural Mechanics: Finite Element Approximation and Edge Effect Analysis for Axisymmetric Shells. *Computers & Structures*, vol. 54, no, 5, 1995, pp. 897-920.
- 204. Shaw, A. J. and Gosling, P. D.: Removal of Shallow Shell Restriction from Touratier Kinematic Model. *Mechanics Research Communications*, vol. 38, 2011, pp. 463-467.
- 205. He, Ling-Hui: A Linear Theory of Laminated Shells Accounting for Continuity of Displacements and Transverse Shear Stresses at Layer Interfaces. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 31, no. 5, 1994, pp. 613-627.
- 206. Shu, Xiao-ping.: An Improved Simple Higher-Order Theory for Laminated Composite Shells. *Computers & Structures*, vol. 60, no. 3, 1996, pp. 343-350.
- 207. Shu, Xiao-ping.: A Refined Theory of Laminated Shells With Higher-Order Transverse Shear Deformation. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, vol. 34, no. 6, 1997, pp. 673-683.
- 208. Cho, M.; Kim, K.-O.; and Kim, M.-H.: Efficient Higher-Order Shell Theory for Laminated Composites. *Composite Structures*, vol. 34, 1996, pp. 197-212.
- 209. Soldatos, K. P. and Shu, Xiao-ping.: On the Stress Analysis of Laminated Plates and Shallow Shell Panels. *Composite Structures*, vol. 46, 1999, pp. 333-344.

- 210. Librescu, L.: Refined Geometrically Nonlinear Theories of Anisotropic Laminated Shells. *Quarterly of Applied Mathematics*, vol. 45, no. 1, 1987, pp. 1-22.
- 211. Librescu, L. and Schmidt, R.: Refined Theories of Elastic Anisotropic Shells Accounting for Small Strains and Moderate Rotations. *International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics*, vol. 23, no. 3, 1988, pp. 217-229.
- 212. Schmidt, R. and Reddy, J. N.: A Refined Small Strain and Moderate Rotation Theory of Elastic Anisotropic Shells. *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, vol. 55, no. 3, 1988, pp. 611-617.
- 213. Palmerio, A. F.; Reddy, J. N.; and Schmidt, R.: On a Moderate Rotation Theory of Laminated Anisotropic Shells-Part 1. Theory. *International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics*, vol. 25, no. 6, 1990, pp. 687-700.
- 214. Palmerio, A. F.; Reddy, J. N.; and Schmidt, R.: On a Moderate Rotation Theory of Laminated Anisotropic Shells-Part 2. Finite-Element Analysis. *International Journal of Nonlinear Mechanics*, vol. 25, no. 6, 1990, pp. 701-714.
- 215. Carrera, E.: The Effects of Shear Deformation and Curvature on Buckling and Vibrations of Cross-Ply Laminated Composite Shells. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, vol. 150, no. 3, 1991, pp. 405-433.
- 216. Kraus, H.: *Thin Elastic Shells An Introduction to the Theoretical Foundations and the Analysis of Their Static and Dynamic Behavior.* John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1967.
- 217. Simitses, G. J. and Anastasiadis, J. S.: Shear Deformable Theories for Cylindrical Laminates-Equilibrium and Buckling with Applications. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 30, no. 3, 1992, pp. 826-834.
- 218. Anastasiadis, J. S. and Simitses, G. J.: Buckling of Pressure-Loaded, Long, Shear Deformable, Cylindrical Laminated Shells. *Composite Structures*, vol. 23, 1993, pp. 221-231.
- 219. Soldatos, K. P.: Nonlinear Analysis of Transverse Shear Deformable Laminated Composite Cylindrical Shells - Part I. Derivation of Governing Equations. *Journal of Pressure Vessel Technology*, vol. 114, 1992, pp. 105-109.
- 220. Takano, A.: Improvement of Flügge's Equations for Buckling of Moderately Thick Anisotropic Cylindrical Shells. *AIAA Journal*, vol. 46, no. 4, 2008, pp. 903-911.
- 221. Nemeth, M. P.: An Exposition on the Nonlinear Kinematics of Shells, Including Transverse Shearing Deformations. NASA/TM-2013-217964, 2013.
- 222. Weatherburn, C. E.: *Differential Geometry of Three Dimensions, Volume I.* Cambridge at the University Press, London, 1955.

- 223. Eisenhart, L. P.: A Treatise on the Differential Geometry of Curves and Surfaces. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1960.
- 224. Struik, D. J.: Lectures on Classical Differential Geometry. Second ed., Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1988.
- 225. Kreyszig, E.: Differential Geometry. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1991.
- 226. Jones, R. M.: Mechanics of Composite Materials, Second ed., Taylor and Francis, 1999.
- 227. Nemeth. M. P.: An In-Depth Tutorial on Constitutive Equations for Elastic Anisotropic Materials. NASA/TM-2011-217314, 2011.
- 228. Nemeth. M. P.: Cubic Zig-Zag Enrichment of the Classical Kirchhoff Kinematics for Laminated and Sandwich Plates. NASA/TM-2012-217570, 2012.



Figure 1. Coordinate system and unit-magnitude base-vector fields for points of undeformed shell.



Figure 2. Sign convention for applied loads.

### **Appendix A - Live Normal Pressure Loads**

For a live normal pressure load  $\tilde{p}$ , the pressure  $\tilde{p}$  depends on the deformation of the shell reference surface. Thus,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{q}_{3} \Big( \xi_{1} + u_{1}, \, \xi_{2} + u_{2}, \, \xi_{3} + u_{3} \Big) \tag{A1}$$

Expanding  $\tilde{p}$  in Taylor Series and retaining terms up to first order gives

$$\tilde{p} \approx q_{3}\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}, \xi_{3}\right) + \left. \frac{\partial q_{3}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \right|_{\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}, \xi_{3}\right)} u_{1}\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}\right) + \left. \frac{\partial q_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right|_{\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}, \xi_{3}\right)} u_{2}\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}\right) + \left. \frac{\partial q_{3}}{\partial \xi_{3}} \right|_{\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}, \xi_{3}\right)} u_{3}\left(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}\right)$$
(A2)

The differential force due to the live pressure acting on a deformed-shell reference surface is given by

\_\_\_

$$\vec{dF} = \vec{p}d\vec{S}\hat{\boldsymbol{a}}$$
(A3)

where  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1, \boldsymbol{\xi}_2)$  is the unit-magnitude vector field normal to the deformed reference surface and  $d\tilde{S}$  is the deformed image of the reference-surface differential area dS. The surface area dS is given in principal-curvature coordinates as

$$dS = A_1 A_2 d\xi_1 d\xi_2 \tag{A4}$$

For "small" strains and "moderate" rotations, the analysis of reference 221 indicates that

$$d\mathbf{\tilde{S}}_{\boldsymbol{\hat{a}}} \approx dS \left[ \varphi_1 \mathbf{\hat{a}}_1 + \varphi_2 \mathbf{\hat{a}}_2 + \left( 1 + e_{11}^\circ + e_{22}^\circ \right) \mathbf{\hat{n}} \right]$$
(A5)

where  $\hat{a}_1(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ ,  $\hat{a}_2(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , and  $\hat{n}(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  are the unit-magnitude base-vector fields associated with points of the undeformed reference surface,  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  are the rotations defined by equations (8), and  $e_{11}^{\circ}$  and  $e_{22}^{\circ}$  are the linear deformation parameters defined by equations (7). Substituting equations (A2) and (A5) into equation (A3) gives

$$\vec{\mathbf{d}F} \approx \left( q_3 \varphi_1 \hat{\mathbf{a}}_1 + q_3 \varphi_2 \hat{\mathbf{a}}_2 + \left[ q_3 \left( 1 + e_{11}^\circ + e_{22}^\circ \right) + \frac{\partial q_3}{\partial \xi_1} u_1 + \frac{\partial q_3}{\partial \xi_2} u_2 + \frac{\partial q_3}{\partial \xi_3} u_3 \right] \hat{\mathbf{n}} \right) dS$$
(A6)

where terms involving products of displacements, strains, or rotations are presumed negligible.

# **Appendix B - Special Cases of the Constitutive Equations**

Several special cases of the constitutive equations are presented subsequently in which all terms involving the principal radii of curvature are neglected. Likewise, terms involving the radii of geodesic curvature are also neglected. This approach leads to equations that are consistent with the classical shell theory and the shell theories of Leonard,<sup>7</sup> Sanders,<sup>8</sup> Koiter,<sup>9,10</sup> and Budiansky.<sup>11</sup> Thus, equations (85) reduce to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{00} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{16}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{66}^{0} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B1)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{01}} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{1} & A_{12}^{1} & A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{12}^{1} & A_{22}^{1} & A_{26}^{1} \\ A_{16}^{1} & A_{26}^{1} & A_{66}^{1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B2)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{02} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{20} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B3)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{03} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{12}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{22}^{20} \\ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{10} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{20} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B4)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{04}} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \tag{B5}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{11} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^2 & A_{12}^2 & A_{16}^2 \\ A_{12}^2 & A_{22}^2 & A_{26}^2 \\ A_{16}^2 & A_{26}^2 & A_{66}^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B6)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{12} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{21} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B7)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{13} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{12}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{22}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B8)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{14} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \tag{B9}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{11}^{110} & \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{120} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{120} & \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{220} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B10)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{23} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} Q_{16}^{110} & Q_{12}^{120} \\ Q_{66}^{120} & Q_{26}^{220} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B11)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{24} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \tag{B12}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{33} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} Q_{66}^{110} & Q_{26}^{120} \\ Q_{26}^{120} & Q_{22}^{220} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B13)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{34} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \tag{B14}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} \approx \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \tag{B15}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{55} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{110} Z_{45}^{120} \\ Z_{45}^{120} Z_{44}^{220} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B16)

In addition, equations (92) become

$$\left\{\overline{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}_{\boldsymbol{0}}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{h}_{11}^{\boldsymbol{0}} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{22}^{\boldsymbol{0}} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{12}^{\boldsymbol{0}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B17)

$$\left\{\overline{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}_{1}\right\} = \left\{\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{h}_{1}^{1} \\ \mathbf{h}_{22}^{1} \\ \mathbf{h}_{12}^{1} \end{array}\right\}$$
(B18)

$$\left\{\overline{\Theta}_{2}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{10} \\ g_{20}^{20} \\ g_{12} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B19)

$$\left\{\overline{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{3}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{12}^{10} \\ g_{22}^{20} \\ g_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B20)

$$\left\{\overline{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{4}\right\} = \left\{\begin{matrix} 0\\ 0 \end{matrix}\right\} \tag{B21}$$

With these simplifications, equation (86) reduces to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{16}^{1} A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{1} A_{26}^{1} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{16}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{11}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\overline{7}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\overline{7}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\overline{7}}_{21} \\ \boldsymbol{\overline{7}}_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{10} R_{12}^{10} R_{16}^{10} R_{11}^{11} R_{12}^{11} R_{16}^{11} \\ R_{16}^{10} R_{26}^{20} R_{66}^{20} R_{16}^{21} R_{26}^{21} R_{66}^{21} \\ R_{16}^{10} R_{26}^{10} R_{66}^{10} R_{16}^{11} R_{26}^{12} R_{66}^{21} \\ R_{12}^{10} R_{22}^{20} R_{26}^{20} R_{12}^{20} R_{22}^{21} R_{26}^{21} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\$$

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{2}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{2}_{23} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{110} & Z_{45}^{120} \\ Z_{45}^{120} & Z_{44}^{220} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{13}^{\circ} \\ \gamma_{23}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B22c)

In addition, the constitutive equations for the transverse-shearing stresses are approximated as

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{23} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} F_1'(\boldsymbol{\xi}_3) \overline{C}_{55} F_2'(\boldsymbol{\xi}_3) \overline{C}_{45} \\ F_1'(\boldsymbol{\xi}_3) \overline{C}_{45} F_2'(\boldsymbol{\xi}_3) \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} \begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} \end{cases}$$
(B22d)

It is important to note that for  $F_1(\xi_3) = F_2(\xi_3)$ , equations (B22) reduce to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{1} A_{26}^{1} \\ A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{66}^{0} A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{1} A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{66}^{0} A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{1} A_{26}^{1} \\ A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{1} A_{22}^{2} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{66}^{0} \\ A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{1} A_{22}^{2} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{66}^{0} A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{2} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} A_{22}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{10} R_{12}^{10} R_{16}^{10} R_{11}^{11} R_{12}^{11} R_{16}^{11} \\ R_{12}^{10} R_{22}^{10} R_{26}^{10} R_{26}^{10} R_{12}^{11} R_{22}^{21} R_{26}^{21} \\ R_{16}^{10} R_{26}^{10} R_{66}^{10} R_{16}^{11} R_{26}^{11} R_{66}^{11} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} Q_{110}^{110} Q_{12}^{110} Q_{16}^{110} \\ Q_{12}^{110} Q_{22}^{110} Q_{26}^{110} \\ Q_{16}^{110} Q_{26}^{110} Q_{26}^{110} \\ Q_{16}^{10} Q_{26}^{20} Q_{66}^{60} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{A_{1}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{A_{2}} \frac{A_{2}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} - \boldsymbol{\Theta} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{g}_{11}^{10} \\ \boldsymbol{g}_{22}^{10} \\ \boldsymbol{g}_{22}^{10} \\ \boldsymbol{g}_{12}^{10} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B23b)

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{23} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{110} \ Z_{45}^{110} \\ Z_{45}^{110} \ Z_{44}^{110} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{13}^{\circ} \\ \gamma_{23}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B23c)

where  $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{12} = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{21}$ .

## **First-Order Shear-Deformation Theory**

The constitutive equations of a first-order shear-deformation theory are obtained by setting  $F_1(\xi_3) = F_2(\xi_3) = \xi_3$  in equations (87)-(94). In particular, equations (87) and (88) become

$$\begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{jk} R_{12}^{jk} R_{16}^{jk} \\ R_{12}^{jk} R_{22}^{jk} R_{66}^{jk} \\ R_{16}^{jk} R_{26}^{jk} R_{66}^{jk} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+1} A_{12}^{k+1} A_{16}^{k+1} \\ A_{12}^{k+1} A_{22}^{k+1} A_{26}^{k+1} \\ A_{16}^{k+1} A_{26}^{k+1} A_{66}^{k+1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B24a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Q_{11}^{ijk} & Q_{12}^{ijk} & Q_{16}^{ijk} \\ Q_{12}^{ijk} & Q_{22}^{ijk} & Q_{26}^{ijk} \\ Q_{16}^{ijk} & Q_{26}^{ijk} & Q_{66}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+2} & A_{12}^{k+2} & A_{16}^{k+2} \\ A_{12}^{k+2} & A_{22}^{k+2} & A_{26}^{k+2} \\ A_{16}^{k+2} & A_{26}^{k+2} & A_{66}^{k+2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B24b)

where the right-hand-sides are given by equation (86). Likewise, equation (91) becomes

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{ijk} Z_{45}^{ijk} \\ Z_{45}^{ijk} Z_{44}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{k} A_{45}^{k} \\ A_{45}^{k} A_{44}^{k} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B25a)

where

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{k} A_{45}^{k} \\ A_{45}^{k} A_{44}^{k} \end{bmatrix} = \int_{-\frac{h}{2}}^{\frac{h}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \overline{C}_{45} \end{bmatrix} (\xi_{3})^{k} d\xi_{3}$$
(B25b)

Moreover, equation (94) becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{jk} \\ g_{22}^{jk} \\ g_{12}^{jk} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{k+1} \\ h_{22}^{k+1} \\ h_{22}^{k+1} \\ h_{12}^{k+1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B26)

where the right-hand-side is given by equation (93). Applying these simplifications to equations (B23) yields

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{10}^{10} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{22}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{10} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{10} \ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{10} \\ \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \\ \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{22}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{10} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{26}^{11} \ \mathbf{R}_{66}^{11} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{11}^{1} \ \mathbf{A}_{12}^{1} \ \mathbf{A}_{16}^{1} \\ \mathbf{A}_{12}^{1} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{10} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{10} \\ \mathbf{A}_{16}^{1} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{10} \ \mathbf{A}_{66}^{10} \\ \mathbf{A}_{16}^{11} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{11} \ \mathbf{A}_{16}^{1} \\ \mathbf{A}_{12}^{11} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{12} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{2} \\ \mathbf{A}_{11}^{2} \ \mathbf{A}_{22}^{2} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{2} \\ \mathbf{A}_{12}^{2} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{2} \ \mathbf{A}_{26}^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B27)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Q_{11}^{110} & Q_{12}^{110} & Q_{16}^{110} \\ Q_{12}^{110} & Q_{22}^{110} & Q_{26}^{110} \\ Q_{16}^{110} & Q_{26}^{110} & Q_{66}^{110} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^2 & A_{16}^2 & A_{12}^2 \\ A_{12}^2 & A_{26}^2 & A_{22}^2 \\ A_{16}^2 & A_{66}^2 & A_{26}^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B28)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{110} Z_{45}^{110} \\ Z_{45}^{110} Z_{44}^{110} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{0} A_{45}^{0} \\ A_{45}^{0} A_{44}^{0} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B29)

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{10} \\ g_{22} \\ g_{10}^{10} \\ g_{12}^{10} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{1} \\ h_{22} \\ h_{12}^{1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B30)

As a result of  $\mathcal{P}_{12} = \mathcal{P}_{21}$ , Substitution of equations (B27) and (B28) into equations (B23) reveals

that  $\mathcal{P}_{11} = \mathcal{M}_{11}$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_{22} = \mathcal{M}_{22}$ , and  $\mathcal{P}_{12} = \mathcal{M}_{12}$ . Thus, the constitutive equations are expressed in terms of the nomenclature of classical shell theory as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \\ \boldsymbol$$

where  $k_{44}$ ,  $k_{45}$ , and  $k_{55}$  are transverse-shear correction factors that are used to compensate for the fact that the transverse-shearing stresses are uniformly distributed across the shell thickness and, hence, do not vanish on the bounding shell surfaces. Additionally, the two equilibrium equations given by (58d) and (58e) become

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{13} = -\frac{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_2}$$
(B33)

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{23} = -\frac{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{1}{A_1}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_1} + \frac{1}{A_2}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_2}$$
(B34)

Moreover, equations (17e) and (17f) become

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{4} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\xi_{3}}{\rho_{11}} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} \right) \\ \frac{\xi_{3}}{\rho_{22}} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} \right) & 0 \\ \frac{\xi_{3}}{\rho_{11}} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} \right) & -\frac{\xi_{3}}{\rho_{22}} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(B35)  
$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{5} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{2}} \right) & 0 \\ 0 & \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{R_{1}} \right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(B36)

Applying these matrices to equation (20e) and using equations (13) gives

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{23} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Q_{13} + \frac{M_{22}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{M_{12}}{\rho_{11}} \\ Q_{23} - \frac{M_{11}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{M_{21}}{\rho_{22}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B37)

For the special case in which the stiffnesses and the thermal coefficients appearing in equations (85) are symmetric through the thickness, the following additional simplifications to the constitutive equations are obtained

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} A_{12} A_{16} \\ A_{12} A_{22} A_{26} \\ A_{16} A_{26} A_{66} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} - \widehat{\Theta} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{h}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{22}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B38)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} D_{11} D_{12} D_{16} \\ D_{12} D_{22} D_{26} \\ D_{16} D_{26} D_{66} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_1} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_2} \\ 2\boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_2} \end{pmatrix} - \boldsymbol{\Theta} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{h}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B39)

#### **{3, 0}** Shear-Deformation Theory

The constitutive equations of a  $\{3, 0\}$  shear-deformation theory are obtained by setting

$$F_{1}(\xi_{3}) = F_{2}(\xi_{3}) = \xi_{3} - \frac{4}{3h^{2}}(\xi_{3})^{3}$$
(B40)

in equations (87)-(91) and (94). These functions yield parabolic distributions of transverseshearing stresses across the shell thickness. Substituting these functions into equation (B22d) reveals that the transverse-shearing stresses vanish at  $\xi_3 = \pm h/2$ . Next, using equation (B40), equations (96) and (97) become

$$\begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{jk} R_{12}^{jk} R_{16}^{jk} \\ R_{12}^{jk} R_{22}^{jk} R_{26}^{jk} \\ R_{16}^{jk} R_{26}^{jk} R_{66}^{jk} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+1} A_{12}^{k+1} A_{16}^{k+1} \\ A_{12}^{k+1} A_{22}^{k+1} A_{26}^{k+1} \\ A_{16}^{k+1} A_{26}^{k+1} A_{66}^{k+1} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{4}{3h^2} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+3} A_{12}^{k+3} A_{16}^{k+3} \\ A_{12}^{k+3} A_{22}^{k+3} A_{26}^{k+3} \\ A_{16}^{k+3} A_{26}^{k+3} A_{66}^{k+3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B41)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Q_{11}^{ijk} Q_{12}^{ijk} Q_{16}^{ijk} \\ Q_{12}^{ijk} Q_{22}^{ijk} \\ Q_{16}^{ijk} Q_{26}^{ijk} \\ Q_{16}^{ijk} Q_{26}^{ijk} \\ Q_{16}^{ijk} Q_{26}^{ijk} \\ Q_{16}^{ijk} Q_{26}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+2} A_{12}^{k+2} A_{16}^{k+2} \\ A_{12}^{k+2} A_{22}^{k+2} \\ A_{26}^{k+2} \\ A_{16}^{k+2} \\ A_{26}^{k+2} \\ A_{66}^{k+2} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{8}{3h^2} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+4} A_{12}^{k+4} A_{16}^{k+4} \\ A_{12}^{k+4} A_{22}^{k+4} \\ A_{16}^{k+4} \\ A_{26}^{k+4} \\ A_{66}^{k+4} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{16}{9h^4} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{k+6} A_{12}^{k+6} A_{16}^{k+6} \\ A_{12}^{k+6} A_{22}^{k+6} \\ A_{16}^{k+6} \\ A_{16}^{k+6} \\ A_{16}^{k+6} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B42)

where the right-hand-sides are given by equation (95). Likewise, equation (100) becomes

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{ijk} Z_{45}^{ijk} \\ Z_{45}^{ijk} Z_{44}^{ijk} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{k} A_{45}^{k} \\ A_{45}^{k} A_{44}^{k} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{8}{h^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{k+2} A_{45}^{k+2} \\ A_{45}^{k+2} A_{45}^{k+2} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{16}{h^{4}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{k+4} A_{45}^{k+4} \\ A_{45}^{k+4} A_{44}^{k+4} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B43)

and equation (103) becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{jk} \\ g_{22}^{jk} \\ g_{12}^{jk} \\ g_{12}^{jk} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{k+1} \\ h_{22}^{k+1} \\ h_{12}^{k+1} \\ \end{pmatrix} - \frac{4}{3h^2} \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{k+3} \\ h_{22}^{k+3} \\ h_{22}^{k+3} \\ h_{12}^{k} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B44)

where the right-hand-side is given by equation (102). Applying these simplifications to equations (B23) gives

$$\begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{10} R_{12}^{10} R_{16}^{10} \\ R_{12}^{10} R_{22}^{10} R_{26}^{10} \\ R_{10}^{10} R_{20}^{10} R_{66}^{10} \\ R_{16}^{11} R_{26}^{11} R_{16}^{11} \\ R_{11}^{11} R_{12}^{11} R_{16}^{11} \\ R_{12}^{11} R_{22}^{11} R_{26}^{11} \\ R_{16}^{11} R_{26}^{11} R_{66}^{11} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{1} A_{12}^{1} A_{16}^{1} \\ A_{12}^{1} A_{22}^{1} A_{26}^{1} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{1} A_{66}^{1} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{2} A_{26}^{2} \\ A_{11}^{2} A_{22}^{2} A_{26}^{2} \\ A_{12}^{2} A_{22}^{2} A_{26}^{2} \\ A_{16}^{1} A_{26}^{2} A_{66}^{2} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{4}{3h^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{3} A_{12}^{3} A_{16}^{3} \\ A_{12}^{3} A_{22}^{3} A_{26}^{3} \\ A_{16}^{4} A_{26}^{4} A_{66}^{6} \\ A_{11}^{4} A_{12}^{4} A_{16}^{4} \\ A_{12}^{4} A_{22}^{4} A_{16}^{4} \\ A_{12}^{4} A_{22}^{4} A_{26}^{4} \\ A_{16}^{4} A_{26}^{4} A_{66}^{4} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B45)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Q_{11}^{110} & Q_{12}^{110} & Q_{16}^{110} \\ Q_{12}^{110} & Q_{22}^{110} & Q_{26}^{110} \\ Q_{16}^{110} & Q_{26}^{110} & Q_{66}^{110} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^2 & A_{16}^2 & A_{12}^2 \\ A_{12}^2 & A_{26}^2 & A_{22}^2 \\ A_{16}^2 & A_{66}^2 & A_{26}^2 \end{bmatrix} - \frac{8}{3h^2} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^4 & A_{16}^4 & A_{12}^4 \\ A_{12}^4 & A_{26}^4 & A_{22}^4 \\ A_{16}^4 & A_{66}^4 & A_{26}^4 \end{bmatrix} + \frac{16}{9h^4} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^6 & A_{16}^6 & A_{12}^6 \\ A_{12}^6 & A_{26}^6 & A_{22}^6 \\ A_{16}^6 & A_{66}^6 & A_{26}^6 \end{bmatrix}$$
(B46)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{55}^{110} Z_{45}^{10} \\ Z_{45}^{100} Z_{44}^{100} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{0} A_{45}^{0} \\ A_{45}^{0} A_{44}^{0} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{8}{h^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{2} A_{45}^{2} \\ A_{45}^{2} A_{44}^{2} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{16}{h^{4}} \begin{bmatrix} A_{55}^{4} A_{45}^{4} \\ A_{45}^{4} A_{44}^{4} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B47)

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_{11}^{10} \\ g_{22}^{10} \\ g_{12}^{10} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{1} \\ h_{22}^{1} \\ h_{12}^{1} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{4}{3h^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} h_{31}^{3} \\ h_{22}^{2} \\ h_{12}^{3} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B48)

For the special case in which the stiffnesess and the thermal coefficients appearing in equations (85) are symmetric through the thickness, the following additional simplifications to the

constitutive equations are obtained

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{R}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{0} A_{12}^{0} A_{16}^{0} \\ A_{12}^{0} A_{22}^{0} A_{26}^{0} \\ A_{16}^{0} A_{26}^{0} A_{66}^{0} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} - \widehat{\boldsymbol{\Theta}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{h}_{11}^{0} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{22}^{0} \\ \boldsymbol{h}_{12}^{0} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B49a)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{M}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}^{2} A_{12}^{2} A_{16}^{2} \\ A_{12}^{2} A_{22}^{2} A_{26}^{2} \\ A_{16}^{2} A_{26}^{2} A_{66}^{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ 2\boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} R_{11}^{11} R_{12}^{11} R_{16}^{11} \\ R_{12}^{11} R_{22}^{11} R_{26}^{11} \\ R_{16}^{11} R_{26}^{11} R_{66}^{11} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} - \hat{\boldsymbol{\Theta}} \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{1} \\ h_{22}^{1} \\ h_{12}^{1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B49b)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_{11}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \\ \mathbf{R}_{12}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{22}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{11} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{112} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{21} \\ \mathbf{R}_{16}^{11} \mathbf{R}_{26}^{112} \mathbf{R}_{66}^{21} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{0}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{110}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{12}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{110} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{12}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{22}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{26}^{110} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{26}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{26}^{110} \\ \mathbf{Q}_{16}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{26}^{110} \mathbf{Q}_{66}^{11} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\chi}_{13}^{\circ}}{\mathbf{A}_{2} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\chi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\chi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} + \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\chi}_{13}^{\circ}}{\mathbf{A}_{2} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} \quad (\mathbf{B49c})$$

### **Shear-Deformation Theory Based on Zigzag Kinematics**

When the transverse-shearing stresses are approximated by equation (B22d), the analysis presented in reference 228 for laminated-composite plates is directly applicable to the present study. In particular, the functions  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  are expressed as

$$F_{1}(\xi_{3}) = f_{1}(\xi_{3}) + \Psi_{1}^{(n)}(\xi_{3})$$
(B50a)

$$F_{2}(\xi_{3}) = f_{2}(\xi_{3}) + \Psi_{2}^{(n)}(\xi_{3})$$
(B50b)

where the ply number  $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$  and N is the total number of plies in the laminated wall. The functions  $f_1(\xi_3)$  and  $f_2(\xi_3)$  are continuous functions with continuous derivatives that are required to satisfy

$$f_1(0) = f_2(0) = 0 \tag{B51a}$$

$$f_1'(-\xi_3) = f_1'(\xi_3)$$
 (B51b)

$$f_{2}'(-\xi_{3}) = f_{2}'(\xi_{3})$$
 (B51c)

$$f_1'\left(\pm\frac{h}{2}\right) = f_2'\left(\pm\frac{h}{2}\right) = 0$$
(B51d)

for all values of  $-h/2 \le \xi_3 \le h/2$ . The functions  $\Psi_1^{(n)}(\xi_3)$  and  $\Psi_2^{(n)}(\xi_3)$  are referred to in reference 228 as "zigzag enrichment functions" that account for shell wall inhomogeneity and asymmetry. These functions are given by

$$\Psi_{1}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) = \Phi_{1}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) - \Phi_{1}^{(M)}(0) + \frac{\xi_{3}}{2} \left[ 2 - \frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(1)}} \left( 1 - \frac{\xi_{3}}{\overline{h}} \right) - \frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(N)}} \left( 1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{\overline{h}} \right) \right]$$
(B52a)

$$\Psi_{2}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) = \Phi_{2}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) - \Phi_{2}^{(M)}(0) + \frac{\xi_{3}}{2} \left[ 2 - \frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(1)}} \left(1 - \frac{\xi_{3}}{h}\right) - \frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(N)}} \left(1 + \frac{\xi_{3}}{h}\right) \right]$$
(B52b)

where

$$\Phi_{1}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) = \left(\xi_{3} + \frac{h}{2}\right) \left[\frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(n)}} - 1\right] + G_{1} \sum_{p=1}^{n-1} \left[\frac{1}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(p)}} - \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(n)}}\right] h_{(p)}$$
(B53a)

$$\Phi_{2}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) = \left(\xi_{3} + \frac{h}{2}\right) \left[\frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(n)}} - 1\right] + G_{2} \sum_{p=1}^{n-1} \left[\frac{1}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(p)}} - \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(n)}}\right] h_{(p)}$$
(B53b)

$$\Phi_{1}^{(M)}(0) = \frac{h}{2} \left[ \frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(M)}} - 1 \right] + G_{1} \sum_{p=1}^{M-1} \left[ \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(p)}} - \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(M)}} \right] h_{(p)}$$
(B54a)

$$\Phi_{2}^{(M)}(0) = \frac{h}{2} \left[ \frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}}^{(M)} - 1 \right] + G_{2} \sum_{p=1}^{M-1} \left[ \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(p)}} - \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(M)}} \right] h_{(p)}$$
(B54b)

$$G_{1} = \left[\frac{1}{h} \sum_{r=1}^{N} \frac{h_{(r)}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(r)}}\right]^{-1}$$
(B55a)

$$G_{2} = \left[\frac{1}{h} \sum_{r=1}^{N} \frac{h_{(r)}}{\bar{C}_{44}^{(r)}}\right]^{-1}$$
(B55b)

In equations (B52) and (B54), the superscript M denotes the ply that occupies the shell reference
surface,  $\xi_3 = 0$ . The derivatives of  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  are

$$F_{1}'(\xi_{3}) = f_{1}'(\xi_{3}) + \Psi_{1}^{(n)}'(\xi_{3})$$
(B56a)

$$F_{2}'(\xi_{3}) = f_{2}'(\xi_{3}) + \Psi_{2}^{(n)}(\xi_{3})$$
(B56b)

where

$$\Psi_{1}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) = \frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(n)}} - \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(1)}} \left( 1 - \frac{2\xi_{3}}{h} \right) + \frac{G_{1}}{\overline{C}_{55}^{(N)}} \left( 1 + \frac{2\xi_{3}}{h} \right) \right]$$
(B57a)

$$\Psi_{2}^{(n)}(\xi_{3}) = \frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(n)}} - \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(1)}} \left( 1 - \frac{2\xi_{3}}{h} \right) + \frac{G_{2}}{\overline{C}_{44}^{(N)}} \left( 1 + \frac{2\xi_{3}}{h} \right) \right]$$
(B57b)

For a homogeneous shell wall, the zig-zag enrichment terms in equations (B50) and (B56) vanish. Thus, the derivatives of the functions  $f_1(\xi_3)$  and  $f_2(\xi_3)$  represent distribution of transverse-shearing stresses in a homogeneous shell wall. For the parabolic distribution of transverse shearing stresses commonly found in the technical literature for homogeneous plates,

$$f_1(\xi_3) = f_2(\xi_3) = \xi_3 \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{3} \left( \frac{2\xi_3}{h} \right)^2 \right]$$
 (B58a)

$$f_1'(\xi_3) = f_2'(\xi_3) = 1 - \left(\frac{2\xi_3}{h}\right)^2$$
 (B58b)

The shell-wall stiffnesses and thermal coefficients appearing in equations (B22) are obtained by substituting equations (B50), (B56), and (B58) into equations (101)-(109) and performing the through-the-thickness integrations. The resulting expressions are lengthy and are not presented herein.

## **Appendix C - Resumé of the Fundamental Equations**

The fundamental equations needed to characterize the nonlinear behavior of shells with "small" initial geometric imperfections are presented in this appendix. The parameters  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$ , and  $c_3$  appear in these equations and are used herein to identify other well-known shell theories that are contained within the equations of the present study as special cases. In particular, specifying  $F_1(\xi_3) = F_2(\xi_3) = 0$ , neglecting the initial geometric imperfections, and setting  $c_1 = c_2 = c_3 = 1$  gives the nonlinear shell theories of Budiansky<sup>11</sup> and Koiter.<sup>9,10</sup> Similarly, specifying  $c_1 = 0$  and  $c_2 = c_3 = 1$  gives Sanders' nonlinear shell theory, and specifying  $c_1 = 0$ ,  $c_2 = 0$ , and  $c_3 = 1$  gives Sanders' nonlinear shell theory with nonlinear rotations about the reference-surface normal neglected. Furthermore, specifying  $c_1 = c_2 = c_3 = 0$  gives the Donnell-Mushtari-Vlasov<sup>192</sup> nonlinear shell theory.

## **Displacements and Strain-Displacement Relations**

The fundamental unknown fields in the present study are the reference-surface tangential displacements  $u_1(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  and  $u_2(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , the normal displacement  $u_3(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ , and the transverse-shearing strains  $\gamma_{13}^{\circ}(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  and  $\gamma_{23}^{\circ}(\xi_1, \xi_2)$ . The corresponding displacements of a material point  $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3)$  are given by

$$U_{1}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{1} + \xi_{3}\left[\phi_{1} - \phi\left(\phi_{2} - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}}\right)\right] + F_{1}(\xi_{3})\gamma_{13}^{\circ}$$
(C1)

$$U_{2}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{2} + \xi_{3}\left[\varphi_{2} + \varphi\left(\varphi_{1} - \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial\xi_{1}}\right)\right] + F_{2}(\xi_{3})\gamma_{23}^{\circ}$$
(C2)

$$U_{3}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2},\xi_{3}) = u_{3} + w^{i} - \xi_{3} \left[ \frac{1}{2} (\varphi_{1}^{2} + \varphi_{2}^{2}) + \varphi_{1} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \varphi_{2} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right]$$
(C3)

where  $w^i(\xi_1, \xi_2)$  is a known field that describes the initial geometric imperfections in the unloaded state. The functions  $F_1(\xi_3)$  and  $F_2(\xi_3)$  are user-defined and specifiy the through-the-thickness distributions of the transverse-shear strains. These two functions are required to satisfy  $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = 0$  and  $F_1'(0) = F_2'(0) = 1$ . The nonzero strains at any point of the shell are given by

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2},\,\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)} \left[\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} + F_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right)\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} - F_{2}\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\right)\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\boldsymbol{\rho}_{11}}\right]$$
(C4)

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}) &= \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} \left[\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{22}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} + F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\rho_{22}} + F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}}\right] \quad (C5) \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}) &= \frac{\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \left[\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}} - \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)^{2}\right] + \boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}\boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \left[\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) + \left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)\right] \\ &\qquad \left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) \\ &\qquad + \frac{F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} - F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{33}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{33}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} + F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} \\ &\qquad + \frac{F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} - F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{33}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{33}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} + F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} \\ &\qquad + \frac{F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} - F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{33}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{33}^{\circ}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} + F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\frac{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\rho_{11}} \\ &\qquad + \frac{F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}}\right)} - F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right) - \frac{F_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})}{R_{1}}\right)\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ} \end{aligned}$$

$$(C7)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{1}}\right)} \left[F_{2}'(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})\left(1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3}}{R_{2}}\right) - \frac{F_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{3})}{R_{2}}\right]\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} \qquad (C8)$$

where the reference-surface membrane strains are given by

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{11}^{\circ}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}) = \boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1}^{2} + \boldsymbol{c}_{2}\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{c}_{1}\left[\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ}\right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ}\left(\boldsymbol{e}_{12}^{\circ} + 2\boldsymbol{\varphi}\right)\right] + \boldsymbol{c}_{1}\boldsymbol{e}_{11}^{\circ}\frac{\boldsymbol{w}^{i}}{\boldsymbol{R}_{1}} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{1}\frac{1}{\boldsymbol{A}_{1}}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{w}^{i}}{\partial\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}}$$
(C9)

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ}\left(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}\right) = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\varphi_{2}^{2} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{2}\varphi^{2}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{1}\left[\left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ}\right)^{2} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{12}^{\circ}\left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{12}^{\circ} - 2\varphi\right)\right] + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{1}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ}\frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} - \varphi_{2}\frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial\xi_{2}} \qquad (C10)$$

$$\gamma_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = 2e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi_{1}\varphi_{2} + c_{1}\left[e_{11}^{\circ}\left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi\right) + e_{22}^{\circ}\left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi\right)\right] + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{1}}\left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi\right) + \frac{c_{1}w^{i}}{R_{2}}\left(e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi\right) - \varphi_{1}\frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \varphi_{2}\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}}$$
(C11)

with the linear deformation parameters

$$e_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{u_{3}}{R_{1}}$$
(C12)

$$e_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{u_{3}}{R_{2}}$$
(C13)

$$2e_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{22}}$$
(C14)

$$\chi_{11}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{1}}{\partial \xi_{1}} - \frac{\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{11}}$$
(C15)

$$\chi_{22}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \varphi_{2}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{22}}$$
(C16)

$$2\chi_{12}^{\circ}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial\varphi_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} + \frac{\varphi_{1}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial\varphi_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} - \frac{\varphi_{2}}{\rho_{22}} - \varphi\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)$$
(C17)

and the linear rotation parameters

$$\varphi_1(\xi_1,\xi_2) = \frac{c_3 u_1}{R_1} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial u_3}{\partial \xi_1}$$
(C18)

$$\varphi_{2}(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{c_{3}u_{2}}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial u_{3}}{\partial \xi_{2}}$$
(C19)

$$\varphi(\xi_{1},\xi_{2}) = \frac{1}{2}c_{3}\left(\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial u_{2}}{\partial\xi_{1}} - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial u_{1}}{\partial\xi_{2}} + \frac{u_{1}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{u_{2}}{\rho_{22}}\right)$$
(C20)

## **Equilibrium Equations and Boundary Conditions**

The equilibrium equations are given by

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{11}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{2}} - \frac{2\mathcal{H}_{12}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{c_{3}\widetilde{Q}_{13}}{R_{1}} + \frac{c_{3}}{2A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}}\left[\mathcal{H}_{12}\left(\frac{1}{R_{1}} - \frac{1}{R_{2}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{P}_{1} + q_{1} + \mathcal{P}_{1}^{i} + q_{1}^{i} = 0$$
(C21)

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{12}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{2\mathcal{H}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} + \frac{c_{3}\widetilde{Q}_{23}}{R_{2}} + \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} + \frac{c_{3}}{2A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}}\left[\mathcal{M}_{12}\left(\frac{1}{R_{2}} - \frac{1}{R_{1}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{P}_{2} + q_{2} + \mathcal{P}_{2}^{i} + q_{2}^{i} = 0$$
(C22)

$$\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial \tilde{Q}_{13}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial \tilde{Q}_{23}}{\partial \xi_{2}} + \frac{\tilde{Q}_{13}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{\tilde{Q}_{23}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\mathcal{R}_{11}}{R_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{R}_{22}}{R_{2}} + \mathcal{P}_{3} + q_{3} + \mathcal{P}_{3}^{i} + q_{3}^{i} = 0$$
(C23)

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{13} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{21}}{\boldsymbol{\rho}_{11}} - \frac{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{11}}{\boldsymbol{\rho}_{22}} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{11}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_1} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{21}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_2} = 0$$
(C24)

$$\mathcal{Z}_{23} + \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} - \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{12}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}_{22}}{\partial \xi_2} = 0$$
(C25)

where

$$\widetilde{Q}_{13} = \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{11}}{\partial \xi_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\mathcal{M}_{11} - \mathcal{M}_{22}}{\rho_{22}} - \frac{2\mathcal{M}_{12}}{\rho_{11}}$$
(C26)

$$\widetilde{Q}_{23} = \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{22}}{\partial \xi_2} + \frac{\mathcal{M}_{11} - \mathcal{M}_{22}}{\rho_{11}} + \frac{2\mathcal{M}_{12}}{\rho_{22}}$$
(C27)

$$\begin{cases} q_{1}^{i} \\ q_{2}^{i} \\ q_{3}^{i} \end{cases} = \begin{cases} -q_{3}^{L} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} \\ -q_{3}^{L} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \\ q_{3}^{L} \left( \frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} + \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \right) + \frac{\partial q_{3}^{L}}{\partial \xi_{3}} w^{i} \end{cases}$$
(C28)

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{1} &= -\frac{\mathbf{c}_{3}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \boldsymbol{\phi}_{1} + \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \boldsymbol{\phi}_{2} \Big] - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{2}}{2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\phi} \Big( \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} + \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \Big) \Big] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} - \boldsymbol{\phi} \Big) \Big] \\ &- \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\phi} \Big) + \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} - \boldsymbol{\phi} \Big) + \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \Big( \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} + \mathbf{e}_{22}^{\circ} \Big) \Big] - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \mathbf{e}_{22}^{\circ} - \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} + 2\boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \boldsymbol{\phi} \Big] \quad (C29) \\ &+ \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \Big[ \Big( \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} - \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \Big) \boldsymbol{\phi} + 2 \Big( \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \mathbf{e}_{12}^{\circ} + \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \mathbf{e}_{11}^{\circ} \Big) \Big] \end{split}$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{2} = -\frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} \varphi_{2} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi_{1} \Big] - \frac{c_{2}}{2A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \Big[ \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi \Big] + \frac{c_{1}}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} e_{22}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \Big) \Big] \\ + \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{22}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \Big( e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi \Big) + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big( e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \Big) + \mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( e_{11}^{\circ} + e_{22}^{\circ} \Big) \Big] - \frac{c_{1}}{\rho_{11}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22} e_{22}^{\circ} - \mathcal{H}_{11} e_{11}^{\circ} + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \varphi \Big] \quad (C30) \\ + \frac{c_{1}}{2A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \Big[ \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} - \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi + 2 \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} e_{12}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12} e_{22}^{\circ} \Big) \Big]$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{3} = -\frac{1}{A_{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{1}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{2} \Big] - \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{2} \Big] - \frac{1}{A_{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{22}\phi_{2} \Big] \\ + \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{12}\phi_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{22}\phi_{2} \Big] - \frac{c_{1}}{R_{1}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11}e_{11}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12}(e_{12}^{\circ} - \phi) \Big] - \frac{c_{1}}{R_{2}} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{22}e_{22}^{\circ} + \mathcal{H}_{12}(e_{12}^{\circ} + \phi) \Big]$$
(C31)

$$\mathcal{P}_{1}^{i} = \frac{\mathbf{c}_{3}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} + \mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \frac{1}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \right] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\mathbf{A}_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1}}{\mathbf{A}_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \frac{\mathbf{w}^{i}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \right] + \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1} \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\rho_{22}} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{11}}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{22}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right] - \frac{\mathbf{c}_{1} \mathbf{w}^{i}}{\rho_{11}} \mathcal{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \left( \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{1}} + \frac{1}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} \right)$$
(C32)

$$\mathcal{P}_{2}^{i} = \frac{c_{3}}{R_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] + \frac{c_{1}}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \right] + \frac{c_{1}}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{22} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} \right] + \frac{c_{1} w^{i}}{\rho_{11}} \left( \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11}}{R_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{H}_{22}}{R_{2}} \right) + \frac{c_{1} w^{i}}{\rho_{22}} \mathcal{H}_{12} \left( \frac{1}{R_{1}} + \frac{1}{R_{2}} \right)$$
(C33)

$$\mathcal{P}_{3}^{i} = \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{1}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] + \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{2}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] \\ + \frac{1}{\rho_{22}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] - \frac{1}{\rho_{11}} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{1}} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial w^{i}}{\partial \xi_{2}} \right] - c_{1} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{H}_{22}}{R_{2}} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{H}_{11}}{R_{1}} \frac{w^{i}}{R_{1}} \right]$$
(C34)

The boundary conditions for an edge given by  $\xi_1 = \text{constant}$  are given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{11}\left[1 + c_1\left(e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_1}\right)\right] + \mathcal{H}_{12}c_1\left(e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi\right) = N_1(\xi_2) \quad \text{or} \quad u_1 = D_1(\xi_2)$$
(C35)

$$\mathcal{H}_{12} + \frac{c_2}{2} (\mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22}) \varphi + \frac{c_1}{2} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{11} (2e_{12}^{\circ} + \varphi) - \mathcal{H}_{22} \varphi + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \left( e_{22}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_2} \right) \right] + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{c_3}{2} \left( \frac{3}{R_2} - \frac{1}{R_1} \right) = S_1(\xi_2) + \frac{M_{12}(\xi_2)}{R_2}$$
 or  $u_2 = D_2(\xi_2)$  (C36)

$$\overline{Q}_{13} + \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_2} - \left[ \mathcal{M}_{11} \left( \varphi_1 - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_1} \right) + \mathcal{M}_{12} \left( \varphi_2 - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_2} \right) \right] = Q_1(\xi_2) + \frac{dM_{12}(\xi_2)}{d\xi_2} \quad \text{or}$$

 $u_3 = D_3(\xi_2)$  (C37)

$$\mathcal{M}_{11} = \mathbf{M}_1(\xi_2) \quad \text{or} \quad \varphi_1 = \Phi_1(\xi_2)$$
 (C38)

$$\mathcal{P}_{11} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \gamma_{13}^{\circ} = \Gamma_1(\xi_2)$$
 (C39)

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{12} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} = \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}) \tag{C40}$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}_{12} = \mathbf{M}_{12}(\xi_2) \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbf{u}_3 = \mathbf{D}_3(\xi_2)$$
 (C41)

at the corners given by  $\xi_2 = a_2$  and  $\xi_2 = b_2$ . The boundary conditions for an edge given by  $\xi_2 = \text{constant}$  are given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{12} - \frac{c_2}{2} \Big( \mathcal{H}_{11} + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big) \varphi + \frac{c_1}{2} \Big[ \mathcal{H}_{11} \varphi + \mathcal{H}_{22} \Big( 2e_{12}^{\circ} - \varphi \Big) + 2\mathcal{H}_{12} \Big( e_{11}^{\circ} + \frac{w^i}{R_1} \Big) \Big] + \mathcal{H}_{12} \frac{c_3}{2} \Big( \frac{3}{R_1} - \frac{1}{R_2} \Big) = S_2(\xi_1) + \frac{M_{21}(\xi_1)}{R_1} \qquad \text{or} \quad u_1 = D_1(\xi_1)$$
(C42)

$$\mathcal{H}_{22}\left[1+c_{1}\left(e_{22}^{\circ}+\frac{w^{i}}{R_{2}}\right)\right]+\mathcal{H}_{12}c_{1}\left(e_{12}^{\circ}+\varphi\right)=N_{2}(\xi_{1}) \quad \text{or} \quad u_{2}=D_{2}(\xi_{1})$$
(C43)

$$\overline{Q}_{23} + \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}_{12}}{\partial \xi_1} - \left[ \mathcal{R}_{12} \left( \varphi_1 - \frac{1}{A_1} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_1} \right) + \mathcal{R}_{22} \left( \varphi_2 - \frac{1}{A_2} \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial \xi_2} \right) \right] = Q_2(\xi_1) + \frac{dM_{21}(\xi_1)}{d\xi_1} \quad \text{or}$$

 $u_3 = D_3(\xi_1)$  (C44)

$$\mathcal{M}_{22} = M_2(\xi_2) \quad \text{or} \quad \varphi_2 = \Phi_2(\xi_1) = 0$$
 (C45)

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{21} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ} = \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}) \tag{C46}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}_{22} = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} = \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{2}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}) \tag{C47}$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}_{12} = \mathbf{M}_{21}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1) \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbf{u}_3 = \mathbf{D}_3(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1) \tag{C48}$$

at the corners given by  $\xi_1 = a_1$  and  $\xi_1 = b_1$ .

## **Stresses and Constitutive Equations**

The stresses at any point of the shell are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{11} \\ \sigma_{22} \\ \sigma_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{Q}_{11} \ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{16} \\ \overline{Q}_{12} \ \overline{Q}_{22} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \\ \overline{Q}_{16} \ \overline{Q}_{26} \ \overline{Q}_{66} \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{11} \\ \epsilon_{22} \\ \gamma_{12} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\alpha}_{11} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{22} \\ \overline{\alpha}_{12} \end{pmatrix} \Theta(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) \right\}$$
(C49)

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{13} \\ \sigma_{23} \end{cases} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{C}_{55} \ \overline{C}_{45} \\ \overline{C}_{45} \ \overline{C}_{44} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{13} \\ \gamma_{23} \end{pmatrix}$$
(C50)

where

$$\Theta(\xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3) = \widehat{\Theta}(\xi_1, \xi_2) G(\xi_3)$$
(C51)

is the known temperature field for material points of the shell. The general constitutive equations for a shell are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{22} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{H}}_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{00} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{01} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ 2\boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{02} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{A_{1} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \\ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\chi}_{23}^{\circ}}{A_{1} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{03} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{A_{2} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\chi}_{23}^{\circ}}{A_{2} \partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{04} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{23}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} - \hat{\Theta} \{ \overline{\Theta}_{0} \} \quad (C52)$$

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{11} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{12} \end{cases} = \left[ \mathbf{C}_{20} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{21} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{2} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{22} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{23} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{24} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} - \hat{\Theta} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\overline{\Theta}}_{2} \right\} \quad (C54)$$

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{21} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ \mathbf{C}_{30} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{31} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{32} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{33} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{34} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} - \hat{\Theta} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\overline{\Theta}}_{3} \right\} \quad (C55)$$

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{23} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ \mathbf{C}_{40} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{41} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{11}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{22}^{\circ} \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_{12}^{\circ} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{42} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{A} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{34} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13}^{\circ} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{34} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13}^{\circ} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{34} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ} \\ \frac{1}{A_{1}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{43} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{13} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{44} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{44} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{44} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{44} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23}^{\circ}}{\partial \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{44} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{13} \\ \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{23} \\ \frac{1}{A_{2}} \hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{2}} \end{pmatrix} + \left[ \mathbf{C}_{43} \right] \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\varphi}$$

where the matrices  $[\mathbf{C}_{ij}]$  appearing in these equations are given by equations (89) and the vectors  $\{\overline{\mathbf{\Theta}}_i\}$  are given by equation (92). Moreover,  $[\mathbf{C}_{ji}] = [\mathbf{C}_{ij}]^{\mathrm{T}}$ . Specialized forms of  $[\mathbf{C}_{ij}]$  and  $\{\overline{\mathbf{\Theta}}_j\}$  are given in Appendix B.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE						Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
The public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Artington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS.							
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)     2. REPORT TYPE						3. DATES COVERED (From - To)	
01-07 - 2013 Technical Publication							
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE					5a. CONTRACT NUMBER		
A Leonard-Sanders-Budiansky-Koiter-Type Nonlinear Shell Theory with a Hierarchy of Transverse-Shearing Deformations					5b. GRANT NUMBER		
5					5c. PR	SC. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER	
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJECT NUMBER		
Nemeth, Michael P.				5e. TASK NUMBER			
5				5f. WO	5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER		
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)						REPORT NUMBER	
Hampton VA 23681-2199							
						L-20283	
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)						10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)	
National Aeronautics and Space Administration Washington, DC 20546-0001						NASA	
						11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)	
						NASA/TP-2013-218025	
Unclassified - Unlimited							
Subject Category 39							
Availability: NASA CASI (443) 757-5802							
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES							
14. ABSTRACT							
A detailed exposition on a refined nonlinear shell theory suitable for nonlinear buckling analyses of laminated-composite shell structures is presented. This shell theory includes the classical nonlinear shell theory attributed to Leonard, Sanders, Koiter, and Budiansky as an explicit proper subset. This approach is used in order to leverage the exisiting experience base and to make the theory attractive to industry. In addition, the formalism of general tensors is avoided in order to expose the details needed to fully understand and use the theory. The shell theory is based on "small" strains and "moderate" rotations, and no shell-thinness approximations are used. As a result, the strain-displacement relations are exact within the presumptions of "small" strains and "moderate" rotations of "small" strains are included in the theory by using analyst-defined functions to describe the through-the-thickness distributions of transverse-shearing strains. Constitutive equations for laminated-composite shells are derived without using any shell-thinness approximations, and simplified forms and special cases are presented.							
Buckling; Laminated composites; Nonlinear shell theory; Transverse-shearing deformations							
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: 17. LIMITATION OF 18. NUMBER 19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON							
a. REPORT b. ABSTRACT c. THIS PAGE			OF PAGES	ST 19b. T	I Help Desk (email: help@sti.nasa.gov) ELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)		
U	U	U	UU	118		(443) 757-5802	

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18